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In this annual report on Form 10-K (“annual repoit”unless the context indicates otherwise, refezsria
“Great Ajax,” “we,” “the company,” “our” and “us” r efer to the activities of and the assets and liied of
the business and operations of Great Ajax Corppéewating partnership” refers to Great Ajax Operagin
Partnership L.P., a Delaware limited partnersh“our Manager” refers to Thetis Asset Management L.laC
Delaware limited liability company‘Aspen Capital” refers to the Aspen Capital groupaompanies; “Aspen”
and “Aspen Yo" refers to Aspen Yo LLC, an Oregamitkd liability company that is part of Aspen Capitthe
Servicer” and “Gregory” refer to Gregory Funding LE, an Oregon limited liability company and our kdfie,
and an indirect subsidiary of Aspen Yo.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements under “Risk Factors,” “Managnt’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” “Businessd atsewhere in this annual report constitute fodalaoking
statements. Forward-looking statements relate pe@ations, beliefs, projections, future plans stndtegies,
anticipated events or trends and similar expressioncerning matters that are not historical fdotsome
cases, you can identify forward-looking statemémytserms such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “couldgstimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “slould,” “will” and “would” or the negatives of thegerms or
other comparable terminology.

”ou ”ou

The forward-looking statements are based on ouefsehssumptions and expectations of our future
performance, taking into account all informatiomreatly available to us. These beliefs, assumptans
expectations can change as a result of many pessieints or factors, not all of which are knownismr are
within our control. If a change occurs, our busgmédmancial condition, liquidity and results ofeyptions may
vary materially from those expressed in our forwmimaking statements. You should carefully consitiese
risks, along with the following factors that cowlduse actual results to vary from our forward-logki
statements:

» the factors referenced in this annual repodiuiting those set forth under “Iltem 1A. Risk Fastor
“Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis efaficial Condition and Results of Operations”
and “Item 1. Business”;

*  our ability to implement our business strategy;
« difficulties in identifying re-performing and neperforming loans and properties to acquire;

+ the impact of changes to the supply of, valuaraf the returns on re-performing and non-perfogmin
loans;

* our ability to convert non-performing loans iqgerforming loans, or to modify or otherwise resolv
such loans;

e our ability to convert non-performing loans tmperties that can generate attractive returngeeith
through sale or rental;

* our ability to compete with our competitors;
* our ability to control our costs;

» the impact of changes in interest rates andrtheket value of the collateral underlying our re-
performing and non-performing loan portfolios oroofr other real estate assets;

e our ability to obtain financing arrangementsfavorable terms, or at all;

e our ability to retain our engagement of our Mgera

» the failure of the Servicer to perform its obligns under the servicing agreement;

» general volatility of the capital markets;

» the impact of adverse real estate, mortgag®usihg markets and changes in the general economy;

» changes in our business strategy;
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»  our failure to qualify or maintain qualificatias a real estate investment trust (“REIT");

*  our expectations regarding the time during wimehwill be an emerging growth company under the
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS )Act”

»  our failure to maintain our exemption from reégition under the Investment Company Act of 1940, a
amended (the “Investment Company Act”); and

» the impact of adverse legislative or regulatasychanges.
Item 1. Business

Overview

Great Ajax Corp. is a Maryland corporation thatuees primarily on acquiring, investing in and mang@
portfolio of re-performing and non-performing matge loans secured by single-family residencestaral,
lesser extent, single-family properties. Re-perfogrioans are loans on which at least five of tees most
recent payments have been made, or the most ngagmtent has been made and accepted pursuant to an
agreement, or the full dollar amount to cover astdive payments has been paid in the last sewenhs. Non-
performing loans are loans on which the most retteee payments have not been made.

We also invest in loans secured by multi-familyidestial and commercial mixed use retail/residéntia
properties, as well as in the properties diredtlye multi-family and commercial mixed-use propertienerally
have loan values of up to approximately $5 millidfe refer to these as “smaller commercial propeftié/e
commenced operations on July 8, 2014. In July amgluat 2014, we closed our initial original private
placement, or the Original Private Placement, tbstilted in net proceeds to us of approximate\8$Ltillion.
In December 2014, we closed a second private plecgrar the Second Private Placement, which residteet
proceeds to us of approximately $41.2 million. \@fer to these offerings as the Private Placem&htaugh
December 31, 2014, we acquired mortgage loans thed mortgage-related assets with an aggregatadinpa
principal balance, or UPB, of approximately $30@&ilion. We completed our initial public offeringr IPO, in
February and March 2015 and sold an aggregat®@63164 shares of common stock, including sharels so
pursuant to an option to purchase additional shgnested to the underwriters. We are using apprateiy
$53.9 million of proceeds (after deducting the umditing discount but before deducting estimateiiofig
expenses) to acquire additional mortgage loansratyage-related assets. We are organized andtedénsa
manner intended to allow us to qualify as a REIT.

Our primary strategy is to acquire, own and mamaggerforming and non-performing mortgage loans,
which are serviced by Gregory Funding LLC, ourl&tied servicer. We seek to acquire loans at sicamt
discounts to our estimates of the value of the dyidg real estate and of the UPB of the loan. kimlbther loan
acquirers, who often rely on pooled estimates alyaing and pricing portfolios, our Manager usesgpietary
models and data developed by its affiliates touatal individual assets and to help determine cities
neighborhoods and properties that it believesexifierience home price appreciation, or HPA. Thesprigtary
analytics have inputs for economic and demogragéia that include changes in unemployment ratedjame
household incomes, housing starts, crime ratesatim, electoral participation and other variatiteg we
believe closely correlate to property values. Thappetary models predict probabilistic future célstws for
each loan we seek to acquire. Factors affectingasin flow projections include resolution metha$alution
timeline, foreclosure costs, rehabilitation costd aviction costs. The database for these propyietadels
contains foreclosure timelines on an individualmywasis and, in some instances, also on an thaivijudge
basis. We believe that these proprietary modelspers to acquire loans at prices we and the Manbegjeve
represent a discount to UPB and current propefityegan non-auction purchases.

We generally intend to securitize our mortgage $ommd retain subordinated securities from our
securitizations. We also hold “real estate-ownedpprties, or REO, acquired upon the foreclosuretioer
settlement of our owned non-performing loans, aé agethrough outright purchases. We anticipateREO
will consist principally of single-family homes,thbugh we also may own smaller commercial properiur
resolution methods are tailored to each loan, basezlir Servicer’s detailed analytics, and
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include, among others, loan modification, forbeaeaagreements, foreclosure, short sale and dekeliof
foreclosure. In the event of foreclosure, our Maratptermines, in part based on the informatioainbtl from
the Servicer regarding historical experience, wiieth seek to sell any REO asset, including oftenortgage
financing to the purchaser, or to hold the REO emntal property. We may conduct some of theseities
through a taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS. As padur integrated approach, the Servicer focuses on
understanding each borrowgsituation and working closely with the borrowedetermine the most appropri
resolution for both parties. We believe that pusihg re-performing and non-performing mortgage $oan
significant discounts to UPB and underlying propeslues, as well as working, through Gregory,upport
continuing or new payments by borrowers, will allog/to achieve our targeted returns. However tifac
results differ from our assumptions, particulaflyhie value of the underlying properties were tordase
significantly, we may not achieve our targeted mesu

We are externally managed by Thetis Asset Managehi&D, an affiliated entity. We own a 19.8% equity
interest in our Manager. In addition, at March 2@15, our Manager and the Servicer own in the aggee
373,168 shares of our common stock. We believetltiese ownership interests, combined with our Ea$dto
of the base management fee to our Manager in sbams common stock, align our Manager’s interegth
our interests and those of our stockholders. Se@ lhe-Management Agreement.”

We believe that we will benefit from the strategeasployed by Aspen Capital, Gregory and our Manager
Aspen Capital and Gregory have successfully condpetéhe residential loan and property markets thase
their ability to evaluate, acquire, manage andiserfoans on an individual basis rather than on@ea basis.
Using proprietary analytics and data tracking, danager and Gregory have the ability to evaluaigela
numbers of loans efficiently, determine individualuations and develop resolution and cash flogpat
Consistent with Aspen’s past residential assetiaitguns and our recent operations, we believe weawill be
able to purchase loans through privately negotigetsactions rather than in the auction marketceSi
January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2014, over®&086spen’s acquisitions have been through priyatel
negotiated transactions.

The Aspen Capital Companies

Aspen Capital was founded in 1995 and focuses pilyman residential and commercial mortgage loans
and real properties, as well as distressed comerurities, and hospitality investments and mamegt.
Aspen Capital management and affiliates have beeurisizing residential mortgage loans and retgriinterest
in their own securitizations as well as buyingyv&sng and managing real estate assets for moreltbaears.
Aspen Yo LLC, its residential real estate groumuaies non-performing and re-performing mortgagatoas
well as foreclosed properties. From January 1, 2Bddugh December 31, 2014, Aspen and its affgiate
including the Company, acquired loans totaling agpnately $661.3 million total UPB, consisting qD83
mortgage loans in 124 separate transactions, hétlumderlying real estate located throughout thitedrStates.
Over 90% of such acquisitions were purchased thrquiyately negotiated transactions rather thatiaos. The
average purchase price was 70.7% of UPB and 70f2%operty value for re-performing loans, and 52.@%
UPB and 57.5% of property value for non-performimagns. Many of these assets are located in spaityfic
targeted geographic locations. The commercialesite group also purchases performing and nooperfg
commercial real estate loans and non-performingtcoction loans and provides senior, mezzaninesgudy
financing. The typical transaction size ranges f&into $20 million.

Manager Experience

Since 2009 through December 31, 2014, the managdesn of our Manager, on behalf of Aspen Capital,
has invested more than $500.2 million in more tBA92 residential assets, including the assetsiiportfolio,
with an aggregate UPB and REO market value at ¢tihpeirchase or conversion of approximately $841.6
million. Aspen Capital’s overall portfolios of loarand properties may differ significantly from thertgage
loans we may acquire in terms of interest rataacjpal balances, geographic distribution, typepraiperties,
lien priority, origination and underwriting critesiand other possibly relevant characteristicadidition, Aspen
Capital's past performance is not indicative ofifet
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results and its results were not achieved by aipabmpany (subject to legal and regulatory expgnser by ar
entity organized as a REIT. Results are necessafictive of particular market conditions andremt and
future market conditions and economic factors bdymanagement’s control, which may cause futureltsetu
vary.

The Servicel

Gregory was formed by the members of our Managegsagement team to service “high-touch” assets,
which are loans that require substantial and aatisezaction with the borrower for modification ather
resolution. These loans are to less creditworthydveers or for properties the value of which hasrdased and
are more expensive to service because they reqpaire frequent interaction with customers and greate
monitoring and oversight. Gregory, or its whollymed subsidiary, is licensed to service loans istalles in
which it does business and has unsupervised Tilllitgagee authorization from the Federal Housing
Administration, or FHA. Gregory, or its wholly owthaubsidiary, is also a licensed mortgage lend@Bistates,
and currently has mortgage loan origination stdfbware licensed in 11 of those states. Gregorytesa joint
marketing relationship with a federal savings bemihich Aspen holds a minority interest. Theseteses will
allow Gregory to facilitate third party mortgagedncing, which we then can acquire, to many optirehasers
of REO that we sell in such states with no or madiadditional cost to us. As of December 31, 2@rkgory,
for our account, its own account and for affiliatadtities comprised primarily of third-party invest, services a
portfolio of residential and commercial mortgagarls and REO throughout the United States with URB a
REO principal balance of approximately $627.5 roili

Our Manager and the Servicer are located in separamises in the same building and share IT ressur
which should lead to more effective oversight by Blanager. We also believe this close collaboratvihlead
to better communication among our Manager, thei&arand us and greater ability by our Managertaed
Servicer to enhance IT systems and upgrade armiytth desired features, which should enable oundder
and the Servicer to determine the optimal resahustoategy for each loan more quickly. Our Manager
communicates an initial pool level strategy to $eevicer and hosts a training session to reviewritigs and
optimal solutions. During the training session, Blamager can discuss any exceptions found duriegltie
diligence process and provide guidance to the 8aran addressing any issues effectively. In aafulitd
training sessions and informal discussions, bottiggameet weekly to review individual modificatioequests.
Every employee of our Manager is very familiar walhfunctions of the Servicer, which allows thesmtonitor
performance at a granular level to maximize indigidasset returns.

The Servicer must comply with a wide array of Uefleral, state and local laws and regulations that
regulate, among other things, the manner in whiskrvices our mortgage loans and manages ouptegérty
in accordance with the servicing agreement, indgdecent Consumer Financial Protection Burea@F®B,
mortgage servicing regulations promulgated purstatite Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act. These lawd eegulations cover a wide range of topics. Thesland
regulations are complex and vary greatly amongstates and localities. In addition, these lawsragdlations
often contain vague standards or requirements,hwhigke compliance efforts challenging. From timértee,
the Servicer may become party to certain reguldtayyiries or proceedings, which, even if unrelatethe
residential mortgage servicing operation, may teaswddverse findings, fines, penalties or otheeasments and
may affect adversely the Servicer's reputation.

Strategy

We are continuing the opportunistic strategy degyetbby our Manager’'s management team at Aspen in a
REIT structure that we believe will provide us &€ capital and allow us to compete for moreifiggmt
investment opportunities in the evolving mortgagarkets. This strategy enables us to generate ttamirren
yields and risk-adjusted total returns for our ktadders. We intend to distribute substantiallycdilbur REIT
taxable income to our stockholders in accordantk applicable REIT qualification requirements. Gtrategy
consists of:

» focusing our investments primarily in loans seduby single-family residences with opportunistic
mortgage or direct investment in smaller commengiaperties, such as smaller mixaske commerci:
facilities with ground floor retail units and resittes above them;
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»  constructing and owning a portfolio of re-penfing and norperforming mortgage loans at significi
discounts to UPB and underlying property values;

*  concentrating our investments in geographicsreities and neighborhoods with certain demog@phi
and economic trends and attributes;

» working, through Gregory, to (1) support the tiowed performance of re-performing loans;
(2) convert a portion of our non-performing loaagerforming status; (3) determine optimal loss
mitigation strategy on an asset-by-asset basiseforining loans; and (4) manage the process and
timelines for converting non-performing loans téesar rental REO, including potentially offering
financing to REO purchasers;

*  when economically efficient, securitizing ourfeeming and re-performing whole loan portfolios to
create long-term, fixed rate, non-recourse finagyowhile retaining one or more tranches of any
subordinated securities we may create; and

»  opportunistically mitigating our interest ratedaprepayment risk by using a variety of hedging
instruments.

We believe that purchasing re-performing and narfiep@ing mortgage loans at significant discounts to
UPB and underlying property values, as well as waykthrough Gregory, to support continuing or new
payments by borrowers, will allow us to achieve taugeted returns. However, if actual results diffem our
assumptions, particularly if the value of the uhgdag properties were to decrease significantly,magy not
achieve our targeted returns.

We price each loan portfolio on a loan-by-loan asid focus on the acquisition of loans with the
underlying property located in or in close proxiyrid urban centers where we believe that HPA witpace the
national market. While we expect to purchase loat®nwide, we target urban centers (including dbns
populated suburbs) because we believe that araisiaig number of families and young professionad$eprto
live in areas that are in close proximity to emph@nt centers, public transportation and retail ather
amenities that are typically more common in sugasywhich provides greater potential for HPA. Bgulsing
on urban centers and targeted densely populateatsue are able to more efficiently manage outfpls and
scale our high-touch loan servicing platform.

Gregory has compiled data that suggests that HRA/agy significantly from neighborhood to
neighborhood even within the same city. Our prdgrieanalytics include inputs for economic and dgraphic
data that includes unemployment rates, housingsstaime rates, education, electoral participadind other
variables that we believe closely correlate to propvalues. These analytics help us determines;iti
neighborhoods and properties that we believe wpkeience HPA.

We seek to build clusters of loans backed by caiddtin certain markets. These markets includeabeino
limited to, Phoenix, Arizona; Los Angeles and Saedo, California; Miami, Ft. Lauderdale, West Pd&each,
Orlando and Tampa, Florida; Atlanta, Georgia; Chicdllinois; New York and New Jersey metropolitea;
Dallas and Houston, Texas; and Maryland and Viegiréar Washington, DC. In addition to its experégshc
servicing staff, Gregory has contracted with lagberts in areas where it services a significantber of loans
that provide local area market intelligence, manitmperties and can manage rehabilitation projectREO or
repairs for rental properties. We believe havirfdiatied local experts and a centralized managertearh
provides us a competitive advantage and leads te imformed decision-making and better execution.

Based on the experience of our Manager's managetemt we believe that acquiring re-performing and
non-performing mortgage loans will result in highisk-adjusted returns and provides us a cost ddgarover
other real property acquisition channels, sucloescfosure auctions and REO acquisitions.

*  We believe that buying neerforming loans is more efficient and lower ribla acquiring REO rente
directly because the net cash flow from the regratring loans is typically greater than rent cashwfl
less expenses. Re-performing loans are purchasesigiificant discount from UPB and underlying
property value, but the borrower pays interesthenftill UPB, leading to a higher current yield. The
borrower is also responsible for property taxesyiance and maintenance, which are all costshhbat t
owner of the REO would otherwise have to pay. In
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addition, to the extent that the UPB exceeds thed®value, the lender will benefit from all HPA

until such time as the home price exceeds the UBBany arrearages and expenses. While the return
to the mortgage loan owner is thus capped, thaeaksdsrisk mitigation if the REO value decreases,
until the value is less than the price the lended ffor the loan.

*  The histories of distressed mortgage loans ofterige more insight into the likelihood of defauitin
acquiring newly originated mortgage loans, whicbudt allow our Manager to model default risk and
price acquisitions more accurately.

« Ifare-performing loan becomes a non-performoan, or we purchase a non-performing loan, which
is typically purchased at a deeper discount thgreréorming loans, we, through the Servicer, have a
number of ways to mitigate our loss. These losfgatibn techniques include working with the
borrower to achieve performance, including throogidification of the mortgage loan terms as we
short sale, assisted deed-in-lieu of forecloswssisted deed-for-lease, foreclosure and other loss
mitigation activities. With each REO acquired, vesess the best potential return, typically either
through rental, sale with carryback financing, vihwee believe will increase the potential pool of
purchasers, or sale without our financing the paseh

*  We believe that we will be able to purchase gege loans at lower prices than REO properties
because sellers of such loans will be able to apaidng the costs typically associated with safes o
real estate, whether single-family residences @llemcommercial properties, such as broker
commissions and closing costs of up to 10% of gposseeds of the sale. We believe this will
motivate the sellers to accept a lower price ferrdrperforming and non-performing loans than they
would if selling REO directly.

*  We believe there are fewer participants in ti@erforming and noperforming loan marketplace th
in the foreclosure auction and other REO acquisitibannels due to the large size of portfoliosreff
for sale on an “all or none” basis and the requapedrational infrastructure and expertise involired
servicing loans and managing single-family rentapprties across various states. Additionally has t
acquirer of loans, we take the risk of delays mfibreclosure process for non-performing loans. We
focus on smaller pools of mortgage loan assetsibatnalyze on a loan-Hgan basis. We believe tt
we will be able to aggregate these smaller podisnat a greater discount than would be availédyle
larger pools. We believe the relatively lower legetompetition for re-performing and non-
performing loans, particularly in smaller poolspyides buyers with the opportunity for a higher
discount rate relative to the foreclosure auctiod ather REO acquisition channels and therefore a
relatively lower cost to acquire REO.

We use proprietary models to predict probabilisitare cash flows for each loan. Factors affectingcasl!
flow projections include resolution method, resmnttimeline, foreclosure costs, rehabilitation tscend
eviction costs. We value each portfolio on a logddan and property-by-property basis and genarasé flow
projections as if each non-performing loan wasdim®ed and resolved according to the expectedutsol
method. Some of the variables used are the spémifition of the underlying property, loan-to-vahagio,
property age and condition, change and rate ofgignahborrower credit rating, servicing notes, fiegt rate,
monthly payment amount and neighborhood rentsldzor pool acquisitions, we target a 10 — 18% return
without taking into account or giving effect to amgrrowings, which we refer to as an unleveredrretwe
forecast the relative likelihood of each resolutmethod — foreclosure, deed-in-lieu, short sale ramthl —for
non-performing loans. For re-performing pool acijiwiss, we analyze each loan for re-default prolighloan-
to-value ratio, interest rate and structure oflta and the likely resolution method in the ew@etloan stops
performing. Each re-performing loan is analyzedtigh both a performing and non-performing path.

Our comprehensive loan and property history databad data tracking lead to a deep understandiogrn
markets. This understanding, coupled with our lterga relationships with loan sellers, allows uptochase
loans at significant discounts to UPB and currenpprty values. Our database contains foreclogmedines on
an individual county basis and in some instandss, @n an individual judge basis. In addition tealeition
timeline data, we track data by state, MSA (Mettibgo Statistical Area) and zip code basis regaydirime
rates, education, electoral participation and otlagiables that we believe closely correlate withperty values.
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Our strategy is adaptable to changing market enmients, subject to compliance with the income ahdr
tests that will allow us to qualify and maintainr qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal incorag purposes
and to maintain our exclusion from regulation asnaestment company under the Investment ComparnyAsc
a result, our acquisition and management decisidlhdepend on prevailing market conditions, and tangeted
investments may vary over time in response to ntadeeditions. We may change our strategy and gslici
without a vote of our stockholders. Moreover, alifjo our independent directors will periodically iesv our
investment guidelines and our portfolio, they galtgmwill not review particular proposed asset asiions or
asset management decisions. See “— Investment [B@gg

Our Portfolio

We acquire, invest in and manage a portfolio oftgege loan assets as well as single-family andlsmal
commercial properties. We focus on acquiring anding re-performing and non-performing mortgage fan
and subordinated MBS securities from our own séeations. We also hold REO acquired upon the foseae
or other settlement of our owned non-performingfoar that we acquire in the market, principalbygg-family
homes although we may also own smaller commeroigdepties. We will assess the allocation of investta
across asset classes, and within asset classesd, draghe risk-adjusted relative value of eachtassa the
overall contribution of each asset to the anti@dgierformance of our investment portfolio andwvaleie to be
added to our investment portfolio. Additional fastéthat may affect the allocation of our investrsantlude
profiles of borrowers, geographic and demograpfficrmation, security, structure, seniority, credit
enhancement, and legal matters. Our investmertdaditms are subject to change based on market ehamgl
our assessment of the factors described abovealS®&— Financing Strategy and Use of Leverage.”

We closely monitor the status of our mortgage laards, through our Servicer, work with our borrowrs
improve their payment records. The Company hagxperienced material write downs or impairmentshen
mortgage loans it has purchased since it commeopections in July 2014. As of December 31, 20ithe
1,340 loans in our portfolio, 72.7% were re-perforgiloans and 27.3% were non-performing loans.

Gregory is the holder of record for assets in Giegiifinois, Kentucky and Missouri because neitter nol
our operating partnership holds the necessarydieémhold those assets directly in such stategydsy sells a
95% participation interest in the assets to ouskglidries in exchange for 95% of the purchase gddc¢he
assets to be purchased by Gregory, which paysédbalance of such assets.

Potential Acquisition Opportunities

Our Manager and its affiliates are regularly présémvith opportunities to acquire loan pools artieot
mortgage assets. As of March 23, 2015, our Manidgetified and was actively evaluating 12 potertiain
pool acquisitions that our Manager has determiafdr a preliminary evaluation, fall within our iestment
strategy. These loan pools have a total UPB ofamrately $68.1 million, of which 76.5% of the UPB
comprises re-performing loans and 23.5% of the W&mprises non-performing loans. We have not entetted
a definitive agreement with respect to any of tHeaa pools, and there is no assurance that weeniir into a
definitive agreement relating to any of these Ipaals or any loans in a loan pool or, if such areament is
executed, that we will actually close the acquisitiin addition, we expect a continuous flow ofgrdial re-
performing loan acquisition opportunities from jp@Epants in the ongoing non-performing loan salexypams
held by the FHA, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Welelpurchasers of these loan pools will be intereimn
recognizing short-term gains and greater liquitigyselling re-performing loans from those poolsadtidition,
our Manager and its affiliates provide multiple grtial bidders with pricing information for specifiubsets of
those non-performing pools, which provides thoskléis with better pricing and gives us indirectessdo
those loan pool subsets if any of those biddersaceessful.

Additional Investments

Set forth below is a description of the asset elsgs which we expect to make investments.
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Residential Mortgage Loan

Residential mortgage loans are loans secured lgledemily residential real properties. We generallgue
our residential mortgage loan acquisition efforistee purchase of loan portfolios that are firshJisingle-
family fixed rate mortgage loans, ARMs and HybriBMs with original terms to maturity of not more th40
years and that are either fully amortizing or ateriest-only for up to ten years, and fully amantizthereafter.
While we expect to focus on older distressed mgedaans, we will have the ability to invest in hew
originated mortgage loans. In most cases, the la@ngurchase will be re-performing (i.e., previguséfaulted
loans that have been modified and under which titver is currently performing for some periodiafe),
and non-performing.

Commercial Mortgage Loan

We also expect to acquire commercial mortgage Isansred by smaller unit multifamily residencesiolk
are considered commercial mortgage loans, as welirealler mixed use retail/residential/office pnties,
which will generally have property values of lelsart $5 million. As with the single-family resideaitmortgage
loans, we will have the ability to invest in nevdsiginated mortgage loans, but we currently expedbcus on
older distressed mortgage loans.

REO and Other Real Propert

We will acquire individual real properties primarthrough workouts of existing loans and forecleson
defaulted loans as well as, to a much lesser exgenthases from original owners. These propewtibgonsist
of single-family residential properties, smallerltifamily residences and commercial mixed use
retail/residential properties, such as smaller cemeial facilities with ground floor retail units dmesidences
above them. We may acquire on an opportunisticshasitfolios of residential single-family and mefimily
properties throughout the United States.

Investment Proces:

Our underwriting process for acquiring re-perforgnand non-performing loan portfolios relies on
extensive research and analysis of the targetgdio’tf loan and borrower characteristics, undedygmoperty
values, document integrity, local processes andliiras, and the use of our proprietary models terdgne
probabilistic future cash flows and returns fromi@as resolution methodologies. Factors affectingaash flov
projections and related pricing include, but arelimaited to, property location, property age amadition,
resolution method, resolution timeline, forecloscosts, rehabilitation costs, eviction costs, neayhood rents,
changes and rate of change of borrower creditgatamd targeted return. We value every portfolia ¢éoan-by-
loan and property-by-property basis.

We generate and analyze multiple models that eteatha following:

» loan cash flows as if every non-performing l@&foreclosed and also using deterministic resotuti
outcomes; and

» re-performing loans with riskased cash flows and pricing based on paymentrjtbme series crec
scores, geography, effective loan-to-value ratikslihood of prepayment and predictive re-default
probabilities.

For pool acquisitions, we target a 10-18% unleveetarn. For non-performing loans, we forecast the
relative likelihood of each resolution method —efdosure, deed in lieu, short sale and rentalré&performing
pool acquisitions, we analyze each loan for re4éfarobability and resolution method. Eachpexforming loal
is analyzed through both a performing and non-perifag path.

Purchase prices generally are at a significanbdiscto UPB and current property value, based ihgaat
least two unaffiliated broker price opinions foreey property. Employees and agents of our Managguéntly
visit the exteriors of properties prior to compbetiof due diligence and the information from suidity is
incorporated into final loan pricing negotiationghwthe seller.

We estimate our resolution timelines using a cotdm of proprietary data, modeling and historical
trends. Our analysis of the resolution or forectegimeline for a mortgage loan is based on iteohysto date
with added time cushion. We have developed a ratatstbase of foreclosure timelines on an
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individual county basis and in some instances,roimdividual judge basis. We also use statisticatleis to
determine the expected modification success prbtyahind the expected short sale success prokiabilive
have an extensive due diligence process to valiktte consistency, accuracy and compliance andmperf
document and third-party lien reviews on all lodesf

The most important factors in analyzing re-perforgnioans are the level and duration of continued re
performance, the potential for HPA, prevailing net& rates and the potential for economic growthtae
availability of financing for the borrower. For n@erforming loans, the most important factors aeedxpected
time to either rgperformance or foreclosure, the condition of the peoperty, the potential for HPA, whether
property is located in an urban or rural area #éddtual geographic location and relative costanafing versus
renting the property. The analysis of all mortgbmgm and REO acquisitions is also affected by thpply of
existing housing and rate of housing starts asdmigbnstruction costs, particularly if replacemewgt is greater
than market price, can slow the rate of startsrawd housing inventory and lead to rising rentadsatlative to
mortgage payments. We evaluate geographic locptionties based on many different factors and data
including, but not limited to, employment rates dhne local mismatch between employment rates andihg
supply, demographic shifts, cost of new constructsmcial services, education, crime and votingig@pation
rates.

The following graphic outlines the process the Mgaragenerally uses for assessing re-performingnand
performing portfolio investment opportunities:

100% review of property valuations through BPO
review, statistical analysis and property visits

[
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Re-Performing Loans | Non-Performing IL.oans |

Analyze loan, borrower and J« Jr
document characteristics to Analyze loan and borrower
determine re-default, re- characteristics for short sale or
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mitigation process
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to average life
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flows from re-
default path through
NPL analysis

Estimate risk based
expected
re-performing yield
to average life

Estimate risk based
short sale net
proceeds

Estimate future
foreclosure timelines
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Estimate expected
gross and net rental
yield

Estimate expected
yield to average life
on carry-back
financing sale

Due Diligence

* Review title to validate lien position

« Identify any other existing liens including tax liens, municipal liens, HOA dues etc.

* Evaluate compliance with laws at origination including RESPA and TILA

* Analyze completeness of collateral files

* Analyze servicer comments for outstanding litigation, pending settlement offers, property damage, etc.

Gregory Funding — Loan Servicing and Loan Resolution; Property Managment

Gregory Funding LLC, and in California, its subaigi, Gregory Funding Inc., sister entities with our
Manager and indirect subsidiaries of Aspen, serigemortgage loans, mortgage-backed securitieg|B$,
REO and other real estate assets. Gregory is Bdaiasservice loans or is exempt from licensinglirstates in
which it does business. Gregory is also an appreeedcer for the FHA and the Veterans Administratior
VA. As of the date of this annual report, Gregomg &s subsidiary have approximately 50 employagsnts
and independent contractors in nine states engagetvicing mortgage loans and property manageraentis
licensed in every state in which licensing is regdifor such activities.
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The Servicer will employ various loan resolutionthzalologies with respect to our residential mortgag
loans, including loan modification, collateral regmn and collateral disposition. To help us agbieur
business objective, the Servicer will focus ongdpporting the continuing performance of our refgrening
loans; (2) converting a portion of our re-perforgnamnd non-performing loans to performing statust @)
managing the foreclosure process and timelines ithect to the remainder of those loans.

Our preferred resolution methodology is typicatiicause the re-performing and non-performing ldans
perform. Following a period of continued performenee expect many borrowers will refinance thesaso
with us or other lenders at or near the estimagdaevof the underlying property, potentially genieigattractive
returns for us. We believe loan re-performancefedid by refinancing generates near-term cash flpvesjides
the highest possible stable economic outcome fandsis a socially responsible business strategsuse it
keeps more families in their homes. In certainwitstances, we may also consider selling these newly
performing loans. However, based on historical eepee, we expect that many of our non-performing
residential mortgage loans will enter into forediies ultimately becoming REO that we can, basedwn
analysis of risk-adjusted returns, sell, often wiuffering purchase money mortgage financing, oved into
rental properties. If a REO property does not nogetinvestment criteria, we expect the Servicesrtgage in
REO liquidation and short sale processes to dispbd® property and generate cash for reinvestinesther
acquisitions. We believe that our multifaceted hetson approach will generally create optimal stat#turns, as
all loans and REO may not be amenable to a siegli@ution strategy. To avoid the 100% prohibitesh$action
tax on the sale of dealer property by a REIT, werid to dispose of any asset that may be treatbdlds
“primarily for sale to customers in the ordinaryucge of a trade or business” by contributing olirsgkhe asset
to a TRS prior to marketing the asset for sale.

The Servicer collects and remits mortgage loan gas responds to borrower inquiries, accounts for
principal and interest, holds custodial and esdtowds for payment of property taxes and insurameenjums,
counsel or otherwise work with delinquent borrowstgpervises foreclosures and property dispositiots
generally administers the loans. In return for ¢hesrvicing functions, we pay servicing fees toSkevicer
equal to specified percentages of the outstandipgid principal balance of the loans being servivéd are
entitled to other forms of servicing compensati@ather than the Servicer, such as late paymenbdifivation
fees and any prepayment penalties payable by bersow8ervicing compensation also includes inténesime,
or the “float,” earned on collections that are d&fsal in various custodial accounts between tleeieipt and the
scheduled or contractual distribution of the futaivestors. Generally, the Servicer does not adea
delinquent monthly payments of interest or printipaespect of mortgage loans but will be oblighte make
certain servicing advances.

The Servicer also services the mortgage loans lyinigthe MBS we create and sell to investors pansu
to customary agreements.

Under the servicing agreement, the Servicer aleviges property management, lease management and
renovation management services associated witfetigoroperties we acquire upon conversion of naaytg
loans that we will own or that we acquire direchd assists in finding third party financing fockproperties.

The compensation payable by us to the Servicesdoricing our mortgage loans and managing our REO |
described in more detail under “— Gregory Servidiggeement.”

Gregory is licensed to originate loans in 11 steded has relationships with lenders in most otteges,
and we rely on its in-depth knowledge of the préiperin the underwriting process. Unlike more ttiadial
mortgage lenders who base their underwriting prilgnan the FICO® credit risk score, Gregory focusesthe
borrower’s cash flow and residual income afters§atition of monthly requirements, including the exges for
any dependents, employment stability and the gltditmake a cash down payment. We believe thaaliligy to
offer financing through Gregory and its relatioqshiailored to the particular borrower that is Imgya property
from us provides another tool to optimize our retas it can effectively convert an REO into a Idegn high
net yielding asset. In the typical transaction,derg would work with an unaffiliated lender to futite loan tha
we would then purchase from the lender. We bel@fering carryback financing to borrowers with stgocash
flow is often times a
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more attractive alternative to immediate liquidatas we are able to attract a greater number ehpiat buyers
and can charge higher interest rates on totalandsig UPB. Through Gregory’s origination capacitg, may

also acquire a small number of newly originatedlEnaommercial property mortgage loans. Gregoogeiees
no additional compensation from us for originatiRigO sale financing or other loans that we acquire.

Investment Guidelines

All of our investment activities are conducted hy Manager on our behalf pursuant to the management
agreement. Our principal objective is to gener#ttactive risk-adjusted returns for our stockhotdever the
long-term through dividends and capital apprecratio

Our board of directors has adopted an investmditypdesigned to facilitate the management of apitl
and assets and the maintenance of an investmefilimoprofile that meets our objectives. The inwaent
policy will help the board of directors oversee efforts to achieve a return on assets consistéhtour
business objectives and to maintain adequate ltguio meet any financial covenants and regulahcas
requirements.

Our Manager has established an internal investomnmittee, consisting of Messrs. Mendelsohn and
Schaub and three other Aspen investment profedsierperienced in residential and/or smaller conemaéreal
estate investments. Any purchase of re-performimgpa-performing residential mortgage loans orrofperties
will be analyzed by the capital markets group af Manager and presented in written form to its simeent
committee for approval prior to purchase. Our Maragnvestment committee’s role is to act in ademce
with the investment policy and guidelines approlgadur board of directors for the investment of capital.
The investment committee may, without a vote ofstackholders, consider any investment, including
investments in re-performing, ng@erforming and, as appropriate, performing residéand smaller commerc
mortgage loans, consistent with our investmentcgoliVe may also acquire single-family homes, smatielti-
family residential properties and smaller mixed tetail/residential/office properties either upaneclosure or
other settlement of our owned non-performing loamnis the market and opportunistically either seith REO,
including offering mortgage loans to the purchasersent the REO for the short or long term.

Our Manager’s investment committee is authorizefihtance our investment positions through repurehas
agreements, warehouse lines of credit, securitiatd and other financing arrangements provided such
agreements are negotiated with counterparties apgroy the investment committee. Our Manager betiétis
critical to structure any financing facilities tgsificantly limit the risk to our business fromlifag collateral
values and margin calls. We intend to fund ourtassguisitions with non-recourse securitizations/hich the
underlying collateral is not marked-to-market am@&mploy repurchase agreements only for the pémiedhich
we are aggregating assets prior to securitizatiohvéithout the obligation to mark to market the eriging
collateral to the extent available. We may alsogeealr interest rate exposure on our financingiiets througl
the use of interest rate swaps, forwards, futunelsogotions, subject to prior approval from the steeent
committee.

Our board of directors has adopted the followinditahal investment guidelines:

» investments and acquisitions that exceed 15&up&quity from time to time must be approved kg th
Investment Supervisory Committee of our board céators;

* noinvestment shall be made that would cauge fal to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal incem
tax purposes;

* noinvestment shall be made that would cauge be regulated as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act;

» our assets will be invested within our targeseds, as described above; and

« until appropriate investments can be identifigd,may pay off short-term debt or invest the peatse
of any offering in interest-bearing, short-terméstments, including funds that are consistent with
qualifying and maintaining our qualification as BIR.
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Our investment policy and guidelines may be charfgad time to time by our board of directors withou
the approval of our stockholders.

Broad Investment Policy Risk

Our investment policy is very broad and, thereforg, Manager has great latitude in determiningypes
of assets that are appropriate investments faasugiell as the individual investment decisionghifuture, our
Manager may make investments on our behalf witletawtes of return than those anticipated undeentr
market conditions and/or may make investments grilater risks to achieve those anticipated retuns.boart
of directors will periodically review our investmigoolicy and guidelines and our investment portfddut will
not review or approve each proposed investmenubyianager unless it falls outside our previougpraved
investment policy or constitutes a related pardysaction. In conducting periodic reviews, our dazfrdirector:
will rely primarily on information provided to ityoour Manager. Transactions entered into by ouradgan may
be costly, difficult or impossible to unwind by thime they are reviewed by our board of directors.

In addition, we may change our business strategyirarestment policy and targeted asset classasyat a
time without the consent of our stockholders, dmsl ¢ould result in our making investments thatdifierent in
type from, and possibly riskier, than our curremweistments or the investments currently contemgl&anges
in our investment strategy and investment polioy tangeted asset classes may increase our exgosaterest
rate risk, counterparty risk, default risk and restiate market fluctuations, which could materialy adversely
affect us.

Policies with Respect to Certain Transactio

Other than (i) the transactions pursuant to whiehagquired our initial portfolio from Little Ajad LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, or Little Ajak, and from Gregory (see “Item 7. Management'sdDision
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gperations — Liquidity and Capital Resources”), (ii
transactions in which Gregory is the holder of rddmecause we or our subsidiaries may not holdidloessary
license to hold those assets directly, but wheramgehe beneficial owner of at least 95% of theigipation
rights in those assets, or (iii) as approved byagonity of the independent members of our boardiegctors, we
will not purchase portfolio assets from, or sedirthto, our directors or officers or to our Managespen or any
of their affiliates, or engage in any transactionvhich they have a direct or indirect pecuniatgiest, includin
in connection with the securitization of any of ooortgage loan assets (other than our agreemetitowi
Manager, the Servicer and Aspen described in metaildherein).

Policies with Respect to Certain Other Activiti

We intend to raise additional funds through futofferings of equity or debt securities or the rétamof
cash flow (subject to REIT distribution requiren®tr a combination of these methods. In the etrexitour
board of directors determines to raise additionaity capital, it has the authority, without stookder approval,
to issue additional common stock or preferred stodny manner and on such terms and for such dersion
as it deems appropriate, at any time, subject toptiance with applicable regulatory requirements.

In addition, we expect to borrow money to financesfinance the acquisition of re-performing anda-no
performing residential mortgage loans and REO andiéneral corporate purposes and we may borrow to
finance the payment of dividends. Our investmetitppthe assets in our portfolio, the decisioruse leverage
and the appropriate level of leverage will be basedur Manager’s assessment of a variety of factocluding
our historical and projected financial conditiaquidity and results of operations, financing comets, the cash
flow generation capability of assets, the availgbof credit on favorable terms, our outlook fartowing costs
relative to the unlevered yields on our assetsjrdgantion to qualify and maintain our qualificatias a REIT
and exemption from the Investment Company Act,iapple law and other factors, as our board of ttmsc
may deem relevant from time to time. Our decisinge leverage will be at our Manager's discreéind will
not be subject to the approval of our stockholdéfs.are not restricted by our governing documentbé
amount of leverage that we may use.
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As of the date of this annual report, we do natridtto invest in the securities of other REITsgotntities
engaged in real estate activities or securitiesttoér issuers for the purpose of exercising comtver such
entities. We do not intend that our investmentsdeurities will require us to register as an invesit company
under the Investment Company Act, and we wouldchiht® divest such securities before any such megish
would be required. We do not intend to underwritewsities of other issuers.

Financing Strategy and Use of Leverag

We intend to finance our assets with what we believbe a prudent amount of leverage, which wilyva
from time to time based upon the particular charstics of our portfolio, availability of finanajnand market
conditions. We have funded and intend to contiouieihd our asset acquisitions with non-recourse
securitizations in which the underlying collateghot marked-to-market and to employ repurchaseemgents
only for the period in which we are aggregatingegsgrior to securitization and without the obligatto mark
to market the underlying collateral to the extergtiable. We expect our repurchase agreementgyeiiéerally
not exceed 65% of our purchase price or 65% ofgntgpalue, whichever is less. We also expect ¢arimore
leverage on re-performing loans than on non-perfagrfoans. See “ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggtiems — Liquidity and Capital Resources” for aatgstion
of our securitizations, our repurchase financirglifg and any other outstanding indebtedness.

In a repurchase agreement, we will sell an assettunterparty at a discounted value, or the fmaaunt,
and simultaneously agree to repurchase the sareefem®s such counterparty at a price equal to da@ lamoun
plus an interest factor. Despite being legallyatited as sales and subsequent repurchases, rapeirch
agreements are generally accounted for as debteskby the underlying assets. During the term i@paurchase
agreement, we will generally receive the income @thér payments distributed with respect to theeulythg
assets, and pay interest to the counterparty. WWnélgoroceeds of our repurchase agreement finameirggoften
used to purchase additional assets subject taathe sepurchase agreement, our financing arrangsraenot
expected to restrict our ability to use proceedmfthese arrangements to support our other liquigieds. Our
repurchase agreement arrangements will typicallgdmimented under the standard form master repsgcha
agreement of the Securities Industry and FinamMakets Association, with the ability for both pastto
request margin. Given daily market volatility, wedaour repurchase agreement counterparties wikkdpeired tc
post additional margin collateral to each othenfitime to time as part of the normal course oftfmsiness. O
repurchase agreement financing counterpartiegyerierally have the right to determine the valuthef
underlying collateral for purposes of determinihg amount of margin, subject to the terms and ¢iomgdi of
our agreement with the counterparty, includingernain cases our right to dispute the counterpasgluation
determination.

We may utilize other types of borrowings in theufgt, including but not limited to, debt financirfgdugh
bank credit facilities, warehouse lines of credid atructured financing arrangements, among othéesmay
also seek to raise additional capital through mutaiprivate offerings of debt or equity securitidspending
upon market conditions. However, there can be sarasce as to how much additional financing capacith
efforts will produce, what form the financing witlke or that such efforts will be successful. Ifave unable to
expand our sources of financing, our businessnéiwh condition, liquidity and results of operatiomay be
materially and adversely affected.

Our use of leverage, especially in order to inaeghe amount of assets supported by our capital Inaasy
have the effect of increasing losses when thestsagaderperform. Our charter, bylaws and investipelicies
require no minimum or maximum leverage and our stment and risk management committees will have the
discretion, subject to the oversight of our fulbbd of directors, to change both our overall legerand the
leverage used for individual asset classes. Beaawsstrategy is flexible, dynamic and opportueistiur overal
leverage will vary over time. As a result, we dad have a targeted debt-to-equity ratio either emaggregate or
by asset class, although we currently expect thatebt-to-equity ratio will be within a range afilo 2:1.

We currently do not intend to hedge the risk asgedi with the mortgage loans and real estate widgrl
our portfolios. However, we may undertake risk gation activities with respect to our debt finamcinterest
rate obligations. We expect that our debt financimay at times be based on a floating
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rate of interest calculated on a fixed spread twerelevant index, as determined by the partididancing
arrangement. A significantly rising interest ratwieonment could have an adverse effect on the afostir
financing. To mitigate this risk, we may use detiv& financial instruments such as interest ratepswand
interest rate options in an effort to reduce theabdlity of earnings caused by changes in therggtrates we
pay on our debt, subject to our maintaining conmaié@with the terms of the no-action letter so thatare not
treated as a commaodity pool operator for purpo$éiseoDodd-Frank Act. See “— Operating and Reguiato
Structure — Commodity Pool Operator Exemption.”

These derivative transactions will be entered gatiely for risk management purposes, not for inmesit
purposes. When undertaken, these derivative ingimtsrikely will expose us to certain risks suctpase and
interest rate fluctuations, timing risk, volatilitigk, credit risk, counterparty risk and changethe liquidity of
markets. Therefore, although we expect to trarisabiese derivative instruments purely for risk mgement,
they may not adequately protect us from fluctuaionour financing interest rate obligations.

The Management Agreemen

Pursuant to our management agreement, our Marmagégrnents our business strategy and manages our
business and investment activities and day-to-geyaiions, subject to the oversight of our boardictors.
Under the management agreement, we pay our Mafeggeas follows: (1) a quarterly base management fe
based on stockholders equity, payable 50% in stwdresr common stock; and (2) a quarterly incentive
management fee that is payable quarterly in ariearash based on cash dividends paid. Our Manaijjdye
entitled to an incentive fee only if our board @kdtors declares a dividend from REIT taxable mepand the
incentive fee will be payable at the same time thatdividend is payable to our stockholders. Oankber will
not receive any incentive fee in respect of a dimil constituting a return of capital. We also rainsie our
Manager for all third party, out of pocket costsunred by our Manager, including third party dilige and
valuation consultants, legal expenses, auditorso#imet financial services. Neither we nor our MaTtagay
terminate the management agreement without causggydbe first 24 months of its term. Following u24-
month period, we or the Manager may terminate taeagement agreement without cause or in connegttbn
any renewal of the management agreement, subjeettain cases, to payment of a termination fee.

Gregory Servicing Agreement

Under the servicing agreement, Gregory receivescieg fees ranging from 0.65% — 1.25% annually of
UPB (or the fair market value or purchase of RECowa or acquire). Gregory is reimbursed for alltoosary,
reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket costs greshees incurred in the performance of its obligestiche
actual cost of any repairs and renovations. Ttad fees incurred by us for these services will bpethdent upon
the UPB and type of mortgage loans that Gregonyices, property values, previous UPB of the rel¢V@an,
and the number of REO properties. The agreemehautibmatically renew for successive one-year terms
subject to prior written notice of naenewal. In certain cases, we may be obligatecyosptermination fee. Tt
management agreement will automatically terminateeasame time as the servicing agreement ifehgcng
agreement is terminated for any reason.

Competition

In acquiring our assets, we compete with other gage and hybrid REITs, hedge funds, specialty firan
companies, savings and loan associations, banktgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds,
investment banking firms, financial institution@vgrnmental bodies and other entities. Most ofammpetitors
are significantly larger than us, have greater s€te capital and other resources and may have advantages
over us. In addition to existing companies, ott@npanies may be organized for similar purposed,dling
companies focused on purchasing mortgage assei®liferation of such companies may increase the
competition for equity capital and thereby adverséfect the price of our shares of common stocladdition,
some of our competitors may have higher risk tolees or different risk assessments, which cou@hethem tc
consider a wider variety of assets and establiste medationships than us.
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In the face of this competition, we rely on our Mgar’s professionals and their industry expertigech
we believe provides us with a competitive advantauyghelp us assess risks and determine approprieieg
for certain potential assets. In addition, we halithat these relationships enable us to compete eftectively
for attractive asset acquisition opportunities. ldger, we may not be able to achieve our busingsstles du
to the competitive risks that we face.

Operating and Regulatory Structure

Tax Requirement:

We will elect and intend to qualify to be taxedsaREIT commencing with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2014. Provided that we qualify anchtaai our qualification as a REIT, we generallylwibt be
subject to U.S. federal income tax on our REIT td&dncome that is currently distributed to ourcgtmolders.
REITs are subject to a number of organizational@etational requirements, including a requirentieat they
currently distribute at least 90% of their annuBlRtaxable income excluding net capital gains. ¢&enot
assure you that we will be able to comply with steduirements in the future. Failure to qualifygaREIT in
any taxable year would cause us to be subject$ofdderal income tax on our taxable income atlezgu
corporate rates (and any applicable state and fagast). Even if we qualify for taxation as a RENg may be
subject to certain U.S. federal, state, local amatd.S. taxes on our income. For example, for argirtess that
we conduct through a taxable REIT subsidiary, oBTfRe income generated by that subsidiary wikldgect tc
U.S. federal, state and local income tax. GA-TRELbr Thetis TRS, is a wholly owned subsidiary of o
operating partnership that owns our 19.8% equigrest in our Manager, and we have elected to Tieetis
TRS as a TRS under the Code. In January 2015, pledgdor a private letter ruling from the Interriévenue
Service that would permit us to hold our interesthie Manager through the operating partnership.

Investment Company Act Exclusic

We intend to conduct our operations so that neitrenor any of our subsidiaries is required tostgias
an investment company under the Investment CompahySection 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investment Compargt A
defines an investment company as any issuer tloathslds itself out as being engaged primarilthia business
of investing, reinvesting or trading in securiti€gction 3(a)(1)(C) of the Investment Company Aeftrees an
investment company as any issuer that is engagpposes to engage in the business of invesgiyesting,
owning, holding or trading in securities and own@poses to acquire investment securities haainglue
exceeding 40% of the value of the issuer’s totaétss(exclusive of U.S. government securities asth items)
on an unconsolidated basis, which we refer to @9l@%b test. Excluded from the term “investmenusiies,”
among other things, are securities issued by nigjorined subsidiaries that are not themselves tnverst
companies and are not relying on the exclusion fiteendefinition of investment company set forttSiection 3
(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Compauay.

We are organized as a holding company and condudiusinesses primarily through wholly owned
subsidiaries of our operating partnership. Our afxeg partnership holds certain real estate andestate-
related assets, directly and through subsidiaNegher we nor our operating partnership nor GA¢ax Funding
is an investment company under Section 3(a)(1)¢Caddition, we intend to conduct our operationshs
neither we nor our operating partnership nor Gégax Funding come within the definition of an inweent
company by ensuring that less than 40% of the vaflwair total assets on an unconsolidated basisistsof
“investment securities.”

We monitor our compliance with the 40% test andhblelings of our subsidiaries to ensure that edcup
subsidiaries is in compliance with an applicableragtion or exclusion from registration as an inwesit
company under the Investment Company Act.

Our 19.8% equity interest in our Manager is owngd betis TRS, which is a special purpose subsidiry
our operating partnership. Thetis TRS may rely eati®n 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) for its Investment Compaict
exclusion and, therefore, our interest in suchiglidry would constitute an “investment securitfor purposes
of determining whether we pass the 40% test. Weeralsy form certain other wholly owned or majoritysted
subsidiaries that will invest, subject to our inwesnt guidelines, in other real
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estate-related assets. These subsidiaries maypetythe exclusion from the definition of investtheompany
under the Investment Company Act pursuant to Se@&{o)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Adte
securities issued by any wholly owned or majorityred subsidiary that we may form and that are ebezlu
from the definition of‘investment company” based on Section 3(c)(1)(0}(3) of the Investment Company
Act, together with any other investment securitismay own, may not have a value in excess of 4D8te0
value of our total assets on an unconsolidatedsbasi

In addition, we believe that neither we nor certfiour subsidiaries will be considered investment
companies under Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investn@mpany Act because we and they will not engage
primarily or hold themselves out as being engagéedapily in the business of investing, reinvestmgrading ir
securities. Rather, we and such subsidiaries wipptimarily engaged in non-investment company lassias
related to real estate. Consequently, we and dagidiaries expect to be able to conduct our opmratsuch that
none will be required to register as an investneentpany under the Investment Company Act.

The determination of whether an entity is a majeoitvned subsidiary of our company is made by ug Th
Investment Company Act defines a majority-ownedsgliry of a person as a company 50% or more of the
outstanding voting securities of which are ownedibgh person, or by another company which is anitgjo
owned subsidiary of such person. The Investmentg@mm Act further defines voting securities as aggusity
presently entitling the owner or holder thereofitde for the election of directors of a company. Wéat
companies in which we own at least a majority efdlitstanding voting securities as majority-owned
subsidiaries. We also treat the securitizatiornt$ras majority-owned subsidiaries of Great Ajaxding even
though none of the securities issued by such tthatsare held by Great Ajax Funding meets thenitasn of
voting securities under the Investment Company ¥A.reached our conclusion in reliance on an opioio
counsel that the Trust Certificates issued by sacluritization trust are the functional equivalefvoting
securities and that, in any event, each secuiiizatust should be considered to be a majority-@iveubsidiary
of Great Ajax Funding. We have not asked the sifafifie Securities and Exchange Commission, or &€, $or
concurrence of our analysis, our treatment of sechurities as voting securities, or whether thersgzation
trusts, or any other of our subsidiaries, may batérd in the manner in which we intend, and ibissgble that th
SEC staff could disagree with any of our deternamst If the SEC staff were to disagree with oeatment of
one or more companies as majority-owned subsidianie would need to adjust our strategy and owatasany
such adjustment in our strategy could have a nat@diverse effect on us.

Certain of our subsidiaries may also rely uponaiertxclusions from the definition of investmentgzany
under Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Compaaly Section 3(c)(5)(C), as interpreted by thefatthe
SEC, requires an entity to invest at least 55%sofissets in “mortgages and other liens on ancestein real
estate,” which we refer to as “qualifying real éstiaaterests,” and at least 80% of its assets @lifying real
estate interests plus “real estate-related assets.”

On August 31, 2011, the SEC published a concepasel entitled “Companies Engaged in the Business of
Acquiring Mortgages and Mortgage Related Instrursiefiivestment Company Act Rel. No. 29778). This
release notes that the SEC is reviewing the Se8{iox5)(C) exclusion relied upon by companies Einto us
that invest in mortgage loans. There can be naasse that the laws and regulations governingrikiedtment
Company Act status of companies similar to ourgherguidance from the SEC or its staff regardimg t
treatment of assets as qualifying real estate asseeal estate-related assets, will not changenranner that
adversely affects our operations as a result efrthiiew. To the extent that the SEC or its stedi/mles more
specific guidance regarding any of the mattersibgarmpon our exclusion from the need to registetaurihe
Investment Company Act, we may be required to adjusstrategy accordingly. Any additional guidarficem
the SEC staff could provide additional flexibiltiy us, or it could further inhibit our ability taupsue the
strategies that we have chosen.

The loss of our exemption from regulation pursuarihe Investment Company Act could require us to
restructure our operations, sell certain of ouetsssr abstain from the purchase of certain assish could
have an adverse effect on our financial conditiot esults of operations. See “Item 1A. Risk FacterRisks
Related to Our Organizational Structure — Mainteaof our exclusion from registration as an invesim
company under the Investment Company Act impoggsfiiant limitations on our operations.”
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Commodity Pool Operator Exemptic

Under the Dodd-Frank Act, any investment fund thedes in swaps may be considered a “commodity
pool,” which would cause its operators to be realas a “commodity pool operator,” or CPO. We halied
on no-action relief from registration from the Cowlity Futures Trading Commission, or CFTC and fibed
claim with the CFTC to perfect the use of the ntiemcrelief from registration. In order to be exermom
registration as a CPO under the no-action reliefpvwist, among other non-operation requirementdinidt)our
initial margin and premiums required to establish @wap or futures positions to no more than 5%effair
market value of our total assets; and (2) limit et income derived annually from our swaps andrés
positions that are not “qualifying hedging trangats” to less than 5% of our gross income. The rieeperate
within these parameters could limit the use of swapus below the level that we would otherwisesider
optimal or may lead to the registration of our campor our directors as CPOs. See “ltem 1A. Riskdfa —
Risks Related to Regulatory and Legislative ActiendVe may be unable to operate within the pararadhet
allow us to be excluded from regulation as a comtyqmbol operator, which would subject us to aduditl
regulation and compliance requirements, and cowtkrially adversely affect our business and financi
condition.”

Environmental Matters

As an owner of real estate, we are subject to varid.S. federal, state and local environmental laws
regulations and ordinances and also could be ltaktleird parties resulting from environmental @ntnation o
noncompliance with environmental laws at our prépsr Environmental laws can impose liability oncamer
or operator of real property for the investigatéord remediation of contamination at or migratirgrsuch real
property, without regard to whether the owner cgrapor knew of or was responsible for the presefitee
contaminants. The costs of any required investgatr cleanup of these substances could be suiadtarte
liability is generally not limited under such laasd could exceed the property’s value and the ggtgeassets
of the liable party. The presence of contaminatiothe failure to remediate contamination at owperties also
may expose us to thindarty liability for personal injury or property daige or adversely affect our ability to <
lease or renovate the real estate or to borrovwgubimreal estate as collateral. See also “ltemRigk Factors.”

Employees

We do not currently have any employees and do xyuta to have any employees in the foreseeablegfutu
Each of our executive officers is an employee ficef or both, of our Manager or of the Servicer ghey are
paid by our Manager or the Servicer, as applicablg.Manager and the Servicer expect to share smgdowitl
other affiliates of Aspen as necessary to implementusiness strategy. Aspen and its affiliateduiding the
Servicer, have approximately 60 employees who nnayige services to us or to our Manager or the iSerfor
our benefit.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks describeld\l together with the other information includedhis
annual report on Form 10-K. Our business, financiahdition or results of operations could be adedys
affected by any of these risks. If any of thedesrigcur, the value of our common stock could decli

Risks Related to Our Busines:

We have a limited operating history and may notdide to operate our business in accordance with RielT
requirements or generate sufficient revenue to makesustain distributions to our stockholders.

We were incorporated on January 30, 2014 and comedepperations on July 8, 2014, following the
closing of the Original Private Placement. Priodady 8, 2014, neither we nor our Manager had greyating
history, and our Manager has not previously opdratenanaged a REIT. We cannot assure you thatillvbev
able to operate our business successfully or imgferour operating policies and strategies. Thenebeano
assurance that we will be able to generate sufficeturns to pay our operating expenses and nalsfactory
distributions to our stockholders or any distribas at all. The results of our
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operations depend on factors over which we haveontrol, including the availability of acquisition
opportunities, the level and volatility of intereates, the availability of adequate short and {targ financing,
conditions in the mortgage loan and financial merlkeend general economic conditions.

A significant portion of the residential mortgage&ns that we acquire are, or may become -performing
loans, which could increase our risk of loss.

We expect to acquire residential mortgage loangevtie borrower has failed to make timely paymeifits
principal and/or interest currently or in the p@st.part of the residential mortgage loan portfehee purchase,
we also may acquire performing loans that subsetyueecome non-performing. We currently do not estfie
acquire newly originated residential mortgage loamgroperties that are not already part of ourtgawe loan
or REO portfolio. Under current market conditionsny of these loans will have current loan-to-vahtes in
excess of 100%, meaning the amount owed on thedwegeds the value of the underlying real estdtaoAgh
we expect to purchase loans at significant disstmmUPB and underlying property value, if actuults are
different from our assumptions in determining thiegs for such loans, particularly if the markeluesof the
underlying property decreases significantly, we nmayr significant losses. There are no limits loa t
percentage of non-performing loans we may hold. lsg we incur may be significant and could maligrend
adversely affect us.

Residential mortgage loan modification and refinaa@rograms, future legislative action, and othertemns
and changes in the general economy may materialtyladversely affect the supply of, value of, ané th
returns on, re-performing and non-performing loans.

Our business model depends on the acquisitiorstéady supply of re-performing and non-performing
loans, our ability to support continued performahbgédorrowers under re-performing loans, the sucoésur
loan modification and other resolution efforts and certain extent, the conversion of a portiothoke loans t
REO that we can then sell or rent. The number -@erorming and non-performing loans availablegorchase
may be reduced by uncertainty in the lending inguashd the governmental sector and/or as a resgkreral
economic improvement. Lenders may choose to delegclosure proceedings, renegotiate interest cates
refinance loans for borrowers who face foreclosure.

In addition, in recent years, the U.S. federal gorent has instituted a number of programs aimed at
assisting at-risk homeowners, or reducing the nuirabproperties going into foreclosure or goingpinon-
performing status. For example, the U.S. Governpibrdugh the Department of the Treasury, U.S. Btapmnt
of Housing and Urban Development, or HUD, and tbdefal Housing Finance Agency or, FHFA, has
implemented a number of federal programs desigmaddist homeowners, including the Home Affordable
Modification Program, or HAMP, which provides hormgwrs with assistance in avoiding foreclosure on
residential mortgage loans, and the Home Afford&aénance Program, or HARP, which allows FannieMa
and Freddie Mac borrowers who are current on theitgage payments to refinance and reduce theithiyon
mortgage payments without new mortgage insurarzé an unlimited loan-to-value ratio for fixed-eat
mortgages. HAMP, HARP and other loss mitigationgoams may involve, among other things, the modifice
of residential mortgage loans to reduce the pradapnount of the loans (through forbearance and/or
forgiveness) and/or the rate of interest payabltherioans or to extend the payment terms of thedoThese
loan modification programs, future legislative egulatory actions, including possible amendmenthéeo
bankruptcy laws that result in the modificationootstanding residential mortgage loans, as wethasges in
the requirements necessary to qualify for refinagicesidential mortgage loans, may materially ahceesely
affect the value of, and the returns on, our pbtdfof re-performing and non-performing loans.

Other governmental actions may affect our busibgdsindering the pace of foreclosures. In recenibgs,
there has been a backlog of foreclosures in ceuasdictions, due to a combination of volume dosists and
legal actions, including those brought by the UD8partment of Justice, or DOJ, HUD, State Attorn@gsieral,
the office of the Comptroller of the Currency, dhd Federal Reserve Board against mortgage ses\atleging
wrongful foreclosure practices. Legal claims braughthreatened by the DOJ, HUD, CFPB and StaterAdlys
General against residential mortgage servicers penduced large settlements. A portion of the fuinds thest
settlements are directed to homeowners seekingoid &reclosure through mortgage modificationgd an
servicers are required to adopt specified meadares
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reduce mortgage obligations in certain situatidinis. expected that the settlements will help mhagneowners
avoid foreclosures that would otherwise have oezliin the near-term. It is also possible that othsidential
mortgage servicers will agree to similar settlermefhese developments will reduce the number ofdsomthe
process of foreclosure and decrease the supplsopepies and assets that meet our investmentiarite

In addition, the U.S. Congress and numerous stgislatures have considered, proposed or adopted
legislation to constrain foreclosures, or may dansthe future. The Dodd-Frank Act, also createsl@PB,
which supervises consumer financial services compgmcluding bank and non-bank mortgage lendeds a
mortgage servicers) and enforces U.S. federal ecoesprotection laws as they apply to banks, crnadibns and
other financial services companies, including magyservicers, and which has issued many regutation
regarding mortgage origination and servicing. Theggilations provide for special remedies in favbr
consumer mortgage borrowers, particularly uponwegand foreclosure. It remains uncertain whethsr af
these measures will have a significant impact esedlesure volumes or what the timing of that impactild be.
If foreclosure volumes were to decline significgnte may experience difficulty in finding targetsets at
attractive prices, which will materially and advedgsaffect us. Also, the number of families seekiegtal
housing might be reduced by such legislation, reduental housing demand for properties that wg sk to
rent in our markets.

The supply of r-performing and nor-performing loans may decline over time as a resaflthigher credit
standards for new loans and/or general economic noyement, and the prices for -performing and non-
performing loans may increase, which could matefiahnd adversely affect u:

As a result of the continuing effects of the ecomoanisis in 2008, there has been an increasedsoppe-
performing and non-performing loans available falesHowever, in response to the economic crises, t
origination of jumbo, subprime, Alt-A and seconérliresidential mortgage loans has dramaticallyinktlas
lenders have increased their standards of creditwass in originating new loans and fewer homeow/neay
go into non-performing status on their residentiakltgage loans. In addition, the prices at whicpegorming
and non-performing loans can be acquired may iseréae to the entry of new participants into thstressed
loan marketplace or a smaller supply of re-perfagrand non-performing loans in the marketplace tkrese
reasons, along with the continuing slow rate ofegahimprovement in the economy, the supply gbeeforming
and non-performing residential mortgage loansweatmay acquire may decline over time, which could
materially and adversely affect us.

Difficult conditions in the mortgage, residentiakal estate and smaller commercial real estate mskas well
as general market concerns may adversely affectuakie of the assets in which we invest and these
conditions may persist for the foreseeable future.

Our business is materially affected by conditionthie residential mortgage market, the residereil
estate market, the smaller commercial real estatket) the financial markets and the economy iregan
Concerns about the residential mortgage marketarat-yet-stable real estate market, as well datiof,
energy costs, geopolitical issues, concerns owecriiditworthiness of governments worldwide andstiadility
of the global banking system, continuing relativieigh unemployment and under-employment and the
availability and cost of credit have contributedrtoreased volatility and diminished expectatiomsthe
economy and markets going forward. In particulae, residential mortgage market in the United Stasess
experienced a variety of difficulties and changedr®mic conditions, including defaults, credit lessind
liquidity concerns. Certain commercial banks, inment banks and insurance companies continue touaice
losses from exposure to the residential mortgag&ehal hese factors have affected investor pereepif the
risk associated with MBS, other real estate-relatsmlirities and various other asset classes irhwigcmay
invest. As a result, values of certain of our asaetl the asset classes in which we intend to itnze®
experienced volatility. Further deterioration of timortgage market and investor perception of glesri
associated with MBS we may retain as part of ooustzations, as well as other assets that weisegould
materially adversely affect our business, financaidition and results of operations and our ahiitmake
distributions to our stockholders.
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We may be materially and adversely affected bysiakfecting borrowers or the sing-family rental properties
in which our investments may be concentrated at ajiyen time, as well as from unfavorable changestfire
related geographic regions.

Our assets are not subject to any geographic,dfigation or concentration limitations. Accordiggbur
investment portfolio may be concentrated by geduyapingle-family rental property characteristicslér
borrower demographics, increasing the risk of toass if the particular concentration in our poiitias subject
to greater risks or undergoing adverse developméntsldition, adverse conditions in the areas witlee
properties securing or otherwise underlying ouestments are located (including business layoffs or
downsizing, industry slowdowns, changing demogrephnd other factors) and local real estate camdit{sucl
as oversupply or reduced demand) may have an adeffext on the value of our investments. A makeria
decline in the demand for single-family housingemtals in these or other areas where we will ossets may
materially and adversely affect us. Lack of divigcation can increase the correlation of hon-perfance and
foreclosure risks among our investments. Histogc#he mortgage and real estate assets acquireffibgtes of
our Manager have been concentrated in Floridaleevestern and southwestern United States.

Recent changes in consumer mortgage loan regulationay make it more difficult for borrowers to refamce
our purchased mortgage loans.

The Dodd-Frank Act authorized the CFPB to issuelegipns, including the Ability-to-Pay Rule, or the
ATR Rule, governing a loan originator’'s determipatthat, at the time a loan is originated, the nomer has a
reasonable ability to repay the loan, or ATR. TH&8 promulgated the ATR Rule, which implements iteda
requirements on how lenders must establish a bemswability to repay a covered mortgage loan. AR
Rule became effective for residential mortgage kmaplications received on or after January 10, 26dgubset
of mortgages within the ATR Rule are known as “ifieal mortgages,” or QMs. The Doderank Act provides
statutory presumption that a borrower will have dbdity to repay a loan if the loan has the chtaastics that
meet the definition of QM, potentially mitigatinget risk of liability of the creditor and assigndetwe creditor
for special ATR remedies under the U.S. federatfTnu Lending Act, or TILA. Mortgage lenders may be
reluctant to make loans that do not qualify as @dsause they will not be entitled to such protectigainst
civil liability under the Dodd~rank Act. As a result, the ATR Rule may restrig aivailability of mortgage loa
in the market, including refinancing loans.

Changes in the underwriting standards by Freddie Mdannie Mae or FHA could make it more difficuliot
refinance our purchased mortgage loans.

In 2010, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae announcedeigittderwriting guidelines, particularly for adjaiste
rate mortgages, or ARMs, and hybrid interest-onBMs, or Hybrid ARMs. Specifically, Freddie Mac
announced that it would no longer purchase inteset mortgages and Fannie Mae changed its elityibil
criteria for purchasing and securitizing ARMs tofgct consumers from potentially dramatic paymeatdases.
Stricter underwriting standards by Freddie Mac,rfi@Mae or the FHA could affect our ability to redince
mortgage loans and the terms on which mortgagesloay be refinanced, which may adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

The whole residential mortgage loans and other desitial mortgage assets in which we may invest
subject to risk of default, among other risk

The mortgage loans and other mortgagjeted assets that we may acquire from time te timy be subje
to defaults (including re-default for re-performilugns), foreclosure timeline extension, fraudidestial price
depreciation and unfavorable modification of loaimgipal amount, interest rate and amortizatioprirficipal,
which could result in losses to us. Residentialtgagge loans are secured by single-family resideptaperty
and, when not guaranteed by a government sponsatetdbrise, or GSE, such as Fannie Mae and Fréthiie
or securitized through Ginnie Mae, are subjectsksrof delinquency and foreclosure and risks e§1d@ he
payment of the principal and interest on the magéga@ans we expect to acquire would not typicadly b
guaranteed by any GSE or any other governmentalcggédditionally, by directly acquiring whole mgege
loans, we do not receive the structural credit anBments that can benefit senior tranches of MB&hale
mortgage loan is directly exposed to losses
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resulting from default. Therefore, the value of timelerlying property, the creditworthiness andiiicial positior
of the borrower and the priority and enforceabitifithe lien will significantly affect the value sfich mortgage.
The ability of a borrower to repay a loan securgé besidential property typically depends uponititeme or
assets of the borrower. A number of factors, inicigé general economic downturn, acts of naturegitiem,
social unrest and civil disturbances, may impdpaower’s ability to repay a mortgage loan. Foosate of a
mortgage loan can be an expensive and lengthy ggpadich could have a substantial negative effeaiur
anticipated return on a foreclosed mortgage laathé event of a foreclosure, we may assume dingnership
of the underlying real estate. The liquidation gexds upon sale of such real estate may not beisuffito
recover our cost basis in the loan, and any codiglays involved in the foreclosure or liquidatipmcess may
increase losses.

Whole mortgage loans are also subject to “specizhtd” risk such as property damage caused by dmzar
such as earthquakes or environmental hazardspmeted by standard property insurance policiethérevent
of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan borrower nfwetgage loan to such borrower will be deemed tedmeirec
only to the extent of the value of the underlyindateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determibgdhe
bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the magrégaan will be subject to the avoidance powerthef
bankruptcy trustee or debtor in possession toxtenethe lien is unenforceable under state lavaddition,
claims may be assessed against us on account pbeition as a mortgage holder or property owmsiuding
assignee liability, responsibility for tax paymergavironmental hazards and other liabilities.dme cases,
these liabilities may be “recourse liabilities” may otherwise lead to losses in excess of thehpge price of tt
related mortgage or property. Although we expeetdguire mortgage loans at significant discouramftheir
UPB and underlying property value, in the everdimf default under a mortgage loan held directlygywe
bear a risk of loss of the principal to the exiiany deficiency between the value of the colktand the
principal and accrued interest of the mortgage,lednich could have a material adverse effect oncash flow
from operations and results of operations. The MB&Setain from our own securitizations evidenceriests in,
or are secured by, pools of residential mortgagadoAccordingly, the MBS that we hold will be sedijto all
of the risks of the respective underlying mortgkgss.

For certain residential mortgage loans, the DodahikiAct established, through amendment to TILAe-lif
of-loan liability on any holder of a residential ntgage loan that takes action on the loan followdefault
(including foreclosure). This liability is premisegon violation of the ATR Rule, as well as viotatiof the loar
originator compensation rule. Borrower remediegjlable by way of recoupment or set-off, includatstory
damages and attorneys’ fees.

Our commercial mortgage loans in respect of smaliteulti-family residential properties or smaller mixed u
retail/residential properties may be subject to delts, foreclosure timeline extension, fraud androoercial
price depreciation and unfavorable modification &dan principal amount, interest rate and amortizati of
principal.

Our commercial mortgage loans secured by multi{faot commercial property may be subject to risks o
delinquency and foreclosure, and risk of loss thay be greater than similar risks associated wiing made o
the security of single-family residential propertje ability of a borrower to repay a loan securgd@n income-
producing property typically depends primarily ugbe successful operation of such property ratiem tipon
the existence of independent income or assetsdidhrower. If the net operating income of the propis
reduced, the borrower’s ability to repay the loaayrbe impaired. Net operating income of an incomuehpcing
property can be affected by, among other things:

* tenant mix;

*  success of tenant businesses;

»  property management decisions;

e property location and condition;

»  competition from comparable types of properties;

» changes in laws that increase operating expandasit rents that may be charged,;
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* any need to address environmental contaminatidime property or the occurrence of any uninsured
casualty at the property;

« changes in national, regional or local economoieditions and/or specific industry segments;

» declines in regional or local real estate values

» declines in regional or local rental or occuparates;

* increases in interest rates;

» real estate tax rates and other operating e®gens

* changes in governmental rules, regulations ew@lfpolicies, including environmental legislati@amd

. acts of God, terrorist attacks, social unrest @il disturbances.

If we acquire and subsequently -sell any whole mortgage loans, we may be requiredepurchase sucl
loans or indemnify investors if we breach represatibns and warranties.

If we acquire and subsequently re-sell any wholetgage loans, we would generally be required toamak
customary representations and warranties aboutleaob to the loan purchaser. Our residential nageegoan
sale agreements and terms of any securitizatidasnhich we sell loans will generally require usépurchase
or substitute loans in the event we breach a reptaton or warranty given to the loan purchaseaddition,
we may be required to repurchase loans as a duttrrower fraud or in the event of early paymaefault on
mortgage loan. Repurchased loans are typicallyhwamty a fraction of the original price. Signifidanrepurchase
activity could materially adversely affect our mess, financial condition and results of operatiamd our
ability to make distributions to our stockholdefsirther, depending on the level of repurchase asale
activities, we may determine to conduct any sudiviies through a TRS.

We are subject to counterparty risk and may be uleato seek indemnity or require our counterpartits
repurchase mortgage loans if they breach represéiotas and warranties, which could cause us to suffe
losses.

When selling mortgage loans, sellers typically mekstomary representations and warranties abott suc
loans. Our residential mortgage loan purchase aggets may entitle us to seek indemnity or demapdrohas:
or substitution of the loans in the event our ceyparty breaches a representation or warranty divess.
However, there can be no assurance that our matgag purchase agreements will contain appropriate
representations and warranties, that we will be &bknforce our contractual right to repurchassubsstitution,
or that our counterparty will remain solvent oretliise be able to honor its obligations under itstgage loan
purchase agreements. Our inability to obtain indgnor require repurchase of a significant numkidoans
could harm our business, financial condition, lajtyi, results of operations and our ability to makstributions
to our stockholders.

Certain investments in portfolios of whole mortgalgens and other mortgage assets may require u
purchase less desirable mortgage assets as paahaitherwise desirable pool of mortgage assets,civtdould
subject us to additional risks relating to the ledasirable mortgage asse

If we acquire portfolios of whole mortgage loansl ather mortgage assets, the portfolio may corgaine
assets that we would not otherwise seek to acquitbeir own. These other assets may subject addiional
risks. Acquisition of less desirable mortgage ass®ty impair our performance and reduce the reforour
investments.

To the extent that due diligence is conducted oneptial assets, such due diligence may not revdbabfthe
risks associated with such assets and may not reetteer weaknesses in such assets, which could lead
losses.

Before making an investment, we intend to condeithér directly or using third parties) certain due
diligence. There can be no assurance that we anllact any specific level of due diligence, or lemhong
other things, our due diligence processes will vecall relevant facts or that any purchase wilshecessful,
which could result in losses on these assets, whidlrn, could adversely affect our businessafiicial
condition and results of operations and our abibitynake distributions to our stockholders.
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The failure of a seller of mortgage loans to proeicll the necessary documentation to us could agety
affect our ability to leverage our assets or othée service the mortgage loans that we will own.

Pursuant to customary provisions in the purchaseeagents governing our loan acquisitions, we also
generally will have the right to cause the selterseepurchase certain loans if they do not proypidger
documentation to evidence ownership or first ligius with respect to such loans within a specitiie period
Any delay or inability to obtain such documentatamuld adversely affect our ability to leveragelsigans,
could adversely affect the Servicer’s ability tovéee those mortgage loans and any such repurclhystbe
sellers would decrease the size of our portfolio.

We will primarily own higher risk loans, which arenore expensive to service than conventional mortg
loans.

A significant percentage of the mortgage loans weown are higher risk loans, meaning that thenlare
to less creditworthy borrowers or for properties talue of which has decreased. These loans are mor
expensive to service because they require moredragnteraction with customers and greater moinigoand
oversight. Additionally, in connection with the arigg mortgage market reform and regulatory develems)
servicers of higher risk loans may be subject todased scrutiny by state and U.S. federal regslatomay
experience higher compliance costs, which couldlr@s a further increase in servicing costs. Thylothe
servicing agreement, the Servicer will pass alengstmany of the additional third-party expensesiired by it
in servicing these higher risk loans. The greabst of servicing higher risk loans, which may betar
increased through regulatory reform, could advgraffect our business, financial condition and hessof
operations.

A change in delinquencies for the loans we will ownuld adversely affect our business, financial abtion
and results of operations.

Delinquency rates have a significant impact onremenues and expenses of our mortgage loans aw/fo

 Revenut. Increased delinquencies generate higher ancfié&s to the loan servicer, which fees are
recoverable, if at all, in the event that the wdidban is liquidated prior to payment of the iat#ron
the loan or MBS that we will own.

 Expense. Anincrease in delinquencies will result inigher cost to service due to the increased
and effort required to collect payments from dalient borrowers. The cost of servicing an
increasingly delinquent mortgage loan portfolio miag without a corresponding increase in revenue
because of increased third-party cost reimbursesrgerth as property taxes and insurance.

An increase in delinquency rates could thereforeesly affect our business, financial conditiod an
results of operations.

Moreover, a significant percentage of the mortgagas we will own are higher risk loans, which tead
have higher delinquency and default rates than @®Egovernment agency-insured mortgage loans. These
higher risk loans, combined with decreases in ptgpalues, have caused increases in loan-to-valiies,
resulting in borrowers having little or negativeuiy in their property, which may provide incentiteeborrower
to strategically default on their loans. Recentdalglay the initiation or completion of foreclospreceedings
on specified types of residential mortgage loanstoerwise limit the ability of mortgage servicéogake
actions that may be essential to preserve the wdltiee mortgage loans. Any such limitations akelif to cause
delayed or reduced collections from mortgagors.

Market conditions and other factors may affect oability to securitize assets, which could increase
financing costs and adversely affect our resultsagerations and ability to make distribution

Our ability to obtain permanent non-recourse firiag¢hrough securitizations will be affected bywamber
of factors, including:

e conditions in the securities markets, generally;

«  conditions in the asset-backed securities marispiecifically;
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» yields on our portfolio of mortgage loans;
» the credit quality of our portfolio of mortgagmans; and

* our ability to obtain any necessary credit erteament.

In recent years, the asset-backed securitizatioketahave experienced unprecedented disruptiods, a
securitization volumes have decreased sharply.Reoaditions in the securitization markets includduced
liquidity, increased risk premiums for issuers,ueell investor demand, financial distress amongnirzé
guaranty insurance providers, a general tighteofraggedit and substantial regulatory uncertaintghdugh we
have been able to complete two securitizatiorthei$e conditions worsen in the future, they contiddéase our
cost of funding, and could reduce or even elimimmateaccess to the securitization market. As dtrebese
conditions could preclude us from securitizing &ssequired for such purpose.

Our ability to sell mortgage loans into securitiaas could also be delayed, limited, or precludgd b
legislative and regulatory reforms applicable teetibacked securities and the institutions thahspg service,
rate, or otherwise participate in, or contributeth® successful execution of a securitizationgaation. Other
factors could also limit, delay, or preclude ouiligbto sell assets into securitizations. Provismf the Dodd-
Frank Act have required significant revisions te kbgal and regulatory framework that apply todhsetackec
securities markets and securitizations. For exang#etion 15G of the Securities Exchange Act 04198 the
Exchange Act, as modified by the Dodd-Frank Achegelly requires the issuer of asset-backed sézstit
retain not less than five percent of the credk dkthe assets collateralizing the asset-backedrigrs. While
Section 15G includes an exemption for asset-baskedrities that are collateralized exclusively ésidential
mortgages that qualify as “qualified residentialrtgages” (as defined in the accompanying regulajiome-
performing loans of the type that we intend to pase and securitize generally will not qualify tlois
exemption. We will therefore be required to retiaie percent or more of the credit risk associatéth the
assets we securitize.

In addition to these laws and rules, other U.Seffeldor state laws and regulations that could affac
ability to sell assets into securitization programesy be proposed, enacted, or implemented. Thesedad
regulations could effectively preclude us from fineng our assets through securitizations or coeldydour
execution of these types of transactions. Othetargtsuch as (i) accounting standards applicable t
securitization transactions and (ii) capital ancetage requirements applicable to banks and o#fgedated
financial institutions that traditionally purchased hold asset-backed securities, could also rigslgss investor
demand for securities issued through securitizat@mmsactions.

Prepayment rates can change, adversely affecting prerformance of our assets and our ability to re@st the
proceeds thereo

The frequency at which prepayments (including vtauanprepayments by borrowers, loan buyouts and
liquidations due to defaults and foreclosures) ootumortgage loans, including those underlying MBS
affected by a variety of factors, including theyaiéing level of interest rates as well as econqrd@mographic,
tax, social, legal, and other factors. Generaltyrdwers tend to prepay their mortgages when pliegai
mortgage rates fall below the interest rates oir thertgage loans. When borrowers prepay their gaae loans
at rates that are faster or slower than expedtegsilts in prepayments that are faster or sldiem expected on
the mortgage loans and any related MBS. Theserfastower than expected payments may adversedgtaf
our profitability, although the effects vary becaugpon prepayment we can receive 100% of the réngaiyBP
that we had purchased at a significant discount.

We may purchase loans that have a higher intesstiian the then prevailing market interest fate.
exchange for this higher interest rate, we maygpyemium to par value to acquire the loan. In etzoce with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates, or GAAP, we amortize this premium adker
expected term of the security or loan based orpmpayment assumptions or its contractual ternsermiting ol
the type of loan or security purchased. If a Iaapriepaid in whole or in part at a faster thamxgected rate or
contractual term (as applicable), we must expetige a part of the remaining unamortized portidritee
premium that was paid at the time of the purchabéh will adversely affect our profitability.
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We also may purchase securities or loans that hdeeer interest rate than the then prevailing reark
interest rate. In exchange for this lower interatt, we may pay a discount to par value to acdh&doan. We
accrete this discount over the expected term ofoidue based on our prepayment assumptions or itsazdgual
terms, depending on the type of loan or securitgipased. If a loan is prepaid at a slower than eeperate,
however, we must accrete the remaining portiomefdiscount at a slower than expected rate. THigxtend
the expected life of investment portfolio and regul lower than expected yield on loans purchased
discount to par.

Prepayment rates generally increase when inteatsst fall and decrease when interest rates rise, bu
changes in prepayment rates are difficult to pteficepayments can also occur when borrowersteejptopert
and use the sale proceeds to prepay the mortggugetasf a physical relocation or when borroweriadk on
their mortgages and the mortgages are prepaidtherproceeds of a foreclosure sale of the prop&hg. GSE
guidelines for repurchasing delinquent loans froBSvtrusts and changes in such guidelines alsotaffec
prepayment rates. Consequently, prepayment ratesvay be affected by conditions in the housing and
financial markets, which may result in increaselihdeencies on mortgage loans, cost of capitalegan
economic conditions and the relative interest ratexed and adjustable rate loans, which couddl e an
acceleration of the payment of the related prircipa

The adverse effects of prepayments may affect uarious ways. Particular investments may under-
perform relative to any hedges that we may havstcocted for these assets, resulting in a loss.to u
Furthermore, to the extent that faster prepaynetesrare due to lower interest rates, the pringipgents
received from prepayments will tend to be reinvestelower-yielding assets, which may reduce ogoime in
the long run. Therefore, if actual prepayment rditfer from anticipated prepayment rates, our bess,
financial condition and results of operations ahilitg to make distributions to our stockholdersuttbbe
materially adversely affected.

The real estate assets and real es-related assets we intend to or may invest in arbjsat to the risks
associated with real property.

We will own real estate directly as well as astieds are secured by real estate. Real estate assetabjec
to various risks, including:

. declines in the value of real estate;

* acts of nature, including earthquakes, floods @ther natural disasters, which may result in sumiad
losses;

« acts of war or terrorism, including the conseames of terrorist attacks, such as those that cedun
September 11, 2001;

» adverse changes in national and local econondawarket conditions;

» changes in governmental laws and regulatiossafipolicies and zoning ordinances and the related
costs of compliance with laws and regulations digwlicies and ordinances;

. costs of remediation and liabilities associatgth environmental conditions such as indoor maiak

»  the potential for uninsured or under-insurecpprty losses.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing or similagrés may reduce our return from an affected pityper
asset and, consequently, materially adversely tafi@cbusiness, financial condition and resultegdrations ar
our ability to make distributions to our stockhatle

Investments in secor-lien mortgage loans could subject us to increasékrof losses

We may invest in second-lien mortgage loans ortersacuritizations with MBS backed by such loaha. |
borrower defaults on a second lien mortgage loanats senior debt (i.e., a first-lien loan in tase of a
residential mortgage loan), or in the event of adwer bankruptcy, such loan will be satisfied oafter all
senior debt is paid in full. As a result, if we @st in second-lien mortgage loans and the borrdefaults, we
may lose all or a significant part of our investinen
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Our use of models in connection with the valuatiof our assets subjects us to potential risks in theent that
such models are incorrect, misleading or based noadmplete information

As part of the risk management process, we us&lanager’s detailed proprietary models to evaluate,
depending on the asset class, house price appoacétd depreciation by county, region, prepaynseeeds ar
foreclosure frequency, cost and timing. Models dath are used to value assets or potential assES0 in
connection with any hedging of our acquisitions.nylaf the models are based on historical trendes&hrends
may not be indicative of future results. Furthereyahe assumptions underlying the models may piobe
inaccurate, causing the models to also be incormethe event models and data prove to be incomeisleadiny
or incomplete, any decisions made in reliance theexpose us to potential risks. For example, lyyrmg on
incorrect models and data, especially valuationetmdve may be induced to buy certain assets e@pthat are
too high, to sell certain other assets at pricasdhe too low or to miss favorable opportunitiégsgether.
Similarly, any hedging based on faulty models aathdnay prove to be unsuccessful.

Valuations of some of our assets will be inherentigcertain, may be based on estimates, may fluctuater
short periods of time and may differ from the vaki¢hat would have been used if a ready market fuese
assets existed.

While in some cases our determination of the falue of our assets will be based on valuationsigealy
by third-party dealers and pricing services, wé walue most of our assets using unobservable $ipased
upon our judgment, and such valuations may difl@mfthose provided by third-party dealers and pgci
services. Valuations of certain assets are oftéficuli to obtain or unreliable. In general, dealand pricing
services heavily disclaim their valuations. Additadly, dealers may claim to furnish valuations oadyan
accommodation and without special compensationsartiey may disclaim any and all liability for agiyect,
incidental or consequential damages arising oahgfinaccuracy or incompleteness in valuationduding any
act of negligence or breach of any warranty. Dejpendn the complexity and illiquidity of an assesjuations
of the same asset can vary substantially from @aded or pricing service to another. The valuafioscess has
been particularly difficult recently because market¢nts have made valuations of certain assetedicpable,
and the disparity of valuations provided by thimy dealers has widened.

Our business, financial condition and results afrafions and our ability to make distributions tw o
stockholders could be materially adversely affedtedr fair value measurements of these assets meterially
higher than the values that would exist if a readyket existed for these assets.

The lack of liquidity of our assets may adverseljeat our business, including our ability to seluo assets

We acquire assets, securities or other instruntbatsare not liquid or publicly traded, and market
conditions could significantly and negatively afféee liquidity of other assets.

In addition, mortgage-related assets generally gawpee periods of illiquidity, including the recqueriod
of delinquencies and defaults with respect to mtidl and commercial mortgage loans. Furtherdatilg
third-party pricing for illiquid assets may be mangbjective than for liquid assets. Any illiquidit§ our assets
may make it difficult for us to sell such assetth# need or desire arises. In addition, if weraggiired to
liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quicklwe may realize significantly less than the vatieshich we
previously recorded our assets. We may also fduer oéstrictions on our ability to liquidate angets for whic
we have or could be attributed with material noilfmuinformation. If we are unable to sell our assat
favorable prices or at all, it could materially adsely affect our business, financial condition egglilts of
operations and our ability to make distribution®tw stockholders. Assets that are illiquid are endifficult to
finance, and to the extent that we use leverafjedoce assets that become illiquid, we may loael#verage ¢
have it reduced. Assets tend to become less lithg times of financial stress, which is oftea time that
liquidity is most needed. As a result, our abititysell assets or vary our portfolio in responsehtanges in
economic and other conditions may be limited bwyitlify constraints, which could adversely affect cesults o
operations and financial condition.

An increase in interest rates may cause a decraéagbe amount of certain of our target assets thae
available for acquisition, which could adverselyfa€t our ability to acquire target assets that sdyi our
investment objectives and to generate income ang giaidends.

Rising interest rates generally reduce the demanohbrtgage loans due to the higher cost of bomgwh
reduction in the volume of mortgage loans origidatey affect the amount of target assets

26




TABLE OF CONTENTS

available to us for acquisition, which could adedysaffect our ability to acquire assets that $atisir
investment objectives. Rising interest rates mag ahuse our target assets that were issued pror interest
rate increase to provide yields that are below aifieyy market interest rates. If rising interestescause us to |
unable to acquire a sufficient volume of our tamgtets with a yield that is above our borrowinst,cour ability
to satisfy our investment objectives and to geregratome and pay dividends may be materially aveiasely
affected.

The principal and interest payments on our retainBtBS are not guaranteed by any entity and, therefpare
subject to increased risks, including credit ris

We create and retain MBS that will be backed bidegial mortgage loans that do not conform to the
Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac underwriting guidelin@snsequently, the principal and interest on tho&SNre
not guaranteed by GSEs such as Fannie Mae andi&ddd, or securitized through Ginnie Mae. We db no
currently expect to acquire third-party non-Ageidss.

Our MBS are and will be subject to many of thesiskthe respective underlying mortgage loans. A
residential mortgage loan is typically secured Isyngle-family residential property and is subjectisks of
delinquency and foreclosure and risks of loss. dttitity of a borrower to repay a loan secured bgsadential
property depends upon the income or assets ofaievker. A number of factors, including a gene@remic
downturn, unemployment, acts of God, terrorismjaamrest and civil disturbances, may impair bamcs’
abilities to repay their mortgage loans. In perifm®wing home price declines, “strategic defal(ecisions
by borrowers to default on their mortgage loangpileiaving the ability to pay) also may becomeeanor
prevalent.

In the event of defaults under mortgage loans Ingchiy of our retained MBS, we will bear a risHaxs
of principal to the extent of any deficiency betwébke value of the collateral and the principal andrued
interest of the mortgage loan. Additionally, in #ent of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan borrpthe
mortgage loan to such borrower will be deemed tedmired only to the extent of the value of theeulyihg
collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determibgdhe bankruptcy court), and the lien securirgrttortgage
loan will be subject to the avoidance powers oftthekruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession t@gtent the
lien is unenforceable under state law. Foreclosfilemortgage loan can be an expensive and lemqytoess
which could have a substantial negative effectumamticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage.ldf
borrowers default on the mortgage loans backingWB® and we are unable to recover any resulting los
through the foreclosure process, our businessdiacondition and results of operations and duilitg to
make distributions to our stockholders could beamally adversely affected.

The Service's operations are heavily regulated at the U.S. fedestate and local levels and its failure
comply with applicable regulations could materialadversely affect our expenses and results of ofierss,
and there is no assurance that we could replace 8svicer with servicers that satisfy our requirems or
with whom we could enter into agreements on satisay terms.

The Servicer must comply with a wide array of Uefleral, state and local laws and regulations that
regulate, among other things, the manner in whiskrvices our mortgage loans and manages oupnegérty
in accordance with the servicing agreement, indgdecent CFPB mortgage servicing regulations ptgated
pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act. These laws andlatigns cover a wide range of topics such as licens
allowable fees and loan terms; permissible sergieind debt collection practices; limitations orcést-placed
insurance; special consumer protections in conmeetith default and foreclosure; and protection of
confidential, nonpublic consumer information (pdya The volume of new or modified laws and regolad
has increased in recent years, and states anddndi\cities and counties continue to enact lavas dither
restrict or impose additional obligations in corti@t with certain loan origination, acquisition asetrvicing
activities in those cities and counties. The land Begulations are complex and vary greatly ambegstates
and localities, and in some cases, these lawsatiedct conflict with each other or with U.S. feddaw. In
addition, these laws and regulations often contague standards or requirements, which make conggia
efforts challenging. Material changes in thesesaled regulations could increase our expenses timeler
servicing agreement. From time to time, the Servicay be party to certain regulatory inquiries and
proceedings, which, even if unrelated to the redide
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mortgage servicing operation, may result in advémsbngs, fines, penalties or other assessmerntsraay affec
adversely its reputation. The Servicer’s failuredonply with applicable laws and regulations coadidersely
affect our expenses and results of operationseliwere to determine to change servicers, there &ssurance
that we could find servicers that satisfy our reguients or with whom we could enter into agreements
satisfactory terms. The Servicer’s failure to coynpith these laws and regulations could also iradiyeresult in
damage to our reputation in the industry and adefect our ability to effect our business plan.

The failure of the Servicer to service our assetteetively would materially and adversely affect.t

We will rely on the Servicer to service and manageassets, including managing collections on duoley
mortgage loans and the mortgage loans underlyingetained MBS. If the Servicer is not vigilant in
encouraging borrowers to make their monthly paysiehe borrowers may be far less likely to makeé¢he
payments, which could result in a higher frequenicgiefault. If the Servicer takes longer to ligulaon-
performing assets, our losses may be higher thgmally anticipated. We also will rely on the Sieer to
provide all of our property management, lease mamagt and renovation management services assowited
the real properties we acquire upon conversiorsiflential mortgage loans that we will own or thatacquire
directly. The failure of the Servicer to effectiyalervice our mortgage loans assets, includingrtbegage loan
underlying any MBS we may own, REO and other retdte-related assets could negatively impact theevat
our investments and our performance.

We rely on the Servicer for our loss mitigation effs relating to mortgage loan assets, which losgigation
efforts may be unsuccessful or not cost-effective.

We depend on a variety of services provided byStaevicer, including, among other things, to collect
principal and interest payments on our whole marggaans as well as the mortgage loans underlyiing o
retained MBS and to perform loss mitigation sersida addition, legislation and regulation that &éeen
enacted or that may be enacted in order to redupesgent foreclosures through, among other thilugs)
modifications, may reduce the value of mortgagedodortgage servicers may be required or incergtvby
the U.S. Government to pursue such loan modifioatias well as forbearance plans and other adtibersded
to prevent foreclosure, even if such loan modif@z and other actions are not in the best inter@sthe ownel
of the mortgage loans. In addition to legislatibattestablishes requirements or creates finanwehtives for
mortgage loan servicers to modify loans and takeradctions that are intended to prevent foreckssifederal
legislation has also been adopted that createfe dnaebor from liability to creditors for servicetsat undertake
loan modifications and other actions that are idéshto prevent foreclosures. Finally, recent lang a
regulations, including CFPB regulations, delayitfigation or completion of foreclosure proceedirays
specified types of residential mortgage loans bewntise limit the ability of mortgage servicerdafie actions
that may be essential to preserve the value afbrtggage loans underlying the MBS. Any such liniitas are
likely to cause delayed or reduced collections froortgagors and generally increase servicing costs result
of these legislative and regulatory actions, theviSer may not perform in our best interests otapur
expectations, which could materially adversely etffaur business, financial condition, results oéigtions and
our ability to make distributions to our stockhatle

We may be affected by deficiencies in foreclosuragtices of third parties, as well as related dedag the
foreclosure process

There continues to be uncertainty around the tiraimgd) ability of servicers to remove delinquent basers
from their homes, so that they can liquidate theenlying properties and ultimately pass the ligtimaproceed
through to owners of the mortgage loans or relt8®. Given the magnitude of the housing crisis, end
response to the well-publicized failures of manyisers to follow proper foreclosure procedurestsas “robo-
signing”), mortgage servicers are being held tomrhigher foreclosure-related documentation starsitrain
they previously were. However, because many moegiaigve been transferred and assigned multiples tjams
by means of varying assignment procedures) thrautghe origination, warehouse and securitizatiatpsses,
mortgage servicers may have difficulty furnishihg tequisite documentation to initiate or complete
foreclosures. This leads to stalled or suspendextifssure proceedings, and ultimately additioned¢dtosure-
related costs. Foreclosure-related delays alsottend
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increase ultimate loan loss severities as a re§pitoperty deterioration, amplified legal and athests, and
other factors. Many factors delaying foreclosutghsas borrower lawsuits and judicial backlog acrdtiny, are
outside of servicers’ control and have delayed,wifidikely continue to delay, foreclosure processin both
judicial states (where foreclosures require cowbivement) and nc-judicial states. The Servicer’s failure to
remove delinquent borrowers from their homes iimally manner could increase our costs, adversédgtthe
value of the property and mortgage loans and hawatarial adverse effect on our results of openatand
business.

Changes in applicable laws or noncompliance withpdipable law could materially and adversely affac.

As an owner of real estate, we are required to ¢pmih numerous U.S. federal, state and local lawd
regulations, some of which may conflict with one#er or be subject to limited judicial or reguigto
interpretations. These laws and regulations mawdteczoning laws, building codes, landlord-tenamtd and
other laws generally applicable to business opmratiNoncompliance with laws or regulations coupase us
to liability.

Lower revenue growth or significant unanticipategenditures may result from our need to comply with
changes in (i) laws imposing remediation requiretmand potential liability for environmental condits
existing on properties or the restrictions on désgles or other conditions, (ii) rent control ortretabilization
laws or other residential landlord-tenant lawsiigr gther governmental rules and regulations dossement
policies affecting the rehabilitation, use and agien of any single-family rental properties we nuoayn,
including changes to building codes and fire afeddafety codes.

Our decision whether to rent or sell any REO we agg upon conversion of no-performing loans will
depend on conditions in the relevant geographic kets, and if our assumptions about rental rates and
occupancy levels in our markets are not accuratar operating results and cash available for disttition
could be adversely affected.

We intend either to sell or rent the real propegtiher single-family residences or smaller comriagrc
properties, that we may acquire upon conversiamofperforming mortgage loans. The success of osiness
model will substantially depend on conditions ie #pplicable sales or rental markets in the reliegaeographic
markets, including, among other things, occupamgyrant levels. If those assumptions prove to bedarate,
our operating results and cash available for digtion could be lower than expected, potentiallyerially.

Rental rates and occupancy levels for single-fangibidential properties have benefited in receribde
from macroeconomic trends affecting the U.S. econamd residential real estate and mortgage maitkets
particular, including:

« atightening of credit that has made it moréidift to finance a home purchase, combined witbrés
by consumers generally to reduce their exposucectit;

e economic and employment conditions that haveeesed foreclosure rates;

» reduced real estate values that challengeddhéibnal notion that homeownership is a stable
investment; and

» the unprecedented level of vacant housing caimgrithe REO owned by banks, GSEs, and other
mortgage lenders or guarantors.

The single-family rental market is currently sigeeintly larger than in historical periods. We dd erpect
the favorable trends in the single-family rentakkefto continue indefinitely. A strengthening bétU.S.
economy and job growth, together with the largepbupf foreclosed single-family rental propertidse current
availability of low residential mortgage rates ajmyernment-sponsored programs promoting home owipers
may contribute to a stabilization or reversal & turrent trend that favors renting rather thanéwmmmership. It
addition, we expect that as investors increasisgbk to capitalize on opportunities to purchasestwadued
housing properties and convert them to productsesuthe supply of single-family rental propertigis
decrease and the competition for tenants will isifgnTo the extent that a significant portion efrdusiness
becomes single-family rentals, a softening of #hgal property market in our markets could advgra#fect our
operating results and cash available for distrdouytpotentially materially.
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We may incur significant costs in restoring our pgperties, and we may underestimate the costs or amad
time necessary to complete restorations.

Before determining whether to rent or sell any wf properties, the Servicer will perform a detailed
assessment, including an on-site review of suchegty, to identify the scope of restoration to benpleted.
Beyond customary repairs, we may undertake impreviesndesigned to optimize overall property appedl a
increase the value and rentability of the propesttgn such improvements can be done cost effectiVelyhe
extent properties are occupied, restorations magyobtponed until the premises are vacated. We exipatc
nearly all of our properties will require some legErestoration immediately upon their acquisitiamin the
future following expiration of a lease or otherwi¥ée may acquire properties that we plan to restatensively
In addition, in order to reposition propertiestie rental market, we will be required to make ongaiapital
improvements and may need to perform significastiorations and repairs from time to time. Consetiyene
are exposed to the risks inherent in property rattm, including potential cost overruns, incresaselabor and
materials costs, delays by contractors in competiork, delays in the timing of receiving necessaoyk
permits and certificates of occupancy and poor wankship. If our assumptions regarding the costuing of
restorations across our properties prove to bermafiyeinaccurate, we could be materially and agdeéy
affected.

Contingent or unknown liabilities could materiallpnd adversely affect u:

Our acquisition activities are subject to manysisk/e may acquire properties that are subject koawn
or contingent liabilities, including liabilities far with respect to liens attached to propertigpaid real estate
taxes, utilities or other charges for which a poamer remains liable, clean-up or remediationrafimnmental
conditions or code violations, claims of vendorstirer persons dealing with the acquired propediestax
liabilities, among other things. In each case,amnquisition may be without any, or with only limdterecourse
with respect to unknown or contingent liabilitiesconditions. As a result, if any such liability keeo arise
relating to our properties, or if any adverse ctiadiexists with respect to our properties thahiexcess of our
insurance coverage, we might have to pay subskautias to settle or cure it, which could materiahd
adversely affect us. The properties we acquire atsy be subject to covenants, conditions or reitnis that
restrict the use or ownership of such propertieduding zoning laws and regulations and prohib#ion leasin
or requirements to obtain the approval of home awassociations prior to leasing. We may not disceueh
restrictions during the acquisition process andhsastrictions may adversely affect our abilityofgerate such
properties as we intend.

Poor tenant selection and defaults by our tenantayrmaterially and adversely affect u

Our success with any REO that we may seek to rdidl@pend, in large part, upon our Servicer’s igpiio
attract and retain qualified tenants for our prtiper whether residential or commercial. This wépend, in
turn, upon our ability to screen applicants, idgrgiood tenants and avoid tenants who may defatdtwill
inevitably make mistakes in our selection of tesaahd we may rent to tenants whose default oteases or
failure to comply with the terms of the lease drestregulations could materially and adverselyaftes and the
quality and value of our properties. For exammaants may default on payment of rent, make unnade anc
repeated demands for service or improvements, makepported or unjustified complaints to regulatary
political authorities, make use of our propertiesifiegal purposes, damage or make unauthorizedtstral
changes to our properties that may not be fullyeced by security deposits, refuse to leave thegstgppvhen th
lease is terminated, engage in domestic violenainuitar disturbances, disturb nearby residentk wiise,
trash, odors or eyesores, fail to comply with aggidie regulations, sub-let to less desirable inidigis in
violation of our leases or permit unauthorized pessto occupy the property.

In addition, defaulting tenants will often be etigely judgment-proof. The process of evicting daddting
tenant from a family residence can be adversanatracted and costly. Furthermore, some tenaninda
eviction may damage or destroy the property. Dant@@eir properties may significantly delay re-leasafter
eviction, necessitate expensive repairs or impairéntal revenue or value of the property. In taldi we will
incur turnover costs associated with re-leasingtioperties, such as marketing expense and brokerag
commissions, and will not collect revenue while peperty is vacant. Although we will attempt tonkaevith
tenants to prevent such damage or destructiore ttar be no
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assurance that we will be successful in all or nnases. Such tenants will not only cause us nathgeve our
financial objectives for the properties in whicleyHive, but may subject us to liability, and manthge our
reputation with our other tenants and in the comitiregnwhere we do business.

A significant uninsured property or liability lossould have a material adverse effect on

We carry commercial general liability insurance @ndperty insurance with respect to our rental proges
on terms we consider commercially reasonable. Therehowever, certain types of losses (such asdoarisin
from acts of war) that are not insured, in fulimpart, because they are either uninsurable ocdkeof
insurance makes it economically impractical. [fusinsured property loss or a property loss in excésnsured
limits were to occur, we could lose our capitaldsted in a single-family rental property or grodipemtal
properties as well as the anticipated future regsritom such single-family rental property or gradp
properties. If an uninsured liability to a thirdriyawere to occur, we would incur the cost of dsfeand
settlement with or court ordered damages to that frarty. A significant uninsured property or likty loss
could materially and adversely affect us.

We may change our investment strategy, investmeridelines and asset allocation without notice
stockholder consent which may result in riskier iestments. In addition, our charter provides thatmoard
of directors may authorize us not to seek to elecbe taxed as a REIT or to revoke or otherwiseni@rate our
REIT election without the approval of our stockhadds.

Our board of directors has the authority to chamgeinvestment strategy or asset allocation attmmy
without notice to or consent from our stockholddms the extent that our investment strategy changtds
future, we may make investments that are diffefi@mh, and possibly riskier than, the investmentscdbed in
this annual report. A change in our investmentgetage strategy may increase our exposure t@giteate and
real estate market fluctuations or require us licasgortion of our existing investments, which btesult in
gains or losses and therefore increase our earmgigslity. Decisions to employ additional leveeam
executing our investment strategies could incréaseisk inherent in our asset acquisition strat@égythermore
a change in our asset allocation could result matlocating assets in a different manner thanessiibed in thi
annual report.

In addition, our charter provides that our boardiieéctors may authorize us not to seek to elebettaxed
as a REIT or to revoke or otherwise terminate dafTRelection, without the approval of our stockhersl if it
determines that it is no longer in our best intesrés qualify as a REIT. These changes could adixeedfect our
financial condition, results of operations, the kesivalue of our common stock, and our ability take
distributions to our stockholders.

Our inability to compete effectively in a highly otpetitive market could adversely affect our abiltty
implement our business strategy, which could ma&dlsi and adversely affect us.

Our profitability depends, in large part, on ouiligbto acquire targeted assets at favorable grivée face
significant competition when acquiring re-perforgiand non-performing loans and our other targessdta.
Our competitors include other mortgage REITSs, faiahcompanies, public and private funds, hedgel$un
commercial and investment banks and residentiacantmercial finance companies. Many of our competit
are substantially larger and have considerablytgrescess to capital and other resources tharowe d
Furthermore, new companies with significant amowofitsapital have recently been formed or have daise
additional capital, and may continue to be formed iise additional capital in the future, and ¢hesmpanies
may have objectives that overlap with ours, whicyroreate competition for assets we wish to acgqGioene
competitors may have a lower cost of funds andssctefunding sources that are not available tdrnuaddition
some of our competitors may have higher risk tolees or different risk assessments, which cou@hethem tc
consider a wider variety of assets to acquire atabéish more relationships than us. We also mag kiferent
operating constraints from those of our competitoctiding, among others, tax-driven constraintshsas those
arising from our intention to qualify and maintaiar qualification as a REIT and restraints imposedis by ou
attempt to comply with certain exclusions from ti&inition of an “investment company” or other exgions
under the Investment Company Act. Furthermore, @iitipn for assets in our targeted asset classgdend to
the price of such assets increasing, may reduceuinder of attractive re-performing and non-perfiagrioan
investment opportunities available to us or inceethe bargaining power of asset owners seeking to

31




TABLE OF CONTENTS

sell, which would increase the prices for thesetss$f such events occur, our ability to implemeut business
strategy could be adversely affected, which couddemally and adversely affect us. We cannot asgouethat
the competitive pressures we face will not haveatenml adverse effect on our business, financatiion and
results of operations.

Our ability to make distributions to our stockholdewill depend on our operating results, our finaiat
condition and other factors, and we may not be atdemake regular cash distributions at a fixed rate at all
under certain circumstances.

We intend to make distributions to our stockholderamounts such that we distribute substantidllpfa
our taxable income in each year (subject to cegdjnstments). This distribution policy will enahis to avoid
being subject to U.S. federal income tax on oualidexincome that we distribute to our stockholdei@wever,
our ability to make distributions will depend onraasults of operations, which may experience uneash
flow because we will hold re-performing and nonfpeming loans our earnings, applicable law, ouaficial
condition and such other factors as our boardrefcthrs may deem relevant from time to time. We elatlare
and make distributions to our stockholders onlthtoextent approved by our board of directors.

We are highly dependent on communications and infation systems operated by third parties, and sys!
failures could significantly disrupt our businessd negatively impact our operating resulf

Our business is highly dependent on communicatmasinformation systems that allow us to monitor,
value, buy, sell, finance and hedge our investmdrtese systems are operated by third partiesdimgy our
affiliates, and, as a result, we have limited &ptib ensure continued operation. In the eventsfesns failure o
interruption, we will have limited ability to affethe timing and success of systems restoratiog.fAifure or
interruption of our systems could cause delaystteergoroblems in our securities trading activitidsch could
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and results of operations andatnility to pay
distributions to our stockholders.

Security breaches and other disruptions could commise our information and expose us to liability hiech
would cause our business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we, thrahghServicer, may acquire and store sensitive a@ataur
network, such as our proprietary business inforomagind personally identifiable information of bamers
obligated on loans and our prospective and cumamtgages and tenants. The secure processing and
maintenance of this information is critical to duwsiness strategy. Despite our security measuves, o
information technology and infrastructure may beable to attacks by hackers or breached dumpboyee
error, malfeasance or other disruptions. Any sueladh could compromise our networks and the inftiona
stored there could be accessed, publicly discldestlpr stolen. Any such access, disclosure cerdtss of
information could result in legal claims or proceegs, liability under laws that protect the privaafypersonal
information, regulatory penalties, disruption ta operations and the services we provide to custeme
damage our reputation, which could materially athekeasely affect us.

Risks Related to Leverage and Hedgin

We use leverage in executing our business strategyich may adversely affect the return on our assanhd
may reduce cash available for distribution to ouoskholders and increase losses when economic ciors
are unfavorable.

We use leverage to finance our investment opersatmil to enhance our financial returns and potgnt@a
pay dividends. Sources of leverage may include loamdtit facilities, warehouse lines of credit, stared
financing arrangements (including securitizaticans)l repurchase agreements, among others. We nuayeslk
to raise additional capital through public or ptevafferings of debt or equity securities, depegdipon market
conditions. We may use repurchase agreements toraagrtain assets, including our internally depeld
MBS, until we can securitize the assets. Becaysg&rchase agreements are short-term borrowing,alpiwith
30- to 90-day terms although some may have terme 864 days, they are more subject to volatilitynterest
rates and lenders willingness to extend such bongsy We
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currently do not expect a majority of our borrowartg be repurchase agreements or other seort-borrowings
Through the use of leverage, we may acquire positwith market exposure significantly greater ttraan
amount of capital committed to the transaction.ikifend to use leverage for the primary purposenafricing
acquisitions for our portfolio and not for the pase of speculating on changes in interest ratesdd\feot have
targeted debt-to-equity ratio generally or for sfieasset classes, although we currently expeattdbr debt-to-
equity ratio will be within a range of 1:1 to 2\We may, however, be limited or restricted in theoant of
leverage we may employ by the terms and provisidm@sy financing or other agreements that we magrento
in the future, and we may be subject to margirsadl a result of our financing activity. Our akilio achieve
our investment and leverage objectives will depemdur ability to borrow money in sufficient amosi@nd on
favorable terms and, as necessary, to renew aaeplorrowings as they mature.

Leverage will magnify both the gains and the lossfesur positions. Leverage will increase our resuas
long as we earn a greater return on investmenthpsed with borrowed funds than our cost of bomgveguch
funds. However, if we use leverage to acquire aetaand the value of the asset decreases, thadgveill
increase our losses. Even if the asset increaseduin, if the asset fails to earn a return thatésjor exceeds
our cost of borrowing, the leverage will decreasereturns.

We may be required to post large amounts of casoléteral or margin to secure our repurchase
commitments. In the event of a sudden, precipitrop in value of our financed assets, we mightaeoable to
liquidate assets quickly enough to repay our boimgg; further magnifying losses. Even a small desean the
value of a leveraged asset may require us to pigkti@nal margin or cash collateral. This may daseethe cash
available to us for distributions to stockholdevkjch could adversely affect the price of our comnstock. In
addition, our debt service payments will reducéhdmv available for distribution to stockholdeWe may not
be able to meet our debt service obligations. Ecetttent that we cannot meet our debt service afidigs, we
risk the loss of some or all of our assets to sakatisfy our debt obligations.

To the extent we are compelled to liquidate qualifyreal estate assets to repay debts, our conegliaith
the REIT rules regarding our assets and our sowfd@some could be negatively affected, which doul
jeopardize our ability to qualify and maintain quralification as a REIT. Failing to qualify as alREvould
cause us to be subject to U.S. federal incomeatadt &ny applicable state and local taxes) on aliofincome
and decrease profitability and cash available Tstridutions to stockholders.

We may not be able to achieve our optimal leveragéarget leverage ratios

We use leverage as a strategy to increase thetetwur investors. However, we may not be able to
achieve our desired leverage for any of the follmyieasons:

» we determine that the leverage would expose eseessive risk;

» ourlenders do not make funding available tat&scceptable rates or on acceptable terms; and

e our lenders require that we provide additiordlateral to cover our borrowings.

In addition, if we exceed our target leverage gttbe potential adverse impact on our financialdioon
and results of operation described above may bdiféadp

Non-recourse lonrterm financing structures such as securitizationgpmse us to risks that could result
losses to us.

We have used and intend to continue to use semti@th and other non-recourse long-term financorg f
our investments if, and to the extent, availabiesuch structures, lenders typically have onlyaantlagainst the
assets included in the securitizations rather thganeral claim against the owner-entity. Pricgdoh such
financing, we may seek to finance our investmeritis relatively short-term facilities until a suffent portfolio
is accumulated. As a result, we would be subjetteaisk that we would not be able to acquirejrduthe
period that any shoterm facilities are available, sufficient eligitdesets or securities to maximize the efficie
of a securitization.
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We also bear the risk that we may not be able taiolmew shorterm facilities or may not be able to ren
any short-term facilities after they expire showie need more time to seek and acquire sufficiegitodd assets
or securities for a securitization. In additionndiions in the capital markets may make the isseaf any such
securitization less attractive to us even when waale sufficient eligible assets or securitiesilgive retain
and expect to retain the unrated equity compornesgauritizations and, therefore, still have expego any
investments included in such securitizations, oability to enter into such securitizations mayr@ase our
overall exposure to risks associated with direatenship of such investments, including the risklefault.
Additionally, the securitization of our portfolimald magnify our exposure to losses because anyyeagterest
we retain in the issuing entity would be subordirtatthe notes issued to investors and we wouddetbre,
absorb all of the losses sustained with respegtsecuritized pool of assets before the ownerseohbtes
experience any losses. An inability to securitime mortfolio may adversely affect our performanaoe aur
ability to grow our business.

Our inability to refinance any short-term facilgieould also increase our risk because borrowings
thereunder would likely be recourse to us as aityetitwe are unable to obtain and renew shontéacilities
or to consummate securitizations to finance ouestments on a long-term basis, we may be requiredek
other forms of potentially less attractive finargior to liquidate assets at an inopportune timgrice.

Our failure to comply with covenants contained img debt agreement, including as a result of eveléyond
our control, could result in an event of default & could materially and adversely affect our opdrag results
and our financial condition.

We may enter into debt facilities that will require to comply with various operational, reportimgl ather
covenants that limit us from engaging in certajpety of transactions. If there were an event ofudetender our
debt facilities that was not cured or waived, tb&brs of the defaulted debt could cause all anwautstanding
with respect to that debt to be immediately due ganghble. We cannot assure you that our assetsbrflow
would be sufficient to fully repay borrowings undmn outstanding debt instruments, either upon ritgtar if
accelerated, upon an event of default, or that weldvbe able to refinance or restructure the paysnen those
debt instruments.

Hedging against interest rate changes and othekasnay materially adversely affect our businessaticial
condition and results of operations and our ability make distributions to our stockholders.

Subject to qualifying and maintaining our qualifica as a REIT and exemption from registration urite
Investment Company Act, we may pursue various meggiirategies to seek to reduce our exposure tersev
changes in interest rates. Our hedging activityld/@ary in scope based on the level and volatditynterest
rates, the types of liabilities and assets heldathdr changing market conditions. Interest ratigiveg may fail
to protect or could adversely affect us becausengnother things:

» interest rate hedging can be expensive, pastityutiuring periods of rising and volatile interestes;

« available interest rate hedges may not corrasplmectly with the interest rate risk for which
protection is sought;

« the duration of the hedge may not match thetduraf the related assets or liabilities being dest}

» tothe extent hedging transactions do not satieftain provisions of the Code or are not madeuth
a TRS, the amount of income that a REIT may eamm fnedging transactions to offset interest rate
losses is limited by the Code provisions govermigTs;

» the value of derivatives used for hedging isiattjd from time to time in accordance with accowgti
rules to reflect changes in fair value; and downhajustments, or “mark-to-market losses,” would
reduce our stockholders’ equity;

» the credit quality of the hedging counterpartyirg money on the hedge may be downgraded to such
an extent that it impairs our ability to sell os@m our side of the hedging transaction; and

34




TABLE OF CONTENTS

» the hedging counterparty owing money in the legltransaction may default on its obligation ty pa

Our hedging transactions, which would be intendelihit losses, may actually adversely affect our
earnings, which could reduce our cash availabl@iftribution to our stockholders.

Our use of certain hedging techniques may exposdaisounterparty risks

If an interest rate swap counterparty cannot perfonder the terms of the interest rate swap, we moay
receive payments due under that swap, and thusjaydose any unrealized gain associated with ttezest rat
swap. The hedged liability could cease to be hedlgdtie interest rate swap. Additionally, we magoaiisk the
loss of any collateral we have pledged to securebligations under the interest rate swap if thenterparty
becomes insolvent or files for bankruptcy. If we agquired to sell our derivatives under theseuonstances, w
may incur losses. Similarly, if an interest ratp caunterparty fails to perform under the term¢hefinterest rat
cap agreement, in addition to not receiving paysidoe under that agreement that would off-setrterést
expense, we could also incur a loss for all remgininamortized premium paid for that agreement.

Hedging instruments and other derivatives may niotsome cases, be traded on regulated exchangemay
not be guaranteed or regulated by any U.S. or fgreigovernmental authorities and involve risks andsts
that could result in material losses.

Hedging instruments and other derivatives involsk because they may not, in some cases, be taded
regulated exchanges and may not be guaranteeduated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authesi
Not all of the instruments that we will use will brecuted on a regulated exchange. To the extanivih ente
into any over-the-counter instruments that areregtiired to be, or accepted for, clearing, we magubject to
counterparty risks. We are not restricted from idgalvith any particular counterparty or from contrating any
or all of our transactions with one counterpartyrtRermore, our Manager has only a limited inteamatlit
function to evaluate the creditworthiness of itamterparties, mainly relying on its experience veittth
counterparties and their general reputation ascgaants in these markets. The business failue feédging
counterparty with whom we enter into a hedginggeention will most likely result in a default undbe hedging
agreement. Default by a party with whom we ent&r amhedging transaction may result in losses aaylforce
us to re-initiate similar hedges with other coupégties at the then-prevailing market levels. Galhewe will
seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedgemgsactions upon a counterparty’s insolvency atwsent an
actual insolvency, we may not be able to termimaatedging transaction without the consent of thghmey
counterparty, and we may not be able to assigiharwise dispose of a hedging transaction to amothe
counterparty without the consent of both the oagjlredging counterparty and the potential assigihee
terminate a hedging transaction, we may not betaldater into a replacement contract in ordertgec our
risk. There can be no assurance that a liquid skecgmmarket will exist for hedging instruments fhased or
sold, and therefore we may be required to mairgainhedging position until exercise or expiratiajch coulc
materially adversely affect our business, financa@idition and results of operations.

Changes in regulations relating to swaps activitiesy cause us to limit our swaps activity or sultjas to
additional disclosure, recordkeeping, and other tegtory requirements.

The enforceability of agreements underlying heddgiagsactions may depend on compliance with
applicable statutory and commodity and other regayarequirements and, depending on the identityef
counterparty, applicable international requiremeN&sw regulations have been promulgated by U.S famrdgn
regulators to strengthen oversight of derivativetiacts. Any actions taken by regulators could trairs our
strategy and could increase our costs, either aflwtould materially and adversely affect our bass) financie
condition and results of operations and our abibitynake distributions to our stockholders. In jgattr, the
Dodd-Frank Act requires most derivatives to be atet on a regulated market and cleared througimtaate
counterparty, which may result in increased margquirements and costs. On December 7, 2012, tRi€CF
issued a No-Action Letter that provides mortgagdTREelief from such registration, or No-Action tet, as a
commodity pool to the extent that they meet certainditions and submit a claim indicating that tiey rely
on such relief. We believe we meet the conditions
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set forth in the No-Action Letter and we have mlgn this no-action relief from commodity pool regation.
However, if in the future we do not meet the condi set forth in the Nékction Letter or the relief provided
the NoAction Letter becomes unavailable for any othesoeawe may need to seek to obtain another exen
from registration.

Risks Related to Regulatory and Legislative Action

We operate in a highly regulated industry and camiglly changing U.S. federal, state and local laasd
regulation could materially adversely affect our bimess, financial condition and results of operati® and
our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.

The residential mortgage industry is highly regedafWe and our Manager are required to comply with
wide array of U.S. federal, state and local lawd mgulations that regulate, among other thingsptlanner in
which each of us conducts our businesses. Theséatems directly impact our business and requinestant
compliance, monitoring and internal and externalitsuA material failure to comply with any of tleekws or
regulations could subject us and our Manager telé® or governmental actions and damage our réputa
which could materially adversely affect our bussydmancial condition and results of operations.

U.S. federal, state and local governments haventiggeroposed or enacted numerous new laws, regok
and rules related to mortgage loans, includingisiexy and collection of mortgage loans. Laws, regjohs,
rules and judicial and administrative decisionatiaf) to mortgage loans include those pertainingab estate
settlement procedures, equal credit opportunityJéading, fair credit reporting, truth in lendinfair debt
collection practices, service members protectioosjpliance with net worth and financial statemeslivery
requirements, compliance with U.S. federal ancesd&closure and licensing requirements, the dstabent of
maximum interest rates, finance charges and otteges, qualified mortgages, secured transacti@ysment
processing, escrow, loss mitigation, collectiomg@osure, repossession and claims-handling proesdand
other trade practices and privacy regulations pliagi for the use and safeguarding of non-publicpeal
financial information of borrowers. Our service yiders, including the Servicer and outside foreatescounsel
retained to process foreclosures, must also comiphymany of these legal requirements.

In particular, the Dodd-Frank Act represents a cahensive overhaul of the financial services inguist
the United States and includes, among other tHipdise creation of a Financial Stability Oversignuncil to
identify emerging systemic risks posed by finanfitahs, activities and practices, and to improveperation
among U.S. federal agencies, (ii) the creatiomef@FPB, authorized to promulgate and enforce coasu
protection regulations relating to financial protduand services, including mortgage lending andicieg, and
to exercise supervisory authority over participantsiortgage lending and mortgage servicing, (i@
establishment of strengthened capital and prudestiadards for banks and bank holding comparniés, (
enhanced regulation of financial markets, includimg derivatives and securitization markets, and (v
amendments to the Truth in Lending Act, or TILAdahe Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, oPRES
aimed at improving consumer protections with respemortgage originations and mortgage servicing,
including disclosures, originator compensation,imum repayment standards, prepayment considerations
appraisals and loss mitigation and other serviciggirements.

In addition, although we do not intend to acquirB®/in which the underlying mortgage loans are
guaranteed or insured by any GSE or U.S. Goverrahagency, actions taken by or proposed to be thiken
among others, FHFA, the U.S. Treasury, the Fed®eakrve Board or other U.S. governmental agentésate
intended to regulate the origination, underwritingdelines, servicing guidelines, servicing compgios and
other aspects of mortgage loans guaranteed by $es@r U.S. governmental agencies (known as “Agency
RMBS") can have indirect and sometimes direct effectsustbosiness and business model, results of opas
and liquidity. For example, loan originators andvgeers, investors and other participants in thetgage
securities markets may use regulatory guidelinesated for Agency RMBS as guidelines or operating
procedures in respect of non-Agency RMBS. In addjtthanges in underwriting guidelines for AgendyB5
generally affect the supply of similar or compleitaen non-Agency RMBS.
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Our or our Manager's failure to comply or cause Sleevicer to comply with these laws, regulationd an
rules may result in reduced payments by borrowedlification of the original terms of mortgage lsan
permanent forgiveness of debt, delays in the foserk process, increased servicing advancesiikitiga
enforcement actions, and repurchase and indemtificabligations.

We expect that legislative and regulatory changésentinue in the foreseeable future, which may
increase our operating expenses, either to comipyapplicable law, to deal with regulatory exantioas or
investigations, or to satisfy our lenders and itmessthat we are in compliance with those lawsulatipns and
rules that are applicable to our business. Anyeéé¢ new, or changes in, laws, regulations or ndakl
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

We may be unable to operate within the parametéiat @llow us to be excluded from regulation as
commodity pool operator, which would subject usadditional regulation and compliance requirementnd
could materially adversely affect our business dfirtancial condition.

Recently adopted rules under the Dodd-Frank Aethdish a comprehensive new regulatory framework for
derivative contracts commonly referred to as “swapgsader the Dodd-Frank Act, any investment fundtth
trades in swaps may be considered a “commodity,patiich would cause its operators to be regulasd
“commaodity pool operator,” or CPO. In December 20th2 CFTC issued the No-Action Letter, giving eélio
operators of mortgage REITs from the requirememnégister as a CPO. In order to qualify, we musipiag
other non-operation requirements: (1) limit outiadimargin and premiums required to establishswap or
futures positions to no more than 5% of the fairketwvalue of our total assets; and (2) limit oat imcome
derived annually from our swaps and futures pasitithat are not “qualifying hedging transactiorsidss than
5% of our gross income. The need to operate witiése parameters could limit the use of swaps yelsv
the level that we would otherwise consider optinrainay lead to the registration of our companywr o
directors as commodity pool operators, which wilhjgct us to additional regulatory oversight, caenpte and
costs.

Certain jurisdictions require licenses to purchadeold, enforce or sell residential mortgage loars.the event
that any such licensing requirement is applicablacawe are not able to obtain such licenses in adlgn
manner or at all, our ability to implement our buséss strategy could be adversely affected, whiakiadto
materially and adversely affect us.

Certain jurisdictions require a license to purchasdd, enforce or sell residential mortgage loakis.
currently do not hold any such licenses, and tieen® assurance that we will be able to obtain tbenif
obtained, that we will be able to maintain themcdmnection with these licenses we would be reduive
comply with various information reporting and othegulatory requirements to maintain those licenaed
there is no assurance that we will be able tofgati®se requirements on an ongoing basis. Owiriaiio obtain
or maintain such licenses or our inability to ernitéo another regulatorgempliant structure, such as establis|
a trust with a federally chartered bank as trusigmirchase and hold the residential mortgage |camgd
restrict our ability to invest in loans in theseigdictions if such licensing requirements are agalle. In lieu of
obtaining such licenses, we may contribute our medue-performing and non-performing residentialrtgage
loans to one or more wholly owned trusts whoseérigs a national bank, which may be exempt fratest
licensing requirements, or the seller of such laaag continue to hold the loans on our behalf wagilobtain
the applicable state license. If required, we feitm one or more subsidiaries that will apply fecessary state
licenses. If these subsidiaries obtain the requicetises, any trust holding loans in the appliegbtisdictions
may transfer such loans to such subsidiaries, thegtih these loans being held by a state-liceressity. There
can be no assurance that we will be able to olit@mequisite licenses in a timely manner or avalh all
necessary jurisdictions, or that the use of thetérwill reduce the requirement for licensing, afiyhich could
limit our ability to invest in residential mortgatmans. Our failure to obtain and maintain requiieenses may
expose us to penalties or other claims and maygtadfe ability to acquire an adequate and desirsibiply of
mortgage loans to conduct our securitization pnogaad, as a result, could harm our business.

We could be subject to liability for potential vations of predatory lending laws, which could maitty
adversely affect our business, financial conditiamd results of operations and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

Residential mortgage loan originators and serviaegsequired to comply with various U.S. fedestdte
and local laws and regulations, including anti-ptedy lending laws and laws and regulations
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imposing certain restrictions on requirements aglitcost’loans. Failure of our Manager or service provide
comply with these laws could subject us, as argaesi or purchaser of the related residential mgetd@ans, to
monetary penalties and could result in impairmeribé ability to foreclose such loans or the boemv
rescinding the affected residential mortgage loaassuits have been brought in various states ngalsmms
against assignees or purchasers of high cost foarmlations of state law. Named defendants esthcases
have included numerous participants within the sdaoy mortgage market. If the loans are found tehzen
originated in violation of predatory or abusivederg laws, we could incur losses, which could miatigr
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations and our ability to makéributions tc
our stockholders.

Risks Related to Our Management and Our Relationsipi with Our Manager, the Servicer and Asper

We have conflicts of interest with our Manager, ti8ervicer and Aspen, and certain members of our tebaf
directors, as well as our management team, havesauld have in the future, conflicts of interest duo their
respective relationships with these entities, andts conflicts could be resolved in a manner advetsaus.

Conflicts between us and our ManageiOur Manager manages our business, investmévitias and
affairs pursuant to the management agreement.agneement was not negotiated at arm’s-length and,
accordingly, could contain terms, including theibas calculation of the amount of the fees payableur
Manager, that are less favorable to us than siragagements negotiated with unaffiliated third ipart
Furthermore, the calculation of our Manager’s inis@nfee is based on the dividends declared byboard of
directors. In evaluating investments and other gameent strategies, the opportunity to earn incentiv
compensation may lead our Manager to place undypdasis on the maximization of dividends at the ezspe
other criteria, such as preservation of capitagroter to achieve higher incentive compensatiovestments wit
higher yield potential are generally riskier or mepeculative. This could result in increased tasthe value of
our investment portfolio.

As an externally managed REIT, we have no manageoneamployees and are entirely managed by our
Manager, which negotiates all our agreements aats$ adth all our contractual counterparties on loeialf. Fot
example, our Manager acts for us in connection thi¢hservicing agreement, including monitoring the
performance of Gregory under the agreement anctisigy any available rights or remedies on our Hefar
Manager and Gregory are affiliates. Each of ouicef§ is an officer of our Manager or the Servicer.

Conflicts between us and the Servicelhe servicing agreement was also not negotattedms’-length
and could contain terms that are less favorabiestinan similar agreements negotiated with unafét third
parties. In addition, the Servicer is generally prathibited from providing similar services to atlsvners of
mortgage loans and real estate assets, includirey effiliates of Aspen.

Conflicts presented by our acquisition of our wiigportfolio through acquisition of assets of Lat#jax
II. InJuly 2014, we acquired our initial portfotid mortgage-related assets by acquiring 82% ofithited
liability company interests of Little Ajax Il frorklexpoint REIT Investor (as defined below) and ohéhe
Wellington Investors (as defined below) and thespective affiliates. In September, we acquiredé¢heaining
interests in this initial mortgage-related assetfptio from Little Ajax Il and from Gregory. Whileve believe
that the purchase price for these assets was stibfifaequal on a pro rata basis to the originaichase prices
paid by Little Ajax Il and Gregory for their portis of the assets, the transactions were not négidd arms’-
length and could contain terms less favorable tthas terms of similar agreements negotiated withffiliated
third parties. For additional information, see fit§. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fire@nc
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity &ajpital Resources.” In addition, prior to any sé@ation
of our assets, Gregory acts as the holder of refoonshortgage loans in states in which neither weaur
subsidiaries can own the assets directly becausowet have the necessary licenses. We or ouidiatiss
hold 95% participation interests in those loans\ahdn we acquire such loans to securitize themxped to
acquire the entirety of such loans at the samehaises price as Gregory initially acquired such loans

Particular risks associated with our license foethame “Great Ajax.” If the management agreement
expires or is terminated for any reason, the tradkricense agreement pursuant to which we licémsenark
“Great Ajax” from Aspen will also terminate withB0O days. Upon any such termination, we would
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be required to cease doing business using the Haneat Ajax” and would have to change our corporame,
both of which could have a material adverse effipcn our business. All goodwill associated with ose of the
mark “Great Ajax” is not our asset and such gooldegihnot be transferred by us to a third partyaddition, we
need to obtain the consent of Aspen before we emaifted to register the licensed mark in any fliggon in
the world. Failure to obtain such consent couldeh@wnaterial adverse effect on us, including oilityabo
expand our business into new jurisdictions.

Our Management team may engage in other activdnesmay have interests that conflict with our©ur
Manager and members of its management team magemgany other business or render similar or chffie
services to others including, without limitatiohetdirect or indirect sponsorship or managementtodr
investment-based accounts or commingled poolspifataso long as its services to us are not ingeaihereby;
provided that it may not engage in any such busineprovide such services to any other entity ithatsts in
the asset classes in which we intend to investisg &s we have on hand an averag828 million in capital
available for investment over the previous twodlsguarters or our independent directors deterrfiaewe hav
the ability to raise capital at or above our mesent book value. If this occurs, our Manager omiers of its
management team may devote a disproportionate ambtime and other resources to acquire or manage
properties owned by others. In addition, Aspendwsed, for itself and its subsidiaries, includ@wggory, to
similar restrictions on their ability to competethvus. We will seek to manage any potential cotglihrough
provisions of our agreements with them and throanggrsight by independent members of our boardretthrs
or general dispute resolution methods. Howevergthan be no assurance that such measures willdotive,
that we will be able to resolve all conflicts withr Manager, Gregory and Aspen or that the resoiwdf any
such conflicts will be no less favorable to us tifame were dealing with unaffiliated third parties

We own a 19.8% equity interest in our Manager thhotihetis TRS. As of March 23, 2015, our two latges
stockholders, Flexpoint Great Ajax Holdings LLC igkpoint REIT Investor”) an affiliate of an investmt fund
managed by Flexpoint Ford LLC, and investors caimgjof an investment fund for which Wellington
Management Company LLP is the investment advisdrame or more other investment advisory clients of
Wellington Management Company LLP (collectivelyg ttwellington Investors”) own 12.1% and 18.0%,
respectively, of our outstanding common stock (assg redemption of outstanding limited partnersimiits of
our operating partnership, or OP Units, on a 1iftmasis into shares of our common stock after @ae gf
ownership). In addition, Flexpoint REIT Investordaone of the Wellington Investors each own 26.73%up
Manager, and 9.8% of Great Ajax FS LLC (“GA-FSHetparent of the Servicer. Mr. Mendelsohn conts0i%
of the manager of Aspen, which is the direct paoémur Manager and GA-FS, and has certain econanddor
management rights with respect to 7.8% of the @stisrin Aspen. Furthermore, each of our execufifieeos is
an executive officer of our Manager or the Servared has interests in our relationship with theat thay be
different from the interests of our stockholdersparticular, these individuals, other than theetfinancial
officer, have a direct interest in the financiatesess of our Manager or the Servicer, which maperage these
individuals to support strategies in furtherancéheir financial success that adversely affecSugh ownership
creates conflicts of interest when such directormembers of our management team are faced witkides
that involve us and our Manager, Gregory, Aspeanyrof their respective subsidiaries. See “ltemSgturity
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manageraad Related Stockholder Matters” and “ltem 13.
Certain Relationships and Related TransactiondDarettor Independence.”

Our board of directors has approved a very broagestment policy and guidelines for our Manager andll
not review or approve each investment decision. W&y change our investment policy and guidelinesheitit
stockholder consent, which may materially and adsely affect the market price of our common stockdaour
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our Manager is authorized to follow a very broacestment policy and guidelines and, therefore gneat
latitude in determining the types of assets thatpaoper investments for us, as well as the ind&afidhvestment
decisions. In the future, our Manager may makestnents with lower rates of return than those grdated
under current market conditions and/or may makestments with greater risks to achieve those patied
returns. Our board of directors will periodicalbview our investment policy and guidelines andinuestment
portfolio but will not review or approve each prgpd investment by our Manager unless it falls dettie
scope of our previously approved investment pddiagl guidelines or constitutes a related party &etien.
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In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, ouiabd of directors will rely primarily on information
provided to it by our Manager. Furthermore, our Biger may use complex strategies. Transactionseehiteio
by our Manager may be costly, difficult or impodsito unwind by the time they are reviewed by coardl of
directors. In addition, we may change our investnpeficy and guidelines and targeted asset classasy time
without the consent of our stockholders, and tbidd result in our making investments that areedéht in type
from, and possibly riskier than, our current invesihts or the investments currently contemplate@ngés in
our investment policy and guidelines and target=gaclasses may increase our exposure to intatesisk,
counterparty risk, default risk and real estatekefluctuations, which could materially and adedysaffect us.

We depend on our Manager. We may not be able tairebur engagement of our Manager under certa
circumstances, which could materially and adversaffect us. Termination of our Manager by us withou
cause is difficult and costly and our agreementdw{regory may simultaneously terminate or be tenaied,
as applicable.

Our success depends upon our relationships withtengderformance of our Manager and its key pemsio
Key personnel may leave its employment or may becdistracted by financial or operational issues in
connection with their business and activities wateal to us and over which we have no control or fakyo
perform for any reason. Our Manager may engageyrother business or render similar or differemtises to
others, including, without limitation, the direatiadirect sponsorship or management of other iimvest-based
accounts or commingled pools of capital, so longsaservices to us are not impaired thereby; pledithat our
Manager may not engage in any such business oidgreuch services to any other entity that inviestee asse
classes in which we intend to invest so long asisxe on hand an average$#5 million in capital available fc
investment over the previous two fiscal quartersuwrindependent directors determine that we hiagebility
to raise capital at or above our most recent badkev Aspen has agreed for itself and its subsédido similar
restrictions. In the event our Manager providesétvices to a competitor, it may be difficult fe to secure a
suitable replacement to our Manager on favoralstadeor at all or maintain our engagement of ounddger. In
the event that the management agreement is terdifiat any reason or our Manager is unable torrétsikey
personnel, it may also be difficult for us to secarsuitable replacement to our Manager on faverbins, or ¢
all. Neither we nor our Manager may terminate tfemagement agreement during the first 24 monthis ¢éim
except “for cause” as defined therein. If we teraténthe management agreement without cause trereafur
Manager terminates the management agreement dug tiefault in the performance of any material tefrthe
management agreement, we will be required to magraficant termination fee. In addition, the maeaggnt
agreement will automatically terminate at the séime as the servicing agreement if the servicingagent is
terminated for any reason. If the management ageaeaxpires or is earlier terminated, we and Grebarve
certain rights to terminate the servicing agreeraedtthe trademark license agreement will autoraiftic
terminate. The occurrence of any of the above-de=trevents could materially and adversely affect u

The incentive fee payable to our Manager under tin@nagement agreement will be payable quarterly lob
on the dividends declared by our board of directarsd may cause our Manager to select investmentmre
risky assets to increase its incentive compensation

Our Manager will be entitled to receive incentivenpensation based upon the dividends declared by ou
board of directors in its discretion (together vitte amount of distributions paid to holders of Qfits by our
operating partnership, other than OP Units held$gs a limited partner). In evaluating investmanis other
management strategies, the opportunity to earmtiveecompensation may lead our Manager to pladeien
emphasis on the maximization of dividends at theeese of other criteria, such as preservation ptaain
order to achieve higher incentive compensationestments with higher yield potential are genenadlkier or
more speculative. This could result in increasskl to the value of our investment portfolio.

The servicing agreement was not negotiated at ¢ -length.

Under the servicing agreement, the Servicer previgewith critically important services, includiregnong
many others, the servicing of our whole mortgage$y including the mortgage loans underlying ourSyi®an
modification services, assisted deed-in-lieu oéfbwsure services, assisted deed-for-lease
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services and other loss mitigation services witipeget to our mortgage loans and property manageieestng
management and renovation management servicesesiplect to our real property assets and assisitance
finding third party financing for such propertidhe servicing agreement has an initial term of &éarg. Neither
we nor the Servicer may terminate the servicingagrent without cause during the first 24 monthissaerm.
Following such 24-month period, we may not termérthie servicing agreement except for cause or if we
terminate the management agreement for cause wkofjsuch 24-month period, the Servicer may terteitiae
servicing agreement without cause by providingtemitnotice to us no later than 180 days prior toebeber 31
of any year, and the servicing agreement will teate effective on the December 31 next following delivery
of such notice. The servicing agreement also pes/itiat the Servicer may terminate the agreemehinni80
days after receiving notice that the managemermesgent has terminated, without any termination Eatrby
us if the management agreement has been termifuateduse. If the management agreement has been
terminated other than for cause and the Servicenitates the servicing agreement, we will be regfliio pay a
significant termination fee. The management agre¢mvél automatically terminate at the same timetas
servicing agreement if the servicing agreemergrsinated for any reason. Upon any terminatiorhef t
servicing agreement, it may be difficult for ussexure suitable replacements or we may secureaies
servicers with less effective servicing platformmabgreater expense. In addition, the Servicemod&bility to
us for its negligence in performing services founser the servicing agreement, unless that neglgeses to
the level of gross negligence or willful misconduithie material terms of the servicing agreemenfiatber
described in “Item 1. Business — Gregory Servidhggieement.” The servicing agreement was not negatiat
arms’-length; accordingly, it may contain termstthege less favorable to us than agreements neggtieth one
or more unaffiliated third parties might contain.

Failure of Gregory to effectively perform its obkgions under the servicing agreement could matelyand
adversely affect us.

We are contractually obligated to service the sl mortgage loans that we acquire and we nestate
or provide for the operation of the real estatesae will own. We do not have any employeesraaag
platform, licenses or technical resources necegeagrvice our acquired loans. Consequently, we leagaged
Gregory to service our mortgage loans and othérexgate assets. If for any reason Gregory is @abbervice
these loans or real estate assets at the levalrahé/cost that we anticipate, or if we fail toyfaregory or
otherwise default under the servicing agreememt,Gmegory ceases to act as our servicer, alteseatgce
providers may not be readily available on favordbtens, or at all, which could adversely affect blanager’s
performance under the management agreement afmlisimess and results of operations. Gregory’'sraiio
perform the services under the servicing agreementd have a material adverse effect on us.

Our Manager has a contractually defined duty to tether than a fiduciary duty

Under the management agreement, our Manager hagractual, as opposed to a fiduciary, relationship
with us that limits its obligations to us to thageecifically set forth in the management agreenigm. ability of
our Manager and its officers and employees to emgagther business activities may reduce the tirsgends
managing us. In addition, unlike the relationshiphave with our directors, there is no statutoapdard of
conduct under the Maryland General Corporation Lavwhe MGCL, for officers of a Maryland corporatio
Officers of a Maryland corporation, including oudficers who are employees of our Manager, are stithje
general agency principles including the exerciseeatonable care and skill in the performance aif th
responsibilities as well as the duties of loyadfgod faith and candid disclosure.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Maintenance of our exclusion from regulation as anvestment company under the Investment Company
imposes significant limitations on our operations.

We intend to continue to conduct our operationthabneither we nor any of our subsidiaries is ireglto
register as an investment company under the Inwsdt@ompany Act. We are organized as a holding emyp
and we conduct our business primarily through wholWned subsidiaries of our
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operating partnership. Neither we nor our opergpiagnership nor Great Ajax Funding is an investimen
company under Section 3(a)(1)(C). The securitigsed by our subsidiaries that are excluded frontdéfimition
of “investment companytinder Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of thedstinent Company Act, together w
other investment securities we may own, cannotexkd®% of the value of all our assets (excluding.U.
government securities and cash) on an unconsadlidetsis. This requirement limits the types of besges in
which we may engage and the assets we may holdl@8% equity interest in our Manager is held bgtich
TRS, which is a special purpose subsidiary of qarating partnership, and Thetis TRS may rely csti®e 3(c)
(2) or Section 3(c)(7) for its Investment Compargt Axclusion and, therefore, our interest in sudbsliary
would constitute an “investment security” for pusps of determining whether we pass the 40% test‘(gen 1
Business — Operating and Regulatory Structure —estment Company Act Exclusion” for additional
information regarding the 40% test).

In connection with the Section 3(a)(1)(C) analy#is, determination of whether an entity is a majeri
owned subsidiary of our company is made by us.Ifhestment Company Act defines a majority-owned
subsidiary of a person as a company 50% or motteeodutstanding voting securities of which are cavhg
such person, or by another company which is a nitygjowned subsidiary of such person. The Investment
Company Act further defines voting security as aagurity presently entitling the owner or holdesrtof to
vote for the election of directors of a company. W&t companies in which we own at least a majafithe
outstanding voting securities as majority-ownedsglibries. We also treat the securitization trastsnajority-
owned subsidiaries of Great Ajax Funding even thoogne of the securities issued by such trustsattealbeld
by Great Ajax Funding meets the definition of vgteecurities under the Investment Company Act. ¥éehed
our conclusion in reliance on an opinion of courbat the Trust Certificates issued by each sezatibn trust
are the functional equivalent of voting securitiesl that, in any event, each securitization trastikl be
considered to be a majority-owned subsidiary ofaGAgax Funding. We have not asked the SEC staff fo
concurrence of our analysis, our treatment of sechurities as voting securities, or whether thersgzation
trusts, or any other of our subsidiaries, may batérd in the manner in which we intend, and ibissgble that th
SEC staff could disagree with any of our deternamet If the SEC staff were to disagree with oeatment of
one or more companies as majority-owned subsidianie would need to adjust our strategy and owatasany
such adjustment in our strategy could have a nat@diverse effect on us.

Certain of our subsidiaries may rely on the exdagrovided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) under the Invesitn
Company Act. Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investmentr@any Act is designed for entities “primarily eggd in
the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiringgages and other liens on and interests in statee” This
exclusion generally requires that at least 55%efdntity’s assets on an unconsolidated basis staofsi
qualifying real estate assets and at least 80%eoéntity’s assets consist of qualifying real estetsets or real
estate-related assets. These requirements liméstbets those subsidiaries can own and the tinfisgles and
purchases of those assets.

To classify the assets held by our subsidiariegua$ifying real estate assets or real estate-cbkdsets, we
will rely on no-action letters and other guidaneblshed by the SEC staff regarding those kindasskts, as
well as upon our analyses (in consultation witrsilg counsel) of guidance published with respecther type:
of assets. There can be no assurance that thetavegulations governing the Investment Compartystatus
of companies similar to ours, or the guidance ftbedSEC or its staff regarding the treatment oétssas
qualifying real estate assets or real estate-bkdsets, will not change in a manner that adweesédcts our
operations. In fact, in August 2011, the SEC pigiisa concept release in which it asked for comsnamthis
exclusion from regulation. To the extent that tieCSstaff provides more specific guidance regarding of the
matters bearing upon our exemption from the needdister under the Investment Company Act, we bey
required to adjust our strategy accordingly. Angiidnal guidance from the SEC staff could furtheribit our
ability to pursue the strategies that we have almdserthermore, although we intend to monitor tesets of our
subsidiaries regularly, there can be no assurdrateotir subsidiaries will be able to maintain theeiclusion
from registration. Any of the foregoing could reguus to adjust our strategy, which could limit ability to
make certain investments or require us to selltasse manner, at a price or at a time that werstlse would
not have chosen. This could negatively affect e of our common stock, the sustainability of business
model and our ability to make distributions.
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Registration under the Investment Company Act woetglire us to comply with a variety of substantive
requirements that impose, among other things:

» limitations on capital structure;

»  restrictions on specified investments;

e restrictions on leverage or senior securities;
e restrictions on unsecured borrowings;

»  prohibitions on transactions with affiliates;dan

« compliance with reporting, record keeping, votipgoxy disclosure and other rules and regulatioat
would significantly increase our operating expenses

If we were required to register as an investmentmany but failed to do so, we could be prohibitexirf
engaging in our business, and criminal and cidiloas could be brought against us.

Registration with the SEC as an investment companyld be costly, would subject us to a host of clax
regulations and would divert attention from the daet of our business, which could materially andeagely
affect us. In addition, if we purchase or sell a3l estate assets to avoid becoming an investooempany
under the Investment Company Act, our net asseeydhe amount of funds available for investmert @ur
ability to pay distributions to our stockholdersuttbbe materially adversely affected.

The ownership limit in our charter may discouragetakeover or business combination that may hs
benefited our stockholders.

To assist us in qualifying as a REIT, among otheppses, our charter generally limits the bendfmia
constructive ownership of our (a2) common stock wy jperson to no more than 9.8% in value or in nunobe
shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the aggpe= of the outstanding shares of our common sio¢k)
capital stock by any person to no more than 9.8%alne or in number of shares, whichever is mostriive,
of the aggregate of the outstanding shares of apital stock. We have waived these ownership limits
certain extent, for Flexpoint REIT Investor, the Wgton Investors and certain other investors.sTdmd other
restrictions on ownership and transfer of our shafestock contained in our charter may discousgbkange of
control of us and may deter individuals or entifrésn making tender offers for our common stockemms that
might be financially attractive to you or which meguse a change in our management. In additioattrnihg
potential transactions that may be favorable tostackholders, these provisions may also decreaseapility
to sell our common stock.

Our stockholder’ ability to control our operations is limitec

Our board of directors approves our major strategieluding our strategies regarding investments,
financing, growth, debt capitalization, REIT quiition and distributions. Our board of directorgynamend or
revise these and other strategies without a voteiostockholders. Further, Flexpoint REIT Investod the
Wellington Investors own significant portions ofr@ommon stock, will continue to have significamfiiience
over us, and may have conflicts of interest wittougou now or in the future.
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Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit ahange in our control.

Certain provisions of the MGCL may have the effefanhibiting a third party from making a proposal
acquire us or impeding a change of control undeuaistances that otherwise could provide our stoicldns
with the opportunity to realize a premium over then-prevailing market price of our common stockJuding:

*  “business combination” provisions that, subfedimitations, prohibit certain business combioat
between us and an “interested stockholder” (defgetkerally as any person who beneficially owns
10% or more of the voting power of our outstandinging stock or an affiliate or associate of ours
who, at any time within the two-year period immeelia prior to the date in question, was the
beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting powébpur then-outstanding stock) or an affiliate of
an interested stockholder for five years aftertuest recent date on which the stockholder became an
interested stockholder, and thereafter requireswaermajority stockholder votes to approve any such
combination; and

«  “control share” provisions that provide that@der of our “control sharestéfined as voting shares
stock which, when aggregated with all other shafesock owned by the acquiror or in respect of
which the acquiror is able to exercise or direeteercise of voting power (except solely by virtdie
a revocable proxy), entitle the acquiror to exercie of three increasing ranges of voting power in
electing directors) acquired in a “control sharguasition” (defined as the direct or indirect acquisit
of ownership or control of issued and outstandicgntrol shares,” subject to certain exceptions)
generally has no voting rights with respect todbetrol shares except to the extent approved by our
stockholders by the affirmative vote of two-thimfsall the votes entitled to be cast on the matter,
excluding all interested shares.

We elected to opt-out of these provisions of the@®IGin the case of the business combination promsi
by resolution of our board of directors exempting adusiness combination between us and any othisope
(provided that such business combination is fipgiraved by our board of directors, including a migjoof our
directors who are not affiliates or associatesushgerson), and in the case of the control shamégions,
pursuant to a provision in our bylaws. We may ritleack in to either of these provisions withowt #pproval
of the holders of a majority of our shares of comratock.

Our authorized but unissued common and preferredckt may prevent a change in control of the compa

Our charter authorizes us to issue additional aiztbd but unissued common stock and preferred stock
without stockholder approval. In addition, our tobaf directors may, without stockholder approvalatnend
our charter to increase or decrease the aggregatber of our shares of stock or the number of shafrany
class or series of stock that we have authoritggoe, (ii) classify or reclassify any unissued own stock or
preferred stock and set the preferences, rightotret terms of the classified or reclassified ehaAs a result,
among other things, our board may establish a dassries of common stock or preferred stock ¢oatd delay
or prevent a transaction or a change in contrthefcompany that might involve a premium priceduor
common stock or otherwise be in the best intex&fsteir stockholders.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders toka action against our directors and officers arenlited,
which could limit your recourse in the event of &ohs not in your best interest.

Our charter limits the liability of our present afodmer directors and officers to us and our stobtdérs for
money damages to the maximum extent permitted uddeyland law. Under current Maryland law, our meis
and former directors and officers will not have &apility to us or our stockholders for money dayaa other
than liability resulting from:

» actual receipt of an improper benefit or prafimoney, property or services; or
» active and deliberate dishonesty by the direstafficer that was established by a final judgtreamd

is material to the cause of action.
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In addition, our charter authorizes us to indemoify present and former directors and officersafdirons
taken by them in those and other capacities torig@mum extent permitted by Maryland law and ouaims
require us to indemnify our present and formeradoes and officers, to the maximum extent permitigd
Maryland law, in the defense of any proceeding lictv he or she is made, or threatened to be maukatyaby
reason of his or her service to us as a directoffarer in these and other capacities. In addjtivea may be
obligated to pay or reimburse the expenses incuoyenlir present and former directors and officethout
requiring a preliminary determination of their miite entitlement to indemnification. As a resule, and our
stockholders may have more limited rights againstppesent and former directors and officers thaghim
otherwise exist absent the current provisions inobxarter and bylaws or that might exist with otbempanies,
which could limit your recourse in the event ofiaegs not in your best interests.

Our charter contains provisions that make removdlaur directors difficult, which could make it dif€ult for
our stockholders to effect changes to our managemen

Our charter provides that, except pursuant to &igpElection Meeting (as defined in the chartethject
to the rights of holders of one or more classesedies of preferred stock to elect or remove onaane
directors, a director may be removed only for “&iu@s defined in our charter), and even then bglthe
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the v@ntitled to be cast generally in the electiodicfctors. At a
Special Election Meeting, our Manager, the Seryiéspen Yo LLC and our directors and officers shalf vote
the shares of common stock they beneficially owthénelection or removal of directors. At a SpeEikdction
Meeting, a majority of the votes entitled to betéasequired to remove a director. Vacancies nafilled only
by a majority of the remaining directors in offi@ven if less than a quorum, for the full termred tirectorship
in which the vacancy occurred (other than vacaramsng any directors elected by the holder or hisldéany
class or series of preferred stock, if such rigiigts). These requirements make it more difficalthange our
management by removing and replacing directorsnaang prevent a change in our control that is inkibst
interests of our stockholders.

Our charter generally does not permit ownershipamncess of 9.8% of our common stock or of our stotlall
classes and series based on value or number of efiaand attempts to acquire our stock in excesthefstock
ownership limit will be ineffective unless an exetign is granted by our board of directors. Theseopisions
may restrict change of control or business combiiogit opportunities in which our stockholders migheceive
a premium for their shares of common stock.

We expect to qualify and will elect to be taxedhaREIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes begigni
with our taxable year ended December 31, 2014rderdor us to qualify as a REIT, for each taxatdar
beginning with the year ending December 31, 20b5nore than 50% of the value of our outstandingeshaf
capital stock (after taking into account optionstguire shares of stock) may be owned, directly or
constructively, by five or fewer individuals duritige last half of any calendar year. “Individuaisf’ this
purpose include natural persons, private foundatisome employee benefit plans and trusts, and some
charitable trusts. In order to help us qualify &ET, among other purposes, our charter gendialiys the
beneficial or constructive ownership of our (a) coom stock by any person to no more than 9.8% inevat in
number of shares, whichever is more restrictivahefaggregate of the outstanding shares of ountmmnstock
or (b) capital stock by any person to no more &% in value or in number of shares, whichevendse
restrictive, of the aggregate of the outstandirayeh of our capital stock. Our board of directorsts sole and
absolute discretion, may grant an exemption tagedf these prohibitions, subject to certain ctinds and
receipt by our board of certain representationgenants and undertakings. In connection with ol
Placements, our board of directors waived such limtonnection with the ownership by Flexpoint REI
Investor, the Wellington Investors and certain otheestors. Our board of directors may also frametto time
increase this ownership limit for one or more pessand may increase or decrease such limit fartladir
persons. Any decrease in the ownership limit gdiyeaipplicable to all stockholders will not be effave for any
person whose percentage ownership of our stockégdess of such decreased ownership limit unth sime a:
such person’s percentage ownership of our stoclequ falls below such decreased ownership liouit,any
further acquisition of our stock in excess of sdelreased ownership limit will be in violation bttdecreased
ownership limit. Our board of directors may notreese the decreased ownership limit (whether ferpgarson
or all stockholders) if such increase would allavefor fewer individuals (including certain entijeto
beneficially own more than 49.9% in value of outstanding capital stock.
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Our charter’s constructive ownership rules are desnpnd may cause the outstanding shares of ock sto
owned by a group of related individuals or entite®e deemed to be constructively owned by oniithaal or
entity. As a result, the acquisition of less tha8?® of the outstanding shares of any class orsefieur stock
by an individual or entity could cause that indivadl or entity to own constructively in excess @&%.of the
outstanding shares of our common stock or of aaksof all classes and series and thus violateweership
limits or other restrictions on ownership and tfansf our stock. Any attempt by a stockholder vencor
transfer our stock in excess of the ownership limiihout the consent of our board of directorsroaimanner
that would cause us to be “closely held” under i8ad56(h) of the Code (without regard to whetlner $tock is
held during the last half of a taxable year) or ldaatherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a R&®Ill result in
the stock being automatically transferred to atémi$or a charitable trust or, if the transfertte tharitable trust
is not automatically effective to prevent a viabatiof the stock ownership limit or the restrictiarsownership
and transfer of our stock, any such transfer ofshares will be void ab initio. Further, any trarséf our stock
that would result in our shares being beneficialljned by fewer than 100 persons will be void abdni

These ownership limitations could have the efféatiscouraging a takeover or other transaction lctv
holders of our shares of common stock might recaipeemium for their shares of common stock overthien-
prevailing market price or which holders might beé to be otherwise in their best interests.

Conflicts of interest could arise in the future asresult of our structure

Conflicts of interest could arise in the futuresasult of the relationships between us and diliatds, on
the one hand, and our operating partnership opartyer thereof, on the other. Our directors afiderts have
duties to our company under applicable Marylandilaaonnection with their oversight of the managetrd
our company. At the same time, we, through our Whmkned subsidiary, will have fiduciary duties,as
general partner, to our operating partnership arahy partners thereof under Delaware law in cotoreevith
the management of our operating partnership. Otieslas a general partner to our operating patipeend an
of its partners may come into conflict with theidatof our directors and officers. In the evenaabnflict
between the interests of our stockholders andnieeasts of the partners of our operating partmgrste will
endeavor in good faith to resolve the conflict imanner not adverse to either our stockholderkepartners;
provided, that for so long as we own a controliimigrest in our operating partnership, any suctliobthat we,
in our sole and absolute discretion, determine albe resolved in a manner not adverse to either ou
stockholders or the partners of our operating jgastrip will be resolved in favor of our stockholslefFor so lon
as we own a controlling interest in our operatiagipership, the limited partnership agreement ofoperating
partnership requires us to resolve such conflicfawvor of our stockholders.

Risks Related to Our Common Stocl

The market price of our common stock may fluctuagad you could lose all or part of your investme

The stock market in general has been, and the fnaiike of our common stock in particular will lilkebe,
subject to fluctuation, whether due to, or irrespecof, our operating results and financial coiogit Our
financial performance, government regulatory agttar laws, interest rates and market conditiorgeineral
could have a significant impact on the future magtee of our common stock. Some of the otherdecthat
could negatively affect our share price or resufluctuations in our share price include:

e actual or anticipated variations in our quagtegperating results;

* increases in market interest rates that leadhasers of our common stock to demand a highed;yiel
« changes in our funds from operations or earngsgsnates;

»  changes in market valuations of similar compsinie

. actions or announcements by our competitors;
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» actual or perceived conflicts of interest, ag thiscontinuance of our strategic relationshipsh wur
Manager, the Servicer or Aspen;

» adverse market reaction to any increased indebtes we incur in the future;
»  additions or departures of key personnel;

e actions by stockholders;

e speculation in the press or investment community

e our intentions and ability to list our commoncak on a national securities exchange and our
subsequent ability to maintain such listing;

« failure to qualify or maintain our qualificatias a REIT; and

«  failure to maintain our exemption from regisiwatunder the Investment Company Act.

We cannot assure you that the past experience afmanagement team or our Manag's management teai
will be sufficient to successfully operate our coany as a publicly traded company.

We have no operating history as a publicly tradedmgany. We cannot assure you that the past exgerien
of our management team or our Manager’'s manageteami will be sufficient to operate our company as a
publicly traded company, including timely complianwith the disclosure requirements of the SEC. Yde a
required to develop and implement control systents@ocedures in order to satisfy our periodic eungdent
reporting requirements under applicable SEC reguistand comply with the listing standards of trewNy ork
Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, and this transitiamdplace a significant strain on our Manager's agement
systems, infrastructure and other resources, amhih could materially adversely impact our busieesults
of operations and financial condition.

In addition, since 2009, the management team oMamager, on behalf of Aspen Capital, has invested
residential assets, including the assets in oufgdior. See “Item 1. Business — The Aspen Capitainpanies
— Manager Experience.” Aspen Capital’s overall pitl of loans and properties may differ signifittgrfirom
the mortgage loans we may acquire in terms ofestenates, principal balances, geographic distdhutypes of
properties, lien priority, origination and undertivigy criteria, and other possibly relevant chanasties.
Furthermore, Aspen Capitalpast performance is not indicative of future ltesand its results were not achie
by a public company nor by an entity organized BE&I. Aspen Capital’s results are necessarilyerive of
particular market conditions and current and futnegket conditions and economic factors beyond
management’s control, which may cause future resalvary.

The preparation of our financial statements will wolve the use of estimates, judgments and assumptiand
our financial statements may be materially affectdduch estimates, judgments and assumptions prbe
inaccurate.

Financial statements prepared in accordance witASFequire the use of estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts. iRifteestimates, judgments and assumptions reagocadid
be used that would have a material effect on thenfiial statements, and changes in these estimadgsents
and assumptions are likely to occur from periogeédod in the future. Significant areas of accauptiequiring
the application of management’s judgment include ave not limited to, determining the fair valdeoar assets
and the timing and amount of cash flows from ogets These estimates, judgments and assumpt®ns ar
inherently uncertain and, if they prove to be wromg face the risk that charges to income will dguired. Any
such charges could significantly harm our businfasancial condition, results of operations and phiee of our
securities. See “ltem 7. Management'’s Discussiahfmalysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations’for a discussion of the accounting estimates, jugfgsiand assumptions that we believe are the
critical to an understanding of our future plaropérations.
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If we fail to establish and maintain an effectiveystem of internal controls, we may not be able &taetmine
accurately our financial results or to prevent fral

Effective internal controls are necessary for ugrtivide reliable financial reports and effectivphgvent
fraud. We may in the future discover areas of imdecontrol that need improvement, and we cannaeiin
that we will be successful in maintaining adequatetrol over our financial reporting and finangiabcesses.
Furthermore, as we grow our business, our interoairols will become more complex, and we will requ
significantly more resources to ensure that owarivdl controls remain effective. If we or our indagent
auditors discover a material weakness, the discosithat fact, even if quickly remedied, coulduee the
market value of our common stock. Additionally, thestence of any material weakness or significkficiency
would require management to devote significant &me incur significant expense to remediate any suc
material weakness or significant deficiency and agement may not be able to remediate any such ialater
weakness or significant deficiency in a timely memror at all.

We have not established a minimum distribution pagmt level and we cannot assure you of our abilibygay
distributions in the future.

To qualify and maintain our qualification as a REIAd generally not be subject to U.S. federal ineamd
excise tax, we intend to make regular quarterlyritistions to holders of our common stock out afdily
available funds. Our current policy is to pay gedyt distributions that, on an annual basis, wdjlial all or
substantially all of our net taxable income. Weéawt, however, established a minimum distribupagment
level and our ability to pay distributions may hitversely affected by a number of factors, includimegrisk
factors described in this annual report. All dsttions will be made at the discretion of our boafrdirectors
and will depend on our earnings, our financial ¢, any debt covenants, qualification and maiatece of
our REIT qualification, restrictions on making dikstitions under Maryland law and other factors ashward o
directors may deem relevant from time to time. Wymot be able to make distributions in the futame our
board of directors may change our distribution@oln the future. We believe that a change in amy of the
following factors, among others, could adversefgetfour results of operations and impair our abth pay
distributions to our stockholders:

« the profitability of the assets we hold, purahas originate;

« our ability to make profitable acquisitions amriginations;

e margin calls or other expenses that reduce asin dow;

» defaults in our asset portfolio or decreasahénvalue of our portfolio; and

+ the fact that anticipated operating expenseldavay not prove accurate, as actual results may va
from estimates.

We cannot assure you that we will achieve reshlswill allow us to make a specified level of cash
distributions or increases in cash distributionthim future. In addition, some of our distributionay include a
return of capital.

We may pay distributions from offering proceeds rlmwings or the sale of assets to the extent t
distributions exceed earnings or cash flow from oimvestment activities.

We may pay distributions from offering proceedsyrbwings or the sale of assets to the extent that
distributions exceed earnings or cash flow fromiauestment activities. Because our assets wilkin
primarily of re-performing and non-performing matge loans that may not receive payments on a nelgasis,
we may experience uneven cash flow, making it nddffecult to maintain the necessary cash to pay
distributions. Such distributions would reduce &neount of cash we have available for investing @her
purposes and could be dilutive to our financialtss In addition, funding our distributions fromronet
proceeds may constitute a return of capital toimuestors, which would have the effect of reduciagh
stockholder’s basis in its common stock.
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We will incur increased costs as a result of beiagublic company

As a public company with listed equity securitieg, need to comply with new laws, regulations and
requirements, certain corporate governance prowsid the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sabaxley
Act, related regulations of the SEC and the requémts of the NYSE, with which we are not requiredamply
as a private company. Complying with these statuéggilations and requirements will occupy a sigaiit
amount of time of our board of directors and manag@ and will significantly increase our costs axgenses.
We will need to:

* institute a more comprehensive compliance famgti

» design, establish, evaluate and maintain a sysfénternal controls over financial reporting in
compliance with the requirements of Section 40thefSarbanes-Oxley Act and the related rules and
regulations of the SEC and Public Company Accogn@iwersight Board, or the PCAOB;

e comply with rules promulgated by the NYSE;

»  prepare and distribute periodic public repantsempliance with our obligations under the U.Sefal
securities laws;

* involve and retain to a greater degree outsidmsel and accountants in the above activities; and

. establish a more robust investor relations fiomct

In addition, being a public company subject to ¢hedes and regulations will require us to incurstantial
costs to increase coverage under our director Hiwetoliability insurance. These factors couldatrake it
more difficult for us to attract and retain quadimembers of our board of directors, particulsslgerve on our
audit committee, and qualified executive officers.

For as long as we are an emerging growth companeg, will not be required to comply with certain regorg
requirements, including those relating to accoungrstandards and disclosure about our executive
compensation, that apply to other public companies.

We are subject to reporting and other obligatiom$eu the Exchange Act. The JOBS Act contains
provisions that, among other things, relax centaporting requirements for “emerging growth comparii
including certain requirements relating to accaumstandards and compensation disclosure. We etgbetan
“emerging growth company” as defined in the JOB$. A&or as long as we are an emerging growth company
which may be up to five full fiscal years, unlikéher public companies, we will not be requiredijgfovide an
auditor’s attestation report on management’s asssssof the effectiveness of our system of inteowaltrol
over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404haf Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (i) comply with any nemrevised
financial accounting standards applicable to putiimpanies until such standards are also applitalgevate
companies under Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS @tcomply with any new requirements adopted bg t
PCAOB, requiring mandatory audit firm rotation osw@pplement to the auditor’s report in which thditor
would be required to provide additional informateipout the audit and the financial statementsefgbuer, (iv
comply with any new audit rules adopted by the P@4diter April 5, 2012 unless the SEC determines
otherwise, (v) provide certain disclosure regardimgcutive compensation required of larger puldimpanies
or (vi) hold stockholders advisory votes on exeaitompensation. We have elected to use an extended
transition period for complying with new or revisadcounting standards. We cannot predict whethesiiors
will consequently find shares of our common stadslattractive, which may adversely affect the eigpkice o
our common stock.

Future sales of our common stock or other securitieonvertible into our common stock could cause
market value of our common stock to decline and tbtesult in dilution of your shares.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares of our camstark could cause the market price of our common
stock to decrease significantly. We cannot pretlieteffect, if any, of future sales of our commuutk, or the
availability of shares of our common stock for fgtsales, on the value of our common stock. Sdles o
substantial amounts of shares of our common stwcthe perception that such sales could occur, axagrsely
affect prevailing market values for our common ktdo connection with our IPO, we entered into ekloip
agreement that prevents us, subject to certairpéros, from offering additional
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shares of our common stock for up to 180 days #ftedate of our IPO, or August 12, 2015. Our doecand
officers have also agreed, subject to certain ei@ep not to sell any shares of common stocktiat owned ¢
the time of our IPO for up to 180 days thereafférese lock-up provisions may be released at any éind
potentially without notice. Lastly, effective 60ydaafter our IPO, we have an obligation to havegastration
statement effective that permits certain holdersuwfshares of common stock prior to our IPO tbtheke
shares. If the restrictions under the lock-up agesgs are waived and/or such registration statebestdmes
effective, additional shares of common stock magob®e available for resale, subject to applicable l@hich
could reduce the market price for our common stock.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are shared with Blamager and are located in 9400 SW Beaverton-
Hillsdale Hwy, Suite 131, Beaverton, OR 97005. Hase for these premises expires on December 37; 2@
are not responsible for any lease costs. Our telgphumber is: 503-505-5670. Our web address is \weat-
ajax.com. The information on our website does wosttute a part of this annual report.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

Neither we nor any of our affiliates are the sub@any material legal or regulatory proceedingye and
our affiliates may be involved, from time to time legal proceedings that arise in the ordinaryrsewf
business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

50




TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases o
Equity Securities
es

Our shares of common stock have been listed oNW&E since February 13, 2015 under the symbol
“AJX.” The following table sets forth, for the peds indicated, the high and low sales prices ferGompany’s
shares of common stock, as reported by the NYSE.

Price Range
High Low
For the period from February 13, 2015 to MarchZt8,5 $14.7C $13.9¢

Dividends

We expect to qualify and will elect to be taxedhaREIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes begigni
with our taxable year ended December 31, 2014. fddgral income tax law requires that a REIT disite eacl
year an amount equal to at least 90% of its REXakike income, determined without regard to the dédu for
dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain.

To satisfy the distribution requirement necessamgualify as a REIT and to avoid paying U.S. fetita
on our income, we intend to make regular quartidyributions of substantially all of our REIT tdta income
to holders of our common stock. Any distributions make will be at the discretion of our board aédiors ant
will depend upon our earnings and financial conditiqualification and maintenance of REIT statpgliaable
provisions of the MGCL and such other factors asbmard of directors deems relevant. For more médion
regarding risk factors that could materially adegrsaffect our earnings and financial conditiore S$kem 1A.
Risk Factors.”

To the extent that cash available for distribuitess than our REIT taxable income, we coulddogiired
to sell assets, borrow funds or raise equity chfmitenake cash distributions or make a portiorhefitequired
distribution in the form of a taxable stock distrilon or distribution of debt securities. We gefigraill not be
required to make distributions with respect toaiitis conducted through Thetis TRS or any otheSTRat we
may form.

We anticipate that our distributions generally Wil taxable as ordinary income to our stockholders,
although a portion of the distributions may be dgeated by us as capital gain or may constitutéuarref
capital. We will furnish annually to each of ouoakholders a statement setting forth distributipail during
the preceding year and their characterization disiary income, return of capital or capital gains.

The following chart shows dividends declared by looard of directors:

Date Dividend Declared Dividend Amount Record Date Dividend Payment Date
November 12, 201 $0.0¢ November 21, 201 December 4, 2014
January 16, 2015 $0.1¢ January 13, 2015 January 30, 2015

Unregistered Sales of Securitie

On July 8, 2014, we closed the Original Privatec®faent under Rule 144A and Regulation D under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securkig?), pursuant to which we sold 8,213,116 sharesur
common stock and 453,551 OP Units. On August 142@& closed the sale of an additional 263,57 Ocshaf
our common stock and 14,555 OP Units pursuante@xercise of the option to purchase additionaleshae
granted to FBR Capital Markets & Co., the initiakghaser and placement agent in the Original Rrivat
Placement. The purchase price per share was $IFh@Met proceeds from the Original Private Placensdter
deducting the initial purchaser’s discount and @haent fee and offering expenses paid by us of appetely
$6 million, were approximately $128.4 million. Inet Original Private Placement, Flexpoint REIT Irteesand
one of the Wellington Investors, each directlylootigh one or more affiliated entities purchaséd3,363
shares of our common stock (in the case of onbeo¥Wellington Investors, inclusive of shares isseiaipon
redemption of 468,106 OP units).
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On December 16, 2014, we closed the Second Pilatement pursuant to which we sold 2,725,326
shares of common stock and 156,000 OP Units tdfepghinstitutional buyers and accredited investdrise
purchase price per share was $15.00. The net ptedesm the Second Private Placement after deduttie
placement fee and offering expenses paid by upmioximately $2 million, was approximately $41.2lioin.
The Second Private Placement was made in reliamtieecexemptions from registration set forth intlBec4(a)
(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulatibthereunder. The Flexpoint REIT Investor purelas
192,137 shares of common stock and one of the Wgédin Investors, each directly or through one oramo
affiliated entities purchased 650,000 shares ofrmomstock (inclusive of shares issuable upon redempf
156,000 OP Units) in the Second Private Placeni®®R Capital Markets & Co. acted as placement afperihe
Second Private Placement.

Pursuant to our 2014 Director Equity Plan, at flesing of the Original Private Placement, each eskts.
Handley, Hoffman and Ogren was granted 2,000 odsttishares of our common stock, and at the clasfiogr
IPO, Mr. Condas was granted 2,000 restricted shafresr common stock. The shares were issued iemniee on
the exemption from registration set forth in Settiga)(2) of the Securities Act.

On November 20, 2014 and on December 31, 2014ssued each of Messrs. Handley, Hoffman and
Ogren 417 shares of our common stock in paymehalbfof his quarterly director fees. On Novembey 2014
and on March 16, 2015, we issued 14,621 and 1&RBares of our common stock, respectively, to oundder
in payment of half of its quarterly management fgese shares were issued in reliance on the exanfpdim
registration set forth in Section 4(a)(2) of the@dies Act.

On January 21, 2015, we sold 5,250 shares toadéfdipersons at a price $15.00 per share, the last price
at which shares were sold to unaffiliated purctasethe Second Private Placement in December 26d.4n
aggregate purchase price $78,750. The shares were issued in reliance oaxbmption from registration set
forth in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Shal

On February 12, 2015, our registration statemerEam S-11 (File No. 333-201369) was declared
effective for our IPO, pursuant to which we registethe sale of 5,835,000 of our common stock, gius
additional 875,250 additional shares to cover fht@a to purchase additional shares granted taitickerwriters
On February 19, 2015, the Company completed itsdP&®000,000 shares of common stock priced at25l4.
per share. Great Ajax offered 3,750,000 sharesmihton stock and selling stockholders offered 1230,
shares of common stock. Certain of our existingldiolders, including certain affiliates, purchasedaggregat
of 730,000 shares of our common stock in this ofeat the initial public offering price. FBR CaglitMarkets
& Co. acted as representative of the underwriiétes raised approximately $50.9 million before suttira
offering expenses.

On March 3, 2015 pursuant to the option to purcleasitional shares granted to the underwriterssin i
initial public offering, we and the selling stocktlers sold an additional 276,797 shares of comnmrksat the
initial public offering price 0f$14.25 per share. We sold 226,464 shares of constogk and the selling
stockholders sold 50,333 shares of common stockupnt to exercise of the option to purchase additishares
granted to the underwriters.

We are using substantially all of the $53.9 millmfrproceeds (after deducting the underwriting dlist bu
before deducting estimated offering expenses) ofP0 to acquire additional mortgage loan assetkeasribed
in the prospectus dated February 13, 2015.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Date
ta

The selected consolidated financial data below Ishioei read in conjunction with “ltem 7. Managemsnt’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations” and our consolidated finainci
statements and the related notes included elsevrh#ris annual report on Form 10-K. The selected
consolidated statements of income data for thegdrom January 30, 2014, our inception date, thhou
December 31, 2014 and the selected consolidateddmbkheet data as of December 31, 2014, are dérora
the audited consolidated financial statements dweduelsewhere in this annual report. The historiesiilts
presented below are not necessarily indicativeiiré results of operations.

From Inception

through

Statement of Income (Dollars in thousands except pshare data) December 31, 2014
INCOME
Loan interest income $ 6,94(
Interest expense (771)

Net interest income ﬂ
Other income 75

Total income 6,244
EXPENSE
Related party expense — management fee 95¢€
Related party expense — loan servicing fees 48t
Other fees and expenses 1,05:

Total expense 2,49¢
Income before provision for income tax 3,75(
Provision for income tax —
Consolidated net income 3,75(
Less: consolidated net income attributable to the-controlling interest 32¢€
Consolidated net income attributable to the comstookholders $ 3,42«
Basic earnings per common share $ 041
Diluted earnings per common share $ 04
Balance sheet (Dollars in thousands At December 31, 201«
Total assets $272,75¢
Total liabilities $101,47¢
Non-controlling interest $ 9,47:
Total equity $171,28(

Iltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Overview

Great Ajax Corp. is a Maryland corporation thatuses primarily on acquiring, investing in and mang@
portfolio of re-performing and non-performing matge loans secured by single-family residencestaral,
lesser extent, single-family properties. We alse@st in loans secured by multi-family residentiadl a
commercial mixed use retail/residential propertéssyell as in the properties directly. The mudiirily and
commercial mixed-use properties generally will hiban values of up to approximately $5 million. Wéer to
these as “smaller commercial properties.” In Juigt August 2014, we closed the
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Original Private Placement, which resulted in metcpeds to us of approximately $128.4 million. We
commenced operations on July 8, 2014. In Decenfibt,2ve closed the Second Private Placement oéstudr
our common stock and OP Units, which resulted irpneceeds to us of approximately $41.2 millionrdugh
December 31, 2014, we have acquired mortgage sh®ther mortgage-related assets with an aggreirie
of $308.2 million.

The Company completed its IPO in February and Maftb and sold an aggregate of 3,976,464 shares of
common stock, including shares sold pursuant toceseof the option to purchase additional sharaestgd to
the underwriters. We are using the approximateB.$Hnillion of proceeds (after deducting the unditing
discount but before deducting estimated offeringemses) to acquire additional mortgage loans anthangpe-
related assets.

We are externally managed by Thetis Asset Managehidd, an affiliate. We own a 19.8% interest in the
Manager. Our mortgage loans and other real estatdsaare serviced by Gregory Funding LLC, a sidryiof
Aspen. We conduct substantially all of our busirtessugh our operating partnership, Great Ajax @peg
Partnership L.P., a Delaware limited partnershigl itss subsidiaries. We, through a wholly ownedssdiary,
are the general partner of our operating partnerdfietis TRS is a wholly owned subsidiary of tipemating
partnership that owns the equity interest in thenddger. We elected to treat Thetis TRS as a TRSruhde
Code. In January 2015, we applied for a privatedetiling from the Internal Revenue Service thatild permit
us to hold our interest in the Manager throughaperating partnership. In September 2014, we for@ezht
Ajax Funding LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of thperating partnership, to act as the depositoratgage
loans into securitization trusts and to hold thiessdinated securities issued by such trusts andaddigional
trusts we may form for additional securitizatiolmsNovember 2014, we formed AJX Mortgage Trust Wwheolly
owned subsidiary of the operating partnershippimnection with a repurchase agreement.

We expect to qualify and will elect to be taxedhaREIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes begigni
with our taxable year ended December 31, 2014.cQalification as a REIT will depend upon our algitib
meet, on a continuing basis, various complex requénts under the Code relating to, among othegshiie
sources of our gross income, the composition ahgesaof our assets, our distribution levels anddikersity of
ownership of our capital stock. We believe thatame organized in conformity with the requirements f
qualification as a REIT under the Code, and thatcowrent intended manner of operation will enalddo meet
the requirements for taxation as a REIT for U.8efal income tax purposes.

Market Trends and Outlook

The U.S. Federal Reserve estimates that as of Dmaredd, 2014, there was approximately $9.9 trillkén
mortgage loans outstanding on U.S. one-to-four famaisidential properties and approximately $9%illion of
mortgage loans outstanding on U.S. multi-familydestial properties.

While housing starts increased in 2014 over 28 number of building permits issued in the fourth
guarter of 2014 indicates that starts may be Iegadiff for single-family homes (an increase of 3émpared to
the third quarter). Construction starts on singlefy homes were up 8% from the previous quarterign6%
from the fourth quarter of 2013, they remain sigaifitly below historical levels. In addition to tleveling of
housing starts, a persistent price gap exists lmtwewly built homes and existing homes with safexisting
homes showing improvements while sales of new hamaesnued to lag in the fourth quarter of 2014.
Furthermore, HUD has noted that the listed invéasoof new and of existing homes at the end ofdheth
quarter 2014 would support 5.4 months and 4.4 nmméspectively, of sales at the current sales, pettiée
historical average supply of homes on the markétdanonths. In addition to fewer housing startgeesistent
price gap exists between newly built homes andiegisiomes. While new homes are almost always amem
expensive, on average, than their older comparatblasgap has widened since the last recessianMidrtgage
Bank Association estimates that total ondetor family mortgage loan originations (includingth purchase ar
refinance transactions) will increase from $1.Mi¢n in 2014 to $1.2 trillion in 2015.
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Cyclical trends are prompting a significant reafiggnt within the mortgage sector. These trends lagid t
effects include:

»  continuing sales of residential mortgage assgtsanks and other mortgage lenders due to elevated
operating costs resulting from new regulatory regqaents, delinquencies and impairments;

» the continuing decline in home ownership thathwersely, has increased the demand for singlehfami
and multi-family residential rental properties as$ociated rents;

» the dislocations in the residential mortgagenlogagination market and the limited availabilitfy o
financing for non-GSE mortgages since 2008, whimbehmade qualifying for a mortgage loan more
difficult. These factors, combined with shiftingrdegraphic trends and the need for families pushed
out of their homes through foreclosure or the ilitglio continue to pay their mortgage loans, are
driving increased demand for loan modifications}4@&SE mortgage financing and sindéenily renta
properties;

» the changing regulatory landscape, leadingeadiduction of the government’s role in, and tharre
of private capital, including non-bank participartsthe housing finance market; some of the chainge
have begun to be implemented, as evidenced bygthtening of conforming loan limits and increases
in guarantee fees; and

« unemployment remaining relatively high, un@enployment continuing to be a concern and real 8
continuing to be stagnant, which means that thigyabf borrowers to continue to pay their existing
mortgage loans will likely remain under pressure.

The current market landscape is also generatingappertunities in residential mortgage-related wehol
loan strategies. The origination of subprime amerahtive residential mortgage loans has dramétidaklined
since 2008 and the new QM and ATR Rule requiremeiltslso put pressure on new originations. Adutiglly,
many banks and other mortgage lenders have ina¢hasie credit standards and down payment requingsrfer
originating new loans.

The combination of these factors has also resuttadsignificant number of families that cannot lifydo
obtain new residential mortgage loans. We beliexe 0.S. federal regulations addressing “qualifieztigages”
based, among other factors on employment statbs;tadéncome level, impaired credit history or laak
savings, will continue to limit mortgage loan aedility from traditional mortgage lenders. In addfit, we
believe that many homeowners displaced by forecdbosuwho either cannot afford to own or cannot be
approved for a mortgage will prefer to live in devamily rental properties with similar charactics and
amenities to owned homes as well as smaller martiity residential properties. In certain demogragrieas,
new households are being formed at a rate thatesdhe new homes being added to the market, wréch
believe favors future demand for non-federally gnéged mortgage financing for single-family and lena
multi-family rental properties. For all these reasowe believe that demand for single-family andltn multi-
family rental properties will increase in the neaim and remain at heightened levels in the fomdsleduture.

We expect the availability of pools of re-perforigiand norperforming loans, properties in foreclosure
REO to increase and remain elevated over the eeetral years. The single family mortgage delinqyeate at
December 31, 2014 is 6.71%, according to the FeBaserve Board. Overall housing values have retedin
since 2012; however, CoreLodic , a leading glolbapprty information, analytics and data-enabledtises
provider, has reported that approximately 5.4 orllhomes, or 10.8% of all residential propertiethai
mortgage, were in a negative position as of theaénide fourth quarter 2014. Negative equity, ofteferred to
as “underwater” or “upside down,” means that boemwowe more on their mortgages than their honees ar
worth. Negative equity can occur because of a dedti value, an increase in mortgage debt or a owtibn of
both. For the homes in negative equity statusnéimnal aggregate value of negative equity wa®$sHion at
the end of the fourth quarter of 2014, up $7 hillfoom approximately $342 billion at the end of thed quarte
2014. In addition, Corelogi® reports that of the 49.9 million residential prdjeer with equity, approximately
million have less than 20% equity. Borrowers wéhd than 20% equity, referred to as “under-equitiedy
have a more difficult time refinancing their exigtihome or obtaining new financing to sell and bogther
home due to
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underwriting constraints. Under-equitied mortgagesounted for 20% of all residential propertieshveit
mortgage nationwide in the fourth quarter of 204ih more than 1.4 million residential propertiedess than
5% equity, referred to as near-negative equityp@mies that are near-negative equity are considatresk if
home prices fall. Further, a portion of the 800,808rowers with low interest rates under the HAMPthe past
five years will begin seeing mortgage payment iases in 2014. Generally, their interest ratesingliease by
one percentage point each year until their ratalsghe average 30-year, fixed-rate mortgage teteegime of
modification. 11% of HAMP borrowers have alreadysseaid at least one payment, and we believe thatsiag
home prices have not improved enough for many esdtborrowers to afford the monthly payment in@ehs
June, September and November 2014, the FHA hetdsadés under the Distressed Asset Stabilizatiogrem
of 2014, or DASP, as part of a broad effort by FA to decrease losses and market and sell nooperfg
loans in bulk. Further such sales are expectedddiition, in July 2014 and February 2015, Fredda gold
$659 million and $392 million, respectively, of nparforming loans, and both Fannie Mae and Freblidie
have indicated that they will have ongoing non-pering loan sales programs going forward.

We also believe that banks and other mortgage terdeve strengthened their capital bases and am mo
aggressively foreclosing on delinquent borrowersatling these loans to dispose of their inventory.
Additionally, many non-performing loan buyers amnninterested in reducing their investment duratiad
have begun selling re-performing loans.

We also believe there are significant attractiweegtiment opportunities in the smaller commerciattgeage
loan and property markets. We focus on densely lptgaiurban areas where we expect positive economic
change based on certain demographic, economiccenal statistical data. The primary lenders for Benanulti-
family and mixed retail/residential properties acenmunity banks and not regional and national bamkslarge
institutional lenders. We believe the primary lersdgnd loan purchasers are less interested in #sssts
because they typically require significant comnedrand residential mortgage credit and underwriérgertise,
special servicing capability and active propertynagement. It is also more difficult to create thggé pools the
these primary banks, lenders and portfolio acgsiitgsically desire. Many community banks also remaider
financial and regulatory pressure since the firgraisis and are now beginning to sell smaller carcial
mortgage loans as property values have begun tedse.

Factors That May Affect Our Operating Results

Acquisitions. Our operating results depend heavily on sogrogaperforming and non-performing loans.
We believe that there is currently a large supplseeperforming and non-performing loans availableis for
acquisition. We believe the available supply presidor a steady acquisition pipeline of assetsesine plan on
targeting just a small percentage of the populatide further believe that we will be able to pushaesidential
mortgage loans at lower prices than REO propeitiethe following reasons.

*  We believe that buying neerforming loans is more efficient and lower riblah acquiring REO rente
directly because the net cash flow from the regratring loans is typically greater than rent cashwfl
Re-performing loans are typically purchased atiigant discounts from UPB and underlying
property values, but the borrower pays interegherfull UPB, leading to a higher current yield.eTh
borrower is also responsible for property taxesyiance and maintenance, which are all costshhbat t
owner of the REO would otherwise have to pay. lditamh, to the extent that the UPB exceeds the
home’s value, the lender will receive all appraoiauntil such time as the HPA exceeds the UPB.
While the return to the mortgage loan owner is ttafgped, conversely, there is also risk mitigaifion
the REO value decreases, until the value is |lessttie price the lender paid for the loan.

» Ifare-performing loan becomes a non-performosan, or we purchase a non-performing loan, which
is purchased at a deeper discount than re-perfgrtoans, we, through the Servicer, have a number of
ways to mitigate our loss. These loss mitigatiahtéques include working with the borrower to
achieve performance, including through modificatddnhe mortgage loan terms as well as short sale,
assisted deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, assisted-flmeldase, foreclosure and other loss mitigation
activities. With each REO acquired, we assess¢isemtential return — either through rental, sale
with carryback financing, which we believe will le@ase the potential pool of purchasers, or sale
without our financing the purchase.
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*  We believe that we will be able to purchasedesiial mortgage loans at lower prices than REO
properties because sellers of such loans will e tabavoid paying the costs typically associatétth w
sales of real estate, whether single-family resideror smaller commercial properties, such as broke
commissions and closing costs of up to 10% of gposseeds of the sale. We believe this will
motivate the sellers to accept a lower price ferrdrperforming and non-performing loans than they
would if selling REO.

*  We believe there are fewer participants in thiperforming and noperforming loan marketplace th
in the foreclosure auction and other REO acquisitioannels due to the large size of portfoliosreff
for sale on an “all or none” basis and the requapdrational infrastructure and expertise involired
servicing loans and managing single-family rentapprties across various states. Additionally has t
acquirer of loans, we take the risk of delays mfthreclosure process for non-performing loans. We
will focus on smaller pools of mortgage loan astieds we can analyze on a loandbgn basis, and v
believe that we will be able to aggregate thesdlenmaools often at a greater discount than wowd b
available for larger pools. We believe the reldyidewer level of competition for re-performing and
non-performing loans, combined with growing supjpisgvides buyers with the opportunity for a
higher discount rate relative to the foreclosuretian and other REO acquisition channels and
therefore a relatively lower cost to acquire REO.

We expect that our residential mortgage loan plotfoay grow at an uneven pace, as opportunities to
acquire distressed residential mortgage loans ragrégularly timed and may involve large portfgliof loans,
and the timing and extent of our success in aaggisiich loans cannot be predicted. In additionafgrgiven
portfolio of loans that we agree to acquire, wadglly acquire fewer loans than originally expegtas certain
loans may be resolved prior to the closing dateay fail to meet our diligence standards. The nurolbe
unacquired loans typically constitutes a smalliparof a particular portfolio. In any case where a@eenot
acquire the full portfolio, we make appropriateustinents to the applicable purchase price.

Financing. Our ability to grow our business by acquiriegperforming and noperforming loans depen
on the availability of adequate financing, inclugledditional equity financing, debt financing oitb@n order to
meet our objectives. We intend to leverage ourstments with debt, the level of which may vary lshispon
the particular characteristics of our portfolio ardmarket conditions. We securitize our whole Ipartfolios,
primarily as a financing tool, when economicallfi@ént to create long-term, fixed rate, non-resmufinancing
with moderate leverage, while retaining one or nimaaches of the subordinate MBS so created. The
securitizations are structured as debt financimgsreot REMIC sales, and the loans included in the
securitizations remain on the Company’s balancetsie October 2014 and November 2014, we completed
securitization transactions pursuant to Rule 14Aden the Securities Act in which we issued noté@sarily
secured by seasoned, performing and non-performorggage loans primarily secured by first liensooe-to-
four family residential properties. We may alsoeerimto repurchase financing facilities under whia will
nominally sell certain of our assets to a counteypand simultaneously enter into an agreemengponchase
the sold assets at a price equal to the loan anpbusiin interest factor. Despite being legallyctired as sales
and subsequent repurchases, repurchase transaogsnerally accounted for as debt secured by the
underlying assets. In November 2014, we enteredamepurchase financing facility. We describe the
securitizations and the repurchase financing tsdielow under “— Liquidity and Capital Resourcesd the
extent appropriate at the relevant time, our fifr@psources may also include bank credit faciljtiearehouse
lines of credit, structured financing arrangememts additional repurchase agreements, among oBess—
Liquidity and Capital ResourcesWe may also seek to raise additional capital thihqugplic or private offering
of debt or equity securities, depending upon macketitions.

To qualify as a REIT under the Code, we generallynged to distribute at least 90% of our taxahbleome
each year (subject to certain adjustments) to tmakbkolders. This distribution requirement limitsr @bility to
retain earnings and thereby replenish or increapéat to support our activities.

Resolution Methodologies We, through the Servicer, or our affiliates péoy various loan resolution
methodologies with respect to our residential magtgloans, including loan modification, collatexgdolution
and collateral disposition. The manner in whicloa-performing loan is resolved will affect the
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amount and timing of revenue we will receive. Orgfgrred resolution methodology is to modify non-
performing loans. Once successfully modified aredehs a period of continued performance, we exihedt
borrowers will typically refinance these loans witther lenders or facilitated by the Servicer ahear the
estimated value of the underlying property. Weésadimodification followed by refinancing generatearterm
cash flows, provides the highest possible econauticome for us and is a socially responsible bgsistrategy
because it keeps more families in their homesetta circumstances, we may also consider setiiage
modified loans. Though we do not actively seekdmuire REO or rental properties, through historical
experience, we expect that many of our non-perfogmésidential mortgage loans will enter into féoeare or
similar proceedings, ultimately becoming REO thate&n convert into single-family rental propertiest we
believe will generate long-term returns for ourcétwlders. REO property can be converted into sifgily
rental properties or they may be sold through Rig@idation and short sale processes. We expetintigdines
for each of the different processes to vary sigaiitly, and final resolution could take up to 24nths or longer
from the loan acquisition date. The exact natunesélution will depend on a number of factors &t beyond
our control, including borrower willingness, profyevalue, availability of refinancing, interesteat conditions
in the financial markets, regulatory environmerd ather factors. To avoid the 100% prohibited teation tax
on the sale of dealer property by a REIT, we intiendispose of any asset that may be treated ds'pranarily
for sale to customers in the ordinary course o&de or business” by contributing or selling theedso a TRS
prior to marketing the asset for sale.

The state of the real estate market and home priitedetermine proceeds from any sale of realtestd/e
will opportunistically and on an asset-by-assetddstermine whether to rent any REO we acquirestiadr
upon foreclosure or otherwise, we may determirgetbsuch assets if they do not meet our investretetia.
In addition, while we seek to track real estategtrends and estimate the effects of those trendke
valuations of our portfolios of residential mortgdgans, future real estate values are subjedflteences
beyond our control. Generally, rising home pricesexpected to positively affect our results. Cosely,
declining real estate prices are expected to negjgtaffect our results.

Conversion to rental property The key variables that will affect our residehtental revenues over the
long-term will be the extent to which we acquire@Evhich, in turn, will depend on the amount of capital
invested, average occupancy and rental rates iowned rental properties. We expect the timelineciavert
acquired loans into rental properties will varyrgfigantly by loan, which could result in variati®im our
revenue and our operating performance from pedqektiod. There are a variety of factors that nmdaykiit our
ability, through the Servicer, to foreclose upamsidential mortgage loan and get access to th@reperty
within the time frames we model as part of our aibn process. These factors include, without Ation: state
foreclosure timelines and the associated defefiratkuding from litigation); unauthorized occupawfsthe
property; U.S. federal, state or local legislataation or initiatives designed to provide homeowsneith
assistance in avoiding residential mortgage loaacfosures that may delay the foreclosure prod¢ss;federal
government programs that require specific procedtode followed to explore the néoreclosure outcome of
residential mortgage loan prior to the commenceroéatforeclosure proceeding; and declines in estdte
values and high levels of unemployment and undel@mpent that increase the number of foreclosures an
place additional pressure on the already overbedi@rdicial and administrative systems.

Expenses Our expenses primarily consist of the feesexmknses payable by us under the management
agreement and the servicing agreement. Our Manmagéns direct, out-of-pocket costs related to mamagur
business, which are contractually reimbursableybDepreciation and amortization is a non-cash esgpe
associated with the ownership of real estate andrgdly remains relatively consistent each yeamaasset level
since we depreciate our properties on a straigktiiasis over a fixed life. Interest expense ctmsisthe costs
to borrow money.

Changes in home prices As discussed above, generally, rising homeeprare expected to positively
affect our results, particularly as it should résulgreater levels of re-performance of mortgaggnk, faster
refinancing of those mortgage loans, more re-cepfiprincipal on greater than 100% LTV (loan-tdeeg
mortgage loans and increased recovery of the pahaf the mortgage loans upon sale of any REOvEmely,
declining real estate prices are expected to neggtaffect our results, particularly if the priskould decline
below our purchase price for the loans and espgdiddorrowers determine that it
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is better to strategically default as their eqintgheir homes decline. While home prices havenrtsenearly pre-
Great Recession levels in many parts of the UrBtedies, there are still significant regions whexkeies have n
materially increased. When we analyze loan andestgacquisitions we do not take HPA into accowtept
for rural properties for which we model negativeAdfelated to our expectation of worse than expeptegerty
condition. We typically concentrate our investmentspecific urban geographic locations in whichexgect
stable or better property markets, although weataiee any appreciation expectation in the perfogea
modeling.

Changes in market interest ratesWith respect to our business operations, irs@e# interest rates, in
general, may over time cause: (1) the value ofhoartgage loan and MBS portfolio to decline; (2) gons on
our ARM and hybrid ARM mortgage loans and MBS tsete although on a delayed basis, to higher interes
rates; (3) prepayments on our mortgage loans ang ptBtfolio to slow, thereby slowing the amortizatiof oul
purchase premiums and the accretion of our puratiaseunts; (4) the interest expense associatddowuit
borrowings to increase; and (5) to the extent weranto interest rate swap agreements as paudrofi@dging
strategy, the value of these agreements to incr€aswersely, decreases in interest rates, in génmaay over
time cause: (a) prepayments on our mortgage lodvBS portfolio to increase, thereby acceleratimg t
amortization of our purchase premiums and the &ocref our purchase discounts; (b) the value of ou
mortgage loan and MBS portfolio to increase; (@)mms on our ARM and hybrid ARM mortgage loans and
MBS to reset, although on a delayed basis, to lomterest rates; (d) the interest expense assdordgth our
borrowings to decrease; and (e) to the extent wer @mo interest rate swap agreements as padrdfiedging
strategy, the value of these agreements to decrease

Market conditions Due to the dramatic repricing of real estatetsduring the most recent financial ¢
and the continuing uncertainty in the direction andtinuing strength of the real estate marketshelieve a
void in the debt and equity capital available forasting in real estate has been created as nzanycfal
institutions, insurance companies, finance comaane fund managers face insolvency or have datednd
reduce or discontinue investment in debt or equilgted to real estate. We believe the dislocatiotise
residential real estate market have resulted dr@sllt in an “over-correction” in the repricing real estate
assets, creating a potential opportunity for usataitalize on these market dislocations and capitial.

We believe that in spite of the continuing uncertaiarket environment for mortgage-related assatseit
market conditions offer potentially attractive isttment opportunities for us, even in the face o$lkier and
more volatile market environment, as the depresselihg prices of our target assets have caused a
corresponding increase in available yields. We eithet market conditions will continue to impaato
operating results and will cause us to adjust muestment and financing strategies over time as new
opportunities emerge and risk profiles of our besgichange.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Certain of our critical accounting policies requinenagement to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liadsliit the date of the consolidated financial statesnand the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dugngplorting period. Actual results could differrfrehose
estimates. We consider significant estimates tudeexpected cash flows from mortgage loans ainddéue
measurements. We believe that all of the decisamasassessments upon which our consolidated filanci
statements are and will be based were or will Beaeable at the time made based upon informatiaitae to
us at that time. We have identified our most ait&ccounting policies to be the following:

Mortgage loans, net. Purchased mortgage loans are initially recoatdtie purchase price at the time of
acquisition and are considered asset acquisitispart of the determination of the purchase pigcanortgage
loans, we use a discounted cash flow valuation intodaodel expected cash flows, and which considers
alternate loan resolution probabilities, includliggiidation or conversion to real estate owned.&bable input
to the model include current interest rates, laaounts, status of payments and property types. &brohble
inputs to the model include discount rates and feaolution timelines.
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Under ASC 310-30, acquired loans may be aggregatddiccounted for as a pool of loans if the loans
being aggregated have some degree of credit quitgrioration since origination and have commesh ri
characteristics. A pool is accounted for as a siagket with a single composite interest rate arajgregate
expectation of cash flows. The re-performing magtgoans were determined to have common risk
characteristics and have been accounted for agyke d0an pool. Similarly, noperforming mortgage loans we
determined to have common risk characteristicshave been accounted for as a single non-perforpoog
Under ASC 310-30, the Company estimates cash feogected to be collected, adjusted for expected
prepayments and defaults expected to be incurredtbe life of the loan pool. The Company determithe
excess of the loan pool’s contractually requiradgipal and interest payments over the expectel taws as
an amount that should not be accreted, the noretadite yield. The difference between expected flasls and
the purchase price (at acquisition) or the pregalue of the expected cash flows is referred tthasccretable
yield, which represents the amount that is expetttdm recorded as interest income over the renmlife of
the loan pool. For the period ended December 314 2ie Company recognized no provision for loas land
no adjustments to the amount of the accretable yiedr the period ended December 31, 2014, the @oynp
accreted $6.9 million into interest income withpest to its loan portfolio. As of December 31, 20these loan
had a UPB 0f$304.5 million and a carrying value $211.2 million.

Generally, we acquire loans at a discount assatiaih some degree of credit impairment. We elect t
aggregate certain pools of loans with common riskacteristics and accrue interest income therean a
composite interest rate, based on expectationaghf ffows to be collected for the pool. Expectatiohpool
cash flow are reviewed quarterly. Adjustments fmael’s prospective composite interest rate or fowance for
impairment are made to the extent revised expecsiiiffer from original estimates.

For loans that do not qualify for pool aggregati@atment, including performing loans that are not
purchased at discounts resulting from credit-rell&sues, interest is recognized using the sinmpérest metho
on daily balances of the principal amount outstagdadjusted for the amortization or accretiorhef lban
premium or discount over the contractual life & tban.

Accrual of interest on individual loans is disconiéd when management believes that, after cons@leri
economic and business conditions and collecticorisffthe borrowes financial condition is such that collect
of interest is doubtful. Our policy is to stop agog interest when a loan’s delinquency exceedda#§@. All
interest accrued but not collected for loans that#aced on non-accrual status or subsequenthgetaoff are
reversed against interest income. Income is sulesglyurecognized on the cash basis until, in mamege's
judgment, the borrow’s ability to make periodic principal and intereayments returns and future payment:
reasonably assured, in which case the loan isneduto accrual status.

An individual loan is considered to be impaired whigased on current events and conditions, itabaisle
we will be unable to collect all amounts due (botimcipal and interest) according to the contralcteians of the
loan agreement. Impaired loans are carried atrbeept value of expected future cash flows disaliat the
loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s markétgy or the fair value of the collateral if thalois collateral
dependent.

For individual loans, a troubled debt restructuiimg formal restructuring of a loan where, formmmic or
legal reasons related to the borrower’s finandféicdlties, a concession that would not otherwigeconsidered
is granted to the borrower. The concession mayréeted in various forms, including providing a belmarket
interest rate, a reduction in the loan balancecoruged interest, an extension of the maturity date,
combination of these. An individual loan that hasl la troubled debt restructuring is considerecetontpaired
and is subject to the relevant accounting for imgzhloans.

The allowance for loan losses is established thr@ugrovision for loan losses charged to expenges.
allowance is an amount that management believédevihdequate to absorb probable losses on existmg
that may become uncollectible, based on evaluatibiise collectability of loans.

Purchased non-performing loans that are accounteakfindividual loans are recorded at fair valieich
is generally the purchase price. Interest incommedegnized on a cash basis and loan purchaseudisiso
accreted to income in proportion to the actualgpial paid. Loans are tested quarterly for impaintresnd
impairment reserves are recorded to the exterfathenarket value of the underlying collateral $alelow net
book value.
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Residential properties. Property is recorded at cost if purchased, faiatvalue of the asset less estimated
selling costs if obtained through foreclosure byRm®perties acquired through foreclosure are gédigdreld as
long-term investments, but may eventually be heldshle. Property that is currently unoccupied actilzely
marketed for sale is classified as held-for-sateperty held-for-sale is carried at the lower o$toor fair market
value. Net unrealized losses are recognized thraugdiuation allowance by charges to income.

No depreciation or amortization expense is recaghtm properties held-for-sale, while holding cests
expensed as incurred. Rental property is propatyeld-for-sale. Rental properties are intendekettield as
long-term investments but may eventually be hetestde. Depreciation is provided for using theigtline
method over the estimated useful lives of the assethree to 27.5 years.

With respect to residential rental properties reltiHfor-sale, we perform an impairment analysisigsi
estimated cash flows if events or changes in cistantes indicate that the carrying value may beairagd, sucl
as prolonged vacancy, identification of materialfiverse legal or environmental factors, changespected
ownership period or a decline in market value taamount less than cost. This analysis is perforatdéde
property level. These cash flows are estimateddase number of assumptions that are subjectanagsic
and market uncertainties including, among othemahd for rental properties, competition for custm
changes in market rental rates, costs to operatepraperty and expected ownership periods.

If the carrying amount of a held-for-investmenteaexceeds the sum of its undiscounted future tipgra
and residual cash flows, an impairment loss isrd=xb for the difference between estimated fair eafithe
asset and the carrying amount. We generally esithatfair value of assets held for use by usinogdarpricing
opinions, or BPOs. In some instances, appraisafrimition may be available and is used in additioBROs.

We perform property renovations to maximize thaigadf property for our rental strategy. Such
expenditures are part of our initial investmenaiproperty and, therefore, are capitalized asqfdte basis of
the property. Subsequently, the residential prgpercluding any renovations that improve or extéma life of
the asset, are accounted for at cost. The cost isadépreciated using the straight-line method eneestimated
useful life of three to 27.5 years. Interest arftbotarrying costs incurred during the renovatieriqa are
capitalized until the property is ready for itseintled use. Expenditures for ordinary maintenandegpairs are
charged to expense as incurred.

Fair value of assets and liabilities.Fair value is defined as the price that woulddaeived to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly traction between market participants at the measuredate. A fai
value hierarchy has been established which reqairemntity to maximize the use of observable inpuat$
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when maagtair value. The standard describes three leviiisputs
that may be used to measure fair value:

Level | — Quoted prices in active markets for identicakésor liabilities.

Level 2— Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sischuoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are active; or other inputs that are observable ortean
corroborated by observable market data for subathnthe full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by littleo market activity and that are significant to
the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The degree of judgment utilized in measuring faiue generally correlates to the level of pricing
observability. Assets and liabilities with readilyailable active quoted prices or for which faitueacan be
measured from actively quoted prices generally nélve a higher degree of pricing observability anesser
degree of judgment utilized in measuring fair valdenversely, assets and liabilities rarely tradedot quoted
will generally have little or no pricing observatyiland a higher degree of judgment utilized in g fair
value. Pricing observability is impacted by a numtfefactors, including the type of asset or lidgpjlwhether it
is new to the market and not yet established, bedaharacteristics specific to the transaction.
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Property held-for-sale is measured at cost at aitipri and subsequently measured at the lower sif@o
fair value less cost to sell on a nonrecurring$aghe fair value of property held-for-sale is gafig based on
estimated market prices from an independently pegpappraisal, an independent BPO, or management’s
judgment as to the selling price of similar projee:

Income Taxes We intend to elect REIT status upon the filofgour 2014 income tax return, and have
conducted our operations in order to satisfy anohtaia eligibility for REIT status. Accordingly, wéo not
believe we will be subject to U.S. federal incorme lbeginning in the year ended December 31, 201hen
portion of our REIT taxable income that is disttixito our stockholders as long as certain agsaipie and
share ownership tests are met. If after electingettaxed as a REIT, we subsequently fail to quakfa REIT ir
any taxable year, we generally will not be pernditie qualify for treatment as a REIT for U.S. feeléncome
tax purposes for the four taxable years followimg year during which qualification is lost. We nago be
subject to state or local income or franchise taxes

Thetis TRS, and any other TRS that we form, wilshject to U.S. federal and state income taxes. On
January 13, 2015 we applied for a private letténgurom the Internal Revenue Service that woudldvaus to
exclude our proportionate share of gross incomm fitee Manager if we held our interest in the Mamadlgeugl
our operating partnership. If we receive such engylwe expect that we will hold our interest i tlanager
through our operating partnership, instead of tgholihetis TRS; however, there is no assurancesticit a
ruling will be issued. Deferred tax assets andiliieds are recognized for the future tax conseqeasrattributabl
to differences between the carrying amounts oftiexjsassets and liabilities and their respectixeb@ses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuried @hacted rates expected to apply to taxableneca the
years in which management expects those tempoiffeyethces to be recovered or settled. The effact o
deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recegrizincome in the period in which the change osc8ubject
to our judgment, we reduce a deferred tax assatuajuation allowance if it is “more likely thantiithat some
or all of the deferred tax asset will not be readizTax laws are complex and subject to differstarpretations
by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxirtigorities. Significant judgment is required iralating ta
positions, and we recognize tax benefits onlyis inore likely than not that a tax position wi# bustained up¢
examination by the appropriate taxing authority.

We evaluate tax positions taken in our consolidfitexhcial statements under the interpretation for
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Asslteof this evaluation, we may recognize a taxdfiefrom an
uncertain tax position only if it is “more-likelfjxan-not”that the tax position will be sustained on exanamaby
taxing authorities.

Our tax returns remain subject to examination amsequently, the tax positions taken by us may be
subject to change.

Emerging Growth Company.Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that anrging growth company cz
take advantage of the extended transition periodiged in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Aat
complying with new or revised accounting standahd®ther words, an emerging growth company caaydile
adoption of certain accounting standards untiléhsiandards would otherwise apply to private corngsaiVe
have elected to take advantage of the benefitsi®ektended transition period. Our financial stetats may,
therefore, not be comparable to those of compaha&scomply with such new or revised accountingdsads.

Recent Accounting Pronouncement
Refer to the notes to our consolidated financetieshents for a description of relevant recent attiog
pronouncements.

Results of Operations for the Period from Inception(January 30, 2014) through December 31, 20:

We were formed on January 30, 2014 as a Marylarbcation and were capitalized on March 28, 201
our then sole stockholder, Aspen. We commencedatipas upon the closing of the Original PrivatecBlaent
on July 8, 2014. Upon the closing of the Originav&e Placement, the Company used $48.8 milliotnef
proceeds to acquire its initial mortgage portfelicough the acquisition of 82% of the equity instsdn Little
Ajax Il, LLC. Little Ajax Il was an affiliated enty that acquired primarily
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re-performing mortgage loans and a number of nafepring mortgage loans in a series of transactions
between December 1, 2013 and July 7, 2014. In Sdyee2014, we completed a transaction to acquée th
remaining interests in this initial mortgage-rethtesset portfolio. The transaction initially hadkliei Ajax Il
redeem the 82% membership interest of the operptinmership by distributing to the operating parship
82% of all Little Ajax Il loans, participation intests and real property. The operating partnettsigip purchase
for cash the remaining 18% interest in such re@tesssets for an aggregate purchase price abxdpately
$11.4 million. The operating partnership also pasgd for cash from Gregory, its 5% interest in4Bdoans in
which Little Ajax Il held a 95% participation intest for approximately $0.2 million.

Our results of operations for the period ended Bax 31, 2014 do not reflect a full year of operati
results. On average, the loans in the portfolibetember 31, 2014 were held for approximately 93 adi the
year. The results of operations for the period gmeed below are not indicative of our expectedltesu future
periods.

From inception through December 31, 2014, the Compagregated a portfolio consisting primarily of
1,363 mortgage loans secured by single and onettofmily residences with an aggregate UPB of $308
million. The Company acquired the loans at an agafeepurchase price &14.4 million. Re-performing loans
represented $223.8 million UPB and a $163.9 milpanchase price and ngrerforming loans represented $€
million UPB and a $50.5 million purchase price. Fhechase price for re-performing loans and noffigpeting
loans equaled 70.6% and 59.7%, respectively, oéstiemated market value of the underlying colldtera

As of December 31, 2014, our portfolio of mortgagkted assets consisted of the following:
Portfolio as of December 31, 2014

No. of Loans® 1,34C  No. of Rental Propertie 3
Total UPB $304,516,48 Market Value of Rental Properties $ 366,90
Interest-Bearing Balance $283,981,03 Capital Invested 289,95
Deferred Balanc&® $ 20,535,45 . .
Price/Market Value of Rental Properties 79.Cop

Market Value of Collaterd?) $313,669,16

. 3) Gross Rent/Month $ 3,80(
Price/Total UPE 69.€ %
Price/Market Value of Collateral 67.€% Other REO 12
Weighted Average Coupdf) 5069 Market Value of Other REO $2,068,50!
Weighted Average LT\®) 114%
Remaining Term (as of 12/31/2014) 299.t
No. of first liens 1,327
No. of second lien 13

(1) Information reflects 1 loan in which we hold a 4&.beneficial interest through an equity method gtee
and 24 loans in which we have a 95% participatiarest and are owned by the Servicer becauseeneith
we nor our subsidiaries have the necessary licansestain state:

(2) Amounts that have been deferred in connection avittan modification on which interest does not aecr
These amounts generally become payable at theofimeturity.

(3) As of date of acquisition.

(4) Our loan portfolio consists of fixed rate (53.4%4®B), ARM (28.2% of UPB) and Hybrid ARM (18.4%
of UPB) mortgage loans with original terms to maguof not more than 40 years.

(5) UPB as of December 31, 2014 divided by market vafumllateral as of date of acquisition.

We closely monitor the status of our mortgage laams through our Servicer, work with our borrowtrs
improve their payment records. We have not expeedmaterial write downs or impairments
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on the mortgage loans purchased since commencerhepérations in July 2014. As of December 31, 2@f4
the 1,340 loans in our portfolio, 72.7% were refgening loans and 27.3% were non-performing lodie
following chart shows the percentages of our pbdfdased on total price paid, represented by pemerming
loans and re-performing loans at December 31, 2014.

Loan Portfolio as of December 31, 201

Non-performing
Loans
27.3%

Re-performing
Loans
72.7%

The following table sets forth the years in whielhr mortgage loans were originated based upon UPB:

Mortgage Loan Origination at December 31, 2014

Years of Origination Percentage of UPI
Prior to 1990 0.2%
1990-2000 14%
2001-2005 20.€%
2006-2008 71.1%
After 2008 6.4%
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The following table identifies the mortgage loaysskate, number of loans, loan value and collateahle
and percentages thereof for the assets acquiredghDecember 31, 2014 identified above:

Assets By State As of December 31, 2014

% of % of
% of Collateral Collateral % of Collateral
Loan Loan Collateral

State Count UPB($) UPB value®  value  State Count UPB($) UPB  Value  Vvalue
FL 31¢ 77,18535 25.:% 68,562,97 21.¢% TN 18 1,908,920 0.6% 2,457,00 0.6 %
CA 13¢  45,065,16 14.€% 45,967,11 147% WI 12 1,673,35 0.£5% 1,790,501 0.€%
NY 97 30,948,52 10.z29 39,501,20 12.€% IN 16 1,612,25 0.59%  1,909,75! 0.€%
NJ 84 28,202,76 9.29% 27,035,76 8€% UT 9 1,559,64. 0.£% 1,880,00 0.€%
MD 65 17,54298 5.E&9% 18,748,90 6.L% DC 6 1,433,490 05% 2,677,000 0.€%
IL* 61 12,771,41 4.z2% 11,281,72 3.€% MO* 9 1,285,121 0.4%  1,297,97 0.4%
MA 36 10,467,27 3.49% 11,141,00 3€% RI 5 1,040,12. 0.2% 937,37! 0.2%
AZ 41 10,150,990 3.29%  8,588,00 27% MS 8 832,57 0.2% 885,00( 0.2%
TX 66 7,113,120 2.29 10,017,60 32% LA 6 663,83t 0.2% 718,90( 0.2%
GA* 45 6,661,861 2.2%  6,400,49: 2% MN 5 587,58! 0.2% 660,00( 0.2%
VA 28 537493 1E&€% 6,004,08 1€% KY* 5 555,45¢ 0.2% 643,00( 0.2%
PA 54  4,647,27° 1Et9%  5,829,00 1€% DE 2 429,55; 0.1% 370,00( 0.1%
OR** 10 4,401,870 149 5,875,61 1% OK 5 370,38 0.1% 388,00( 0.1%
OH 39  4,34541 14%  4,69521 1€% AR 3 363,28 0.1% 466,00( 0.1%
NC 30 3,202,65 1.19%  3,229,00. 1C% ID g 360,68t 0.1% 630,00( 0.2%
Ml 21 2,986,831 1.C%  3,233,46 1.0 WV 3 354,77¢  0.1% 287,00( 0.1%
AL 13 2,984,86. 1C% 2,690,80 0% KS 8 320,30( 0.1% 308,50( 0.1%
CT 10 2,698,76! 0.€9% 2,935,550 0€% IA 4 294,59' 0.1% 279,40( 0.1%
WA 13 2,533,050 0.£9% 2,615,50 0.€% PR 1 294,29¢ 0.1% 370,00( 0.1%
NV 12 2,505,49' 0.£% 1,923,50 0€% SD 1 218,24t  0.1% 229,90( 0.1%
HI 7 2,165,100 0.79% 3,521,40 11% NE 2 171,82t 0.1% 183,00( 0.1%
co 10 2,103,19. 0.7% 2,405,001 0.£% MT 1 135,41¢ 0.C% 215,00( 0.1%
SC 14  1,991,89 0.7% 1,883,00 0.€% Total 134( 304,516,48 100.(% 313,669,16 100.(%

*  Information reflects 24 loans in which we have &®9articipation interest and are owned by the 8ervi
because neither we nor our subsidiaries have ttessary licenses in certain sta

**  Information reflects 1 loan in which we hold a #.5eneficial interest through an equity method stee.
(1) As of date of acquisition.

As of December 31, 2014, ten mortgage loans, reptiesy 0.57% of our UPB at that time, had beenitk|

Income

Our net interest income was $6.2 million for theiget ended December 31, 2014, and our consolideed
income attributable to common stockholders forgagod was $3.4 million, or diluted earnings pearghof
$0.40. Our primary source of income is intereshedron our loan portfolio. Other income primarignsists of
the equity earnings of affiliates, including our hMaer. Our operating income for the period inclugiéd
million of non-cash interest income accretion.

Management Fe

The Manager’s primary business is asset manageivenpay a quarterly base management fee based on
our stockholders’ equity and a quarterly incentivenagement fee based on our cash distributions to
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our stockholders. We paid the Manager a base fetbdgeriod ended December 31, 2014df0 million of
which we paid half, or $0.5 million, in 31,835 shsuof our common stock issued at a pric&d5.00 per share.

Loan Servicing Fe

Pursuant to the servicing agreement, we paid Gyed@5b million for its servicing of our mortgageato
portfolio during the period.

Other Expense

Other expenses incurred during the period inclode kransaction expense, professional fees, digcto
fees, and other general and administrative expeRseshe period ended December 31, 2014, in agtgethes
expenses totaled approximately $1.1 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2014, all of our invested capitss in re-performing and non-performing loans. We
also held approximately $53.1 million of cash aaditequivalents.

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet pdtahcash requirements, including ongoing committa¢o
repay borrowings, fund and maintain our assetsopedations, make distributions to our stockholders other
general business needs. Our primary sources ofteaghconsisted of proceeds from the Private Plangrand
our IPO. We anticipate that our primary sourcesash in the future will generally consist of paynseof
principal and interest we receive on our loan pdidf cash generated from operations, includingaiguayment
from our REO and other real estate assets andgwadi may earn from the sale of REO, and unuseaWwaorg
capacity under our financing sources. Dependingarket conditions, we expect that our primary sesiraf
financing will include securitizations, warehousel@redit facilities (including term loans and riog
facilities), repurchase agreements and privatepaidic equity and debt issuances in addition togaation or
asset specific funding arrangements. We expecthieat sources of funds will be sufficient to neatshort-
term and long-term liquidity needs.

We use cash to purchase mortgage-related asgey, pencipal and interest on any borrowings, make
distributions to our stockholders and fund operetio

On July 8, 2014, we used a portion of the procempisroximately $48.8 million of the net proceedsnf
the Original Private Placement to acquire ourahipiortfolio of mortgage-related assets by acqgiB2% of the
limited liability company interests of Little Ajatk from Flexpoint REIT Investor, one of the Wellitop
Investors and their respective affiliates. Littl@All owned a portfolio of mortgage-related assetssisting of
418 mortgage loans and two single-family rentapprties, which it acquired in a series of transenstifrom
unaffiliated parties between December 1, 2013 ahd? 2014. The approximately $48.8 million purséarice
paid by us for these assets equaled 82%apthe original capital contributions of all oiet members of Little
Ajax I, minus (b) all cash distributions paid datthe members of Little Ajax Il prior to the clagi date of the
acquisition of the interests, plus (c) an amouniaétp all interest income received by Little Ajdvon its loans
from the date of acquisition of the loan througé tfosing date, plus (d) an amount equal to alledudiscount
received by Little Ajax Il on its loans from thetdaf acquisition of the loan through the closirged plus (e) a
amount equal to all accrued but unpaid interedbans owned directly by Little Ajax Il or in whidkttle Ajax
Il owned a participation interest that were not entbran 60 days delinquent on a contractual bagi®) a
maximum of 59 days of interest, minus (f) an amaqual to all servicing fees paid or owed to Liex Il in
connection with its loans from the date of acqigaiof the loan through the closing date.

In September 2014, we completed a transactiondoigcthe remaining interests in this initial mene-
related asset portfolio. The transaction initi&fd Little Ajax Il redeem the 82% membership inséx& our
operating partnership by distributing to the opgarapartnership 82% of all Little Ajax Il loans, aipation
interests and real property. Our operating partrigrtfien purchased for cash the remaining 18%esten such
real estate assets for an aggregate purchaseopapproximately $11.4 million. Our operating panship also
purchased for cash from Gregory its 5% intere#hén43 loans in which Little Ajax Il held a 95% peipation
interest for approximately $0.2 million.

66




TABLE OF CONTENTS

In December 2014, we closed the Second Privateelact, which resulted in net proceeds to us of
approximately $41.2 million. To date, we have userproceeds of the Private Placements to puraiease
performing and non-performing loans, as descrilim/e. While we generally intend to hold our asssttong-
term investments, we may sell certain of our inwestits in order to manage our interest rate risklignétlity
needs, meet other operating objectives and adapatket conditions. The timing and impact of futaades of
investment securities, if any, cannot be predigtél any certainty. Since we expect that our asséts
generally be financed, we expect that a signifigeomtion of the proceeds from sales of our assetmy),
prepayments and scheduled amortization will be tsedpay balances under our financing sources. On
January 21, 2015, in order to satisfy the REIT nexpient that we have at least 100 stockholderg as o
January 30, 2015, we sold 5,250 shares of comneahk b affiliated persons at a price $15.00 per share, the
last price at which shares were sold to unaffitigterchasers in the Second Private Placement in
December 2014, for an aggregate purchase pri¢® df million.

The Company completed its IPO in February and Maftb and sold an aggregate of 3,976,464 shares of
common stock, including shares sold pursuant toceseof the option to purchase additional sharaestgd to
the underwriters. We are using the approximateB.$Hnillion of proceeds (after deducting the unditing
discount but before deducting estimated offeringemses) to acquire additional mortgage loans anthamge-
related assets.

We have completed two securitizations since we cenu®d operations. The securitizations are strutture
as debt financings and not REMIC sales, and theslazcluded in the securitizations remain on thenGany’s
balance sheet. We have used the proceeds fromgbesstizations to acquire additional re-perforgnand non-
performing loans. On October 7, 2014, our opergbiagnership as seller entered into a securitindt@ansactior
pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act pbal of seasoned, performing and non-performingigage
loans primarily secured by first liens on one-tofféamily residential properties. Ajax Mortgage hoérust
2014-A issued $61 million in securities consistaig@pproximately $45 million 4.00% Class A Noteed@057,
$8 million 5.19344% Class B-1 Notes due 2057, $iani5.19344% Class B-2 Notes due 2057 and a $20.4
million Trust Certificate. We have retained the &3l& Notes. The Trust Certificate issued by thsttand the
beneficial ownership of the trust are retained bgabAjax Funding LLC as the depositor. The Cladsdtes ar
senior, sequential pay, fixed rate notes. The (BaN®tes are subordinate, sequential pay, fixesl mates with
Class B-2 Notes subordinate to the Class B-1 Ndftéfse Class A Notes have not been redeemed by the
payment date in September 2017 or otherwise pdidliby that date, an amount equal to the aggeegaérest
payment amount that accrued and would otherwiggalbto the Class B-1 and the Class B-2 Notesheilpaid
as principal to the Class A Notes on that dateeswh subsequent payment date until the Class AsNwoéepaid
in full. After the Class A Notes are paid in fulie Class B-1 and Class B-2 Notes will resume véogitheir
respective interest payment amounts and any intér@saccrued but was not paid to the Class B dNatgle the
Class A Notes were outstanding. As the holder effttust Certificate, we are entitled to receive emaining
amounts in the trust after the Class A Notes ard<B Notes have been paid in full. The Class Aesland
Class B Notes are secured solely by mortgage loB2814-A and not by any of our other assets. Hsets of
2014-A are the only source of repayment and inteneshe Class A Notes and the Class B Notes. Weotlo
guaranty any of the obligations of 2014-A underttrens of the agreement governing the notes onoetbe.

On November 19, 2014, our operating partnershigelier entered into a securitization transactiorspant
to Rule 144A of a pool of seasoned, performing mma-performing mortgage loans primarily secureditsy
liens on one-to-four family residential properti@gax Mortgage Loan Trust 2014-B issued $68.7 willin
securities, consisting of approximately $41.2 miil3.85% Class A Notes due 2054, $13.7 million %X8ass
B-1 Notes due 2054, and $13.7 million 5.25% ClassMotes due 2054 and a $22.9 million Trust Cexife.
We have retained the Class B Notes. The Trustficate issued by the trust and the beneficial oafmierof the
trust are retained by Great Ajax Funding LLC asdapositor. The Class A Notes are senior, sequgrtia
fixed rate notes. The Class B Notes are subordisatpiential pay, fixed rate notes with Class Be2eN
subordinate to Class B-1 Notes. If the Class A Blbi@ve not been redeemed by the payment date in
October 2018 or otherwise paid in full by that date amount equal to the aggregate interest payameotint
that accrued and would otherwise be paid to thesa1 and the Class BNotes will be paid as principal to 1
Class A Notes on that date until the Class A Natespaid in full. After the Class A Notes are paidull, the
Class B-1 and Class B-2 Notes will resume
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receiving their respective interest payment amoantsany interest that accrued but was not paide&lass B
Notes while the Class A Notes were outstandingth&sholder of the Trust Certificate, we are ertitle receive
any remaining amounts in the trust after the Chadkotes and Class B Notes have been paid in fbké Tlass #
Notes and Class B Notes are secured solely by thtgage loans of 20:-B and not by any of our other assets.
The assets of 2014-B are the only source of repayarel interest on the Class A Notes and the @dsstes.
We do not guaranty any of the obligations of 201drgler the terms of the agreement governing thesnmt
otherwise.

On November 25, 2014, we entered into a repurcfaadédy pursuant to which a newly formed Delaware
statutory trust wholly owned by the operating parship, AJX Mortgage Trust I, the “Seller,” will gaire, from
time to time, pools of mortgage loans that are pritm secured by first liens on one-to-four famigsidential
properties from its affiliates and/or third parsilers. These mortgage loans will generally be §mich time to
time by the operating partnership, as the “Guaramscthe Seller pursuant to the terms of a moréglagn
purchase agreement by and between the Guarans®lles and the Seller as purchaser, in accordaithehe
terms thereof. Pursuant to the Master Repurchaseefiient, or MRA, these mortgage loans, togethdr wit
certain other property of the Seller will be soldtbe Seller to Nomura Corporate Funding Ameritas;, as
Buyer, from time to time pursuant to one or moemgactions, not exceeding $100 million, with a dianeous
agreement by the Seller to repurchase such mortgage and other property, as provided in the MRiAe
obligations of the Seller are guaranteed by theaijmgy partnership. Repurchases under this faabtyy interes
calculated based on a spread to one-month LIBORaeniixed for the term of the borrowing. The pursh
price for each mortgage loan or REO is generallyabtp 65% of the acquisition price for such assdhe then
current BPO for the asset. The difference betwbenrtarket value of the asset and the amount akfhechase
agreement is the amount of equity we have in tisitipa and is intended to provide the lender sona¢ggtion
against fluctuations of value in the collateral /andhe failure by us to repay the borrowing atumiy. We have
effective control over the assets associated Wwithagreement and therefore has concluded thifinamacing
arrangement. The facility termination date is Nokem24, 2015.

Gregory services these mortgage loans and the R&g2ies pursuant to the terms of a servicing
agreement by and among the Servicer, the Selled, Rihd any other REO Subsidiary, which servicing
agreement has the same fees and expenses teines@smpany’s servicing agreement described untiem“L.
Business — Gregory Servicing Agreement.” The opeggtartnership as Guarantor will provide to they&ua
limited guaranty of certain losses incurred byBuger in connection with certain events and/orSeder’s
obligations under the MLPA, following the breachceftain covenants by the Seller or an REO Subsyidia
related to their status as a special purpose ettigyoccurrence of certain bad acts by the Selgties, the
occurrence of certain insolvency events of theeBelt an REO Subsidiary or other events specifigtié
Guaranty. As security for its obligations under @@aranty, the Guarantor will pledge the Trust ileate
representing the Guarantor's 100% beneficial isterethe Seller.

We are not required by our investment guidelinemaintain any specific debt-to-equity ratio, and we
believe that the appropriate leverage for the paler assets we hold depends on the credit quadityrisk of
those assets, as well as the general availabiliyterms of stable and reliable financing for thassets.

We may declare dividends based on, among othegghour earnings, our financial condition, our wiogk
capital needs, new opportunities, and distributeguirements imposed on REITs. The declaratiorividiends
to our stockholders and the amount of such divideard at the discretion of our board of direct@ns.
November 12, 2014, we declared a dividen $0.08 per share, which was paid on December 4 £91
stockholders of record as of November 21, 2014J&mary 16, 2015, we declared a dividen&@f16 per
share, which was paid on January 30, 2015 to stbdkhs of record as of January 13, 2015.

We believe that our capital resources will be sigfit to enable us to meet anticipated short-tarchlang-
term liquidity requirements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement

We do not have any relationships with unconsolid&tetities or financial partnerships, such as iestit
often referred to as structured finance or spguigbose entities, which would have been establifhethe
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangase-urther, we have not guaranteed any obligatidn
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unconsolidated entities nor do we have any comnmtraeintent to provide funding to any such entitids
such, we are not materially exposed to any madkedit, liquidity or financing risk that could agisf we had
engaged in such relationships.
Contractual Obligations

A summary of our contractual obligations as of Deber 31, 2014 is as follows:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less More

than than
Total lYear 1-3Years 3-5Years 5Years

(in thousands)
Secured borrowings $84,67¢ $ — $ — $ — $84,67¢
Borrowings under repurchase agreement 15,24¢  15,24¢ — — —
Total $99,92¢ $15,24¢ $ — $ —  $84,67¢
Inflation

Virtually all of our assets and liabilities aregéngst-rate sensitive in nature. As a result, istei@es and
other factors influence our performance far moréghem does inflation. Changes in interest ratesato
necessarily correlate with inflation rates or ctesm inflation rates. Our activities and balanteet are
measured with reference to historical cost andivmharket value without considering inflation.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The primary components of our market risk are eeldb real estate risk, interest rate risk, premaymsk
and credit risk. We seek to actively manage theseother risks and to acquire and hold assetd@gthat we
believe justify bearing those risks, and to mamtaipital levels consistent with those risks.

Real Estate Risk

Residential property values are subject to votatdnd may be affected adversely by a number abfac
including, but not limited to, national, regionalcalocal economic conditions (which may be advegraéfected
by industry slowdowns and other factors); local esstiate conditions (such as an oversupply of moysi
construction quality, age and design; demogragttofs; and retroactive changes to building orlaintiodes.
Decreases in property values could cause us terdoffses.

Interest Rate Risk

We expect to continue to securitize our whole Ipartfolios, primarily as a financing tool, when
economically efficient to create long-term, fixede, non-recourse financing with moderate leveradpe
retaining one or more tranches of the subordind&do created. Interest rates are highly sengiiveany
factors, including governmental monetary and talicigs, domestic and international economic andtipal
considerations and other factors beyond our carfiednges in interest rates may affect the fauevalf the
mortgage loans and real estate underlying ourgi$fas well as our financing interest rate expens

We believe that a rising interest rate environnoentd have a positive net effect on our operattorthe
extent we will own rental real property or seelsétl real property. Rising interest rates coulchbeompanied t
inflation and higher household incomes which gelhecarrelate closely to higher rent levels andgedy
values. Even if our interest and operating experisesat the same rate as rents, our operating poofid still
increase. Despite our beliefs, it is possible thatvalue of our real estate assets and our netniecould declin
in a rising interest rate environment to the extbat our real estate assets are financed withiriipaate debt ar
there is no accompanying increase in rental yielgroperty values.
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We currently do not intend to hedge the risk asgediwith the mortgage loans and real estate widgrl
our portfolios. However, we may undertake risk gation activities with respect to our debt finamginterest
rate obligations. We expect that our debt financimay at times be based on a floating rate of istaralculated
on a fixed spread over the relevant index, as ated by the particular financing arrangement. gagicantly
rising interest rate environment could have an emveffect on the cost of our financing. To mitegttis risk,
we may use derivative financial instruments sucintesest rate swaps and interest rate options ieffart to
reduce the variability of earnings caused by chamgé¢he interest rates we pay on our debt.

These derivative transactions will be entered gatiely for risk management purposes, not for inmesit
purposes. When undertaken, these derivative ingimtsrikely will expose us to certain risks suctpase and
interest rate fluctuations, timing risk, volatilitigk, credit risk, counterparty risk and changethee liquidity of
markets. Therefore, although we expect to trarisabiese derivative instruments purely for risk mgement,
they may not adequately protect us from fluctuaionour financing interest rate obligations.

Prepayment Risk

Prepayment risk is the risk of change, whethenarease or a decrease, in the rate at which pahisip
returned in respect of the mortgage loans we with @as well as the mortgage loans underlying oaimet
MBS, including both through voluntary prepaymentd ¢ghrough liquidations due to defaults and forsates.
This rate of prepayment is affected by a varietfacfors, including the prevailing level of intereates as well
as economic, demographic, tax, social, legal ahdrdactors. Prepayment rates, besides being dubjeterest
rates and borrower behavior, are also substantfficted by government policy and regulation. Gfeanin
prepayment rates will have varying effects on tiffeigint types of assets in our portfolio. We atpero take
these effects into account. We will generally passhre-performing and non-performing loans at &gt
discounts from UPB and underlying property valigsincrease in prepayments would accelerate theyrapn
of the discount and lead to increased yield onagsets while also causing re-investment risk tleatawn find
additional assets with the same interest and ré¢weis. A decrease in prepayments would likelyentne
opposite effects.

Credit Risk

We are subject to credit risk in connection with assets. While we will engage in diligence on &sae
will acquire, such due diligence may not reveabélhe risks associated with such assets and miaeneal
other weaknesses in such assets, which could E&mlmisprice acquisitions. Property values argesibo
volatility and may be affected adversely by a nundidactors, including, but not limited to, natalinregional
and local economic conditions (which may be ad\grsiected by industry slowdowns and other fagtdiscal
real estate conditions (such as an oversupply a$ihg), changes or continued weakness in spenifigstry
segments, construction quality, age and designpdesphic factors and retroactive changes to bugldin
similar codes.

There are many reasons borrowers will fail to peyuiding but not limited to, in the case of resitin
mortgage loans, reductions in personal incomelgs® and personal events such as divorce or heatiems,
and in the case of commercial mortgage loans, teduin market rents and occupancies and poor ptppe
management services by borrowers. We will relytenServicer to mitigate our risk. Such mitigatidfoes may
include loan modifications and prompt foreclosund property liquidation following a default. If afficient
number of re-performing borrowers default, our hessaf operations will suffer and we may not beeetol pay
our own financing costs.

Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The financial statements required by this itemsateforth in Item 15 of this annual report and are
incorporated herein by reference.

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
ures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

We conducted an evaluation of the effectivenesheflesign and operation of our disclosure contants
procedures as of the end of the period coveretiibyahnual report on Form 10-K. The controls evidmawvas
conducted under the supervision and with the ppdimn of management, including our Chief Execaitiv
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Disclosure tats and procedures are controls and procedursagrae to
reasonably assure that information required toibeabed in our reports filed under the Exchangg such as
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, pssegl, summarized and reported within the time gderio
specified in the SEG'rules and forms. Disclosure controls and proasiare also designed to reasonably a
that such information is accumulated and commueétat our management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropritdellow timely decisions regarding required discire.

This annual report does not include a report ofagement’s assessment regarding internal contral ove
financial reporting or an attestation report of @@mpany’s registered public accounting firm duae toansition
period established by rules of the SEC for newlglipicompanies.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls and pdaces included a review of the controls’ objectiaesl
design, our implementation of the controls andrthffect on the information generated for use ia Borm 10-
K. In the course of the controls evaluation, waeexd identified data errors, control problems asaf fraud,
and sought to confirm that appropriate correctistioas, including process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation will be perfethon a quarterly basis so that the conclusions of
management, including the Chief Executive Officed &hief Financial Officer, concerning the effeetess of
the disclosure controls and procedures can be texpor our periodic reports on Form 10-Q and FofiK1 The
overall goals of these various evaluation actigiiee to monitor our disclosure controls and procesi and to
modify them as necessary. Our intent is to mairtteéndisclosure controls and procedures as dynsysiems
that change as conditions warrant.

Based on the controls evaluation, our Chief ExeeuBfficer and Chief Financial Officer have conadd
that, as of the end of the period covered by tbisrF10K, our disclosure controls and procedures werectife
to provide reasonable assurance that informatiguired to be disclosed in our Exchange Act repisrts
recorded, processed, summarized and reported vtiteitime periods specified by the SEC, and thaeriz
information related to our company and our constéid subsidiaries is made known to managementdimg
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ioéf, particularly during the period when our pditoreports
are being prepared.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference from the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2015 annual stockholders’ meeting

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference from the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2015 annual stockholders’ meeting

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholde
Matters

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference from the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2015 annual stockholders’ meeting

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference from the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2015 annual stockholders’ meeting

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference from the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2015 annual stockholders’ meeting
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(a)(1)Financial Statements
See the Index to Financial Statements at pagefRHisoreport.
(a)(2)Financial Statement Schedule.
Schedule IV—Mortgage Loans on Real Estate.

All other financial statement schedules have bewitted since they are either not required, are not
applicable or the required information is showthia consolidated financial statements or relatédsno

(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement (incorporatedeference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-11 confidentially submittethedSEC on September 23, 2014 (File No.:333-
00787)).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by neéeréo Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration Statement

on Form S-11 confidentially submitted to the SECSaptember 23, 2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

10.1 Agreement of Limited Partnership of Great Ajax Gytierg Partnership LP (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement omi8-11 confidentially submitted to the SEC on
September 23, 2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

10.2 Management Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2014ngni® registrant, Great Ajax Operating
Partnership LP and Thetis Asset management LLCimcated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registration Statement on Forml$-confidentially submitted to the SEC on Septen2312014 (File
No.:33:-00787)).

10.3 Servicing Agreement dated as of July 8, 2014 byaandng Gregory Funding LLC and the registrant
and its affiliates Great Ajax Operating Partnerdhip. and Little Ajax Il LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Steet on Form S-11 confidentially submitted to the
SEC on September 23, 2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

10.4 Form of Indemnification Agreement between regigteard each of its directors and officer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to tlegRtration Statement on Form S-11 confidentially
submitted to the SEC on September 23, 2014 (File388-00787)).

10.5 Assignment Agreement made as of July 8, 2014, kybatween the entities identified on Exhibit A
thereto and the registrant with respect to Littj@xAl LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit.50
to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 confidiy submitted to the SEC on September 23,
2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

10.6 2014 Director Equity Plan (incorporated by refeeeta Exhibit 10.6 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 confidentially submitted to the SEC opt8mber 23, 2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

10.7 Form of Restricted Stock Award (incorporated byerefce to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-11 confidentially submitteth®dSEC on September 23, 2014 (File No.:333-
00787)).

10.8 Registration Rights Agreement made and enteredasitaf July 8, 2014, by and among the registrant
and FBR Capital Markets & Co., as the initial puasér/placement agent (“FBR”) for the benefit of
FBR and certain purchasers of the registrant’s comstock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.8 to the Registration Statement on FordilSonfidentially submitted to the SEC on Septen#
2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

10.9 Trademark License Agreement dated as of July 8} d@iween the registrant and Aspen Yo LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to thregRtration Statement on Form S-11 confidentially
submitted to the SEC on September 23, 2014 (File388-00787)).
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.10

21.1*
31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

Registration Rights Agreement made and enteredaminf December 16 2014, by and among the
registrant and certain purchasers of the registrantnmon stock (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on F8rtl confidentially submitted to the SEC on
December 29, 2014 (File No.:333-00787)).

List of subsidiaries.

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive iO&f of the Company in accordance with Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial 0ffr of the Company in accordance with Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officof the Company in accordance with Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officof the Company in accordance with Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*  Filed herewith
(b) Exhibits.
See Item 15(a)(3) above.

(c) Financial Statement Schedule.

Schedule IV—Mortgage Loans on Real Estate.

All other financial statement schedules have beeitted since they are either not required, are not
applicable or the required information is showthia consolidated financial statements or relatedsio
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameritie
registrant has duly caused this report to be sigmeits behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dutharized, as

of March 26, 2015.

GREAT AJAX CORP
By: /s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn

Lawrence Mendelsohn

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpw
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant & the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn
Lawrence Mendelsohn

s/ Glenn J. Ohl
Glenn J. Ohl

/sl Steven L. Begleiter
Steven L. Begleiter

/s/ John Condas
John Condas

/sl Jonathan Bradford Handley, Jr.

Jonathan Bradford Handley, Jr.

/s/ Daniel Hoffman
Daniel Hoffman

/sl J. Kirk Ogren, Jr.
J. Kirk Ogren, Jr.

/s/ Russell Schaub
Russell Schaub

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

President and Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Great Ajax Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated talgineet of Great Ajax Corp. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2014, and the relatetsolidated statements of income, changes iryequrid
cash flows for the period from January 30, 2014 aé inception) through December 31, 2014. Ouitaafdhe
consolidated financial statements included the mpamying financial statement schedule. These cmfzdet!
financial statements and financial statement sdeeghe the responsibility of the Company’s managent@ur
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesesobdated financial statements and financial statet schedul
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards requirentbgtlan and perform the audit to obtain reasonasdeirance
about whether the consolidated financial statemaretd$ree of material misstatement. The Compampis
required to have, nor were we engaged to perfonnaualit of its internal control over financial repiong. Our
audit included consideration of internal controépfinancial reporting as a basis for designingtauacedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, bufardhe purpose of expressing an opinion on theotiffeness of
the Company’s internal control over financial repuay. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Awliaalso
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the consdilfihancia
statements, assessing the accounting principlesargksignificant estimates made by managememtethas
evaluating the overall consolidated financial stegat presentation. We believe that our audit presial
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matenéapects
the consolidated financial position of Great Ajaorf@ and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014ttend
consolidated results of their operations and tbash flows for the period from January 30, 2014¢(dd
inception) through December 31, 2014, in conformitth accounting principles generally acceptechia t/nitec
States of America. In addition, in our opinion, f&ncial statement schedule, when read in cotijomaevith
the related consolidated financial statements talses whole, presents fairly, in all material respethe
information set forth therein.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

Portland, Oregon
March 26, 2015
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GREAT AJAX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2014

(Dollars in thousands)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 53,09¢

Mortgage loans, néb 211,15¢

Property held-for-sale 1,31¢

Rental property, net 29C

Receivable from servicer 1,34(

Investment in affiliate 2,231

Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,317
Total Assets $272,75¢

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities:

Secured borrowingd) $ 84,67¢

Borrowings under repurchase agreement 15,24¢

Management fee payable 25¢

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 1,292
Total liabilities 101,47¢

Commitments and contingencies — see Note 7.

Equity:

Preferred stock $0.01 par value; 25,000,000 shardg®rized, none issued or outstanding —
Common stock $0.01 par value; 125,000,000 shatbeazed, 11,223,984 shares issued and

outstanding 112
Additional paid-in capital 158,95:
Retained earnings 2,744

Stockholders’ equity attributable to common stodébos 161,80°
Nonr-controlling interest 9,47:

Total equity 171,28(

Total Liabilities and Equity $272,75¢

(1) Mortgage loans includes $127,559 of loans transteto variable interest entities (“VIES”) that aamly be
used to settle obligations of the VIEs. Secureddwings consists of notes issued by VIEs that adn be
settled with the assets and cash flows of the Miigscreditors do not have recourse to the primary
beneficiary (Great Ajax Corp.). See Note

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdimsolidated financial statemer
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GREAT AJAX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

(Dollars in thousands except per share date
INCOME
Loan interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Other income
Total income

EXPENSE

Related party expense — management fee
Related party expense — loan servicing fees
Loan transaction expense

Professional fees

Other expense

Total expense

Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Consolidated net income
Less: consolidated net income attributable to thecontrolling interest
Consolidated net income attributable to commonkstoltiers

Basic earnings per common share

Diluted earnings per common share

Weighted average shares — basic

Weighted average shares — diluted

From Inception
(January 30,
2014)
through
December 31,
2014

$ 6,94
(771)

6,16¢

75

6,24¢

95¢
48F

50z

277

27¢

2,49¢

3,75(

3,75(
32€
$ 3,42

$ 0.41
$ 0.4C

8,360,43.
8,849,05!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statemer
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GREAT AJAX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated net incon

Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net incomeeiocash from operating activiti
Stoclk-based management fee and compensation ex

Non-cash interest income accreti

Income from affiliate:

Depreciation on propert

Amortization of prepaid financing cos
Net change in operating assets and liabil

Accrued interest receivable and other as

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Net cash from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of mortgage loa

Principal paydown

Purchase of property held for si

Purchase of rental propel

Investment in affiliate

Renovations of rental property and property hetdstde

Net cash from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from repurchase agreen

Proceeds from sale of secured nc

Repayments on secured nc

Sale of corporate equity securities, net of offgriosts
Sale of operating partnership units of subsid
Distribution to nor-controlling interes

Dividends paid on common stock

Net cash from financing activities

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO

Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND RANCING

ACTIVITIES

Transfer of loans to rental property or propertidHer-sale

Exchange of membership interest in Little Ajaxdt fnortgage loans

Issuance of common stock for management fees

F-5

From Inception
(January 30,
2014)
through
December 31,
2014

$ 3,75(

56(
(4,09¢)
(51)

4

10¢

(4,76¢)
1,55(
$ (2,947)

(209,88:)
2,471
(814)
(43¢%)
(2,187)
_®
$(210,85!)

15,24¢
86,19:
(1,512)
158,50:
9,36:
(21¢8)
(68C)
$ 266,89
53,09¢

$ 587
$ =

$ 34¢
$ 48,28(
$ 21¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdimsolidated financial statemer
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GREAT AJAX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Dollars in thousands) From Inception (January 30, 2014) through DecembeB1, 2014
Additional
Common Retainec Stockholders’ Non-
Paid-In- controlling Total
Stock Capital  Earnings Equity Interest Equity
Initial capitalization $ 2 $ 2 $ 2
Consolidation of majority-owned
subsidiary $ 10,59¢ 10,59¢
Issuance of shares $11Z2  158,38¢ 158,50: 158,50:
Issuance of operating partnership units 9,36% 9,36%
Net income $3,42¢ 3,42¢ 32¢ 3,75(
Stock-based management fee and
compensation expense 477 477 477
Stock-based compensation expense 83 83 83
Dissolution of majority-owned subsidiary (10,59¢)  (10,59¢)
Distribution to non-controlling interest ave) ave)
Dividends ($0.08 per share) (680) (68C) (37) (717)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $11z $158,95. $2,74¢« $161,80 $ 9,47F $171,28(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdimsolidated financial statemer
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GREAT AJAX CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

Note 1—Organization and basis of presentatior

Great Ajax Corp., a Maryland corporation (the “Canp"), is an externally managed real estate company
formed on January 30, 2014 and capitalized on Ma&2014 by its then sole stockholder, Aspen Y&LL
(“Aspen Y0"), a company affiliated with the Aspem@ital companies (“Aspen Capital”). The Company was
formed to facilitate capital raising activities atodoperate as a mortgage real estate investmestt Tthe
Company focuses primarily on acquiring, investingind managing a portfolio of re-performing and-non
performing mortgage loans secured by single-fanéifidences and, to a lesser extent, single-familgerties.
Re-performing loans are loans on which at leagt @if/the seven most recent payments have been wratthe,
most recent payment has been made and acceptemputs an agreement, or the full dollar amourtaeer at
least five payments has been paid in the last semgrths. Non-performing loans are those loans cictwihe
most recent three payments have not been madeCdimgany also invests in loans secured by smalldti-mu
family residential and commercial mixed use retedidential properties, as well as in the propsdieectly. The
Company’s manager is Thetis Asset Management Lh€“(lanager”), an affiliated company. The Company
owns 19.8% of the Manager. The Company’s mortgaged and real properties are serviced by Gregory
Funding LLC (“Gregory” or “Servicer”), also an dffited company. The Company expects to qualify\aitid
elect to be taxed as a real estate investment GtUREIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 188G mended
(the “Code”), commencing with the year ended Decandd, 2014.

The Company conducts substantially all of its bessinthrough its operating partnership, Great Ajax
Operating Partnership L.P., a Delaware limitedrgasghip, and its subsidiaries. The Company, thraugimolly
owned subsidiary, is the sole general partner@biterating partnership. GA-TRS LLC, or Thetis TRS3
wholly owned subsidiary of the operating partngrshiat owns the equity interest in the Manager. Chmpany
elected to treat Thetis TRS as a “taxable REIT igidny” (“TRS”) under the Code. In September 20thé
Company formed Great Ajax Funding LLC, a wholly @sirsubsidiary of the operating partnership, tcaadhe
depositor of mortgage loans into securitizatiostswand to hold the subordinated securities isbyelich trusts
and any additional trusts the Company may fornaftditional securitizations. The Company generally
securitizes its mortgage loans and retains subatelinsecurities from the securitizations. In Noven14, the
Company formed AJX Mortgage Trust |, a wholly owrsedbsidiary of the operating partnership, in cotioac
with a repurchase facility. In addition, the Compé&wolds real estate owned (REO) acquired upondtecfosur:
or other settlement of its owned non-performingikas well as through outright purchases.

The Company commenced its operations followingctirapletion of its initial private offering in JuB014
On July 8, 2014, the Company closed a private ioifepursuant to which the Company sold 8,213, 18es o
common stock and 453,551 Class A Units of the djpgrgartnership (the “OP Units”, which are redeblaan
a 1-for-1 basis into shares of our common stoddr a@fihe year of ownership). On August 1, 2014, tbm@any
closed the sale of an additional 263,570 sharesmimon stock and 14,555 OP Units pursuant to teecese of
the option to purchase additional shares grantéetiitial purchaser and placement agent. Thehase price
per share and per OP Unit was $15.00. In theseirdfe which are referred to collectively as theitfhal
Private Placement,” the net proceeds, includingftbe additional shares purchased pursuant toptienoto
purchase additional shares and OP Units, afteralieduthe initial purchaser’s discount and placeniea and
estimated offering expenses payable, was approzijn$128.4 million. The Original Private Placemesats
made in reliance on the exemptions from registnagiet forth in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities 8fc1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Rule 506 of itation D thereunder and Rule 144A under the Stesri
Act.

Upon the closing of the Original Private Placem#m, Company used $48.8 million of the proceeds to
acquire its initial mortgage portfolio through thequisition of 82% of the equity interests in latjax I, LLC
(“Little Ajax II"). Little Ajax Il was an affiliated entity that acquired primarily re-performing ngage loans and
a number of non-performing mortgage loans in asesf transactions between
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December 1, 2013 and July 7, 2014. In Septembet,28& Company completed a transaction to acqoie t
remaining interests in this initial mortgage-rethtesset portfolio. The transaction initially hadkliei Ajax Il
redeem the 82% membership interest of the operptinmership by distributing to the operating parship
82% of all Little Ajax Il loans, participation intests and real property. The operating partnettsigip purchase
for cash the remaining 18% interest in such re@tesssets for an aggregate purchase price abxdpately
$11.4 million. The operating partnership also pasgd from Gregory its 5% interest in the 43 loanshich
Little Ajax Il held a 95% participation interestrfapproximately $0.2 million.

On December 16, 2014, the Company closed an additfivate placement (the “Second Private
Placement”), pursuant to which it sold 2,725,32&reb of common stock and 156,000 OP Units. Thehaise
price per share was $15.00. The net proceeds frerprivate placement after deducting the placerieenand
offering expenses paid by the Company, was apptateiin $41.2 million. The Company used the procexdds
the Original Private Placement and the Second ®rivlacement, referred to collectively as the Reiva
Placements, to purchase re-performing and non-peirig loans. While the Company generally intendsdlul
our assets as lortgrm investments, it may sell certain of our inwestits in order to manage our interest rate
and liquidity needs, meet other operating objestized adapt to market conditions. The timing angkich of
future sales of investment securities, if any, cartie predicted with any certainty. Since the Camypexpects
that its assets will generally be financed, it etpé¢hat a significant portion of the proceeds fisates of its
assets (if any), prepayments and scheduled amtiotizaill be used to repay balances under its faiam
sources.

Basis of presentation and use of estimat

The consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAA®s contained within the Accounting Standards
Cadification (*ASC”) of the Financial Accounting 8tdards Board (“FASB”) and the rules and regulatioh
the SEC.

All controlled subsidiaries are included in the solidated financial statements and all intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminateshisotidation. The operating partnership is a mgjawned
partnership that has a non-controlling ownershigrgst that is included in non-controlling intesesh the
balance sheet. As of December 31, 2014, the Compangd 94.7% of the outstanding OP Units and the
remaining 5.3% of the OP Units were owned by arffiliaéed holder.

The Company’s 19.8% investment in the Managerdsaated for using the equity method because it
exercises significant influence on the operatidrith@ Manager through common officers and directbhere is
no traded or quoted price for the interests inMlamager since it is privately held.

The preparation of consolidated financial statesé@ntonformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company
to make estimates and assumptions that affecefi@rted amounts of assets and liabilities and asce of
contingent assets and liabilities as of the dath@ftonsolidated financial statements and thertep@mounts ¢
revenues and expenses during the reporting pefitesCompany considers significant estimates tlude
expected cash flows from mortgage loans and fdireveneasurements. Actual results could differ nialtgr
from those estimates.

Note z— Summary of significant accounting policies

Cash and cash equivalent

Highly liquid investments with an original maturitf three months or less when purchased are coeside
cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash atdezpiivalents at high quality banking institutio@ertain
account balances exceed FDIC insurance coveragasmdresult, there is a concentration of crésktrelated
to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurangerage.

Organizational expense:

Organizational expenses are expensed as incurrgesr they become reimbursable. Organizational
expenses consisted mainly of legal fees.
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Offering costs

Offering costs and underwriting fees and commissiarconnection with the sale of the Company’s ebar
of common stock are charged against stockholdetstye Costs associated with the Company’s comglete
offering of shares of common stock have been nettedhst, and are reflected as a reduction in iaddit paid-
in capital. Deferred offering costs consist prirdip of legal, accounting, printing and other fessociated with
the offering.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingmo®me attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted average common stock outstanding duriagpétiod our operations commenced. The Companistrea
unvested restricted stock issued under its stoskdaompensation plan, which are entitled to divide as
participating securities and applies the two-ctasthod in calculating basic earnings per shareit&dl earnings
per share is computed by dividing net income bywikaghted average common stock outstanding fopénd
plus other potentially dilutive securities, suchstck grants, shares that would be issued invbeteéhat OP
Units are redeemed for shares of common stockeo€thmpany, shares issued in respect of the stasaba
portion of the base fee payable to the Managediedtors’ fees.

Stock-based payments

The Management Agreement (as defined below) previoiethe payment to the Manager of a management
fee. The Company pays half of the management feash, and half of the management fee in sharéseof
Company’s common stock, which are issued to thedganin a private placement and are restrictedrisiesu
under the Securities Act. Shares issued to the yEmare determined based on the higher of the rmoshtly
reported book value or market value of our comnonks Management fees paid in common stock areresqu
in the quarter incurred and recorded in equityuatrter end.

Pursuant to the Company’s 2014 Director Equity Rtha “Director Plan”), the Company may make stock-
based awards. The Company has issued to each iotléq@endent directors restricted stock awards@i@
shares of its common stock, which are subjectdneayear vesting period. In addition, each of thenfany’s
independent directors receives an annual retain60,000, payable quarterly, half of which is paidghares of
the Company’s common stock on the same basis atdble portion of the management fee payable to the
Manager, and half in cash. Stock-based expendbdatirectors’ annual retainer is expensed as damequal
guarterly amounts during the year, and recordedjinity at quarter end.

Directors’ fees

The expense related to directors’ fees is accroddeflected in stockholders’ equity in the perindvhich
it is earned.

Management fee and expense reimburseme

The Manager’s primary business is asset manageioretiie Company. In its role as the Manager, the
Manager incurs indirect costs (e.g., payroll andrbead) related to managing the Company’s busindssh
are contractually reimbursable by the Company. Nlaeager allocates indirect costs to us as incuryeeither
individually identifying a cost directly attributibto the Company or by estimating the portionadts incurred
for our benefit.

Under the management agreement with the Manage€dmpany pays a quarterly base management fee
based on its stockholders’ equity and a quarteddgmtive management fee based on its cash distritsuto its
stockholders. Manager fees are expensed in théeguacurred and the portion payable in commonlksisc
included in stockholders’ equity at quarter-ence Séote 9— Related party transactions.”
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Servicing fees

Under the servicing agreement, Gregory receivescieg fees ranging from 0.65%1.25% annually of
unpaid principal balance (“UPB”) (or the fair matrkalue or purchase of REO that the Company owns or
acquires). Gregory is reimbursed for all customeggsonable and necessary out-of-pocket costs)quethges
incurred in the performance of its obligations, dictual cost of any repairs and renovations. Tte tees
incurred by the Company for these services willbpendent upon the UPB and type of mortgage |deats t
Gregory services, property values, previous UPBefrelevant loan, and the number of REO propertiee
agreement will automatically renew for successive-gear terms, subject to prior written notice ofimenewal.
In certain cases, the Company may be obligatedyagermination fee. The Management Agreement will
automatically terminate at the same time as thd@deg agreement if the servicing agreement is teated for
any reason. See “Note-9Related party transactions.”

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would leeired to sell an asset or paid to transfer alifgln an
orderly transaction between market participant@measurement date. A fair value hierarchy has be
established which requires an entity to maximizeube of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.staedard describes three levels of inputs that lmeaysed to
measure fair value:

» Level —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

» Level 2—O0Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssajuated prices for similar assets and
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are active; or other inputs that are observable ortean
corroborated by observable market data for subathnthe full term of the assets or liabilities.

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@mmarket activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets orilities.

The degree of judgment utilized in measuring faiue generally correlates to the level of pricing
observability. Assets and liabilities with readilyailable active quoted prices or for which faitueacan be
measured from actively quoted prices generally nélve a higher degree of pricing observability anesser
degree of judgment utilized in measuring fair valdenversely, assets and liabilities rarely tradedot quoted
will generally have little or no pricing observatyiland a higher degree of judgment utilized in g fair
value. Pricing observability is impacted by a numifefactors, including the type of asset or lidgpjlwhether it
is new to the market and not yet established, bedaharacteristics specific to the transaction.

Property held-for-sale is measured at cost at aitopni and subsequently measured at the lower sifao
fair value less cost to sell on a nonrecurring$aie fair value of property held-for-sale is gatlg based on
estimated market prices from an independently peghappraisal, an independent broker price opi(iiBRO"),
or management’s judgment as to the selling pricgroflar properties.

Income taxes

The Company intends to elect REIT status uponilimg fof its 2014 income tax return, and has conedc
its operations in order to satisfy and maintaigibllity for REIT status. Accordingly, the Compadges not
believe it will be subject to U.S. federal incora& beginning in the year ended December 31, 201hen
portion of our REIT taxable income that is disttidi to our stockholders as long as certain agsaiie and
stock ownership tests are met. If after electingedaxed as a REIT, the Company subsequentlytéedsalify
as a REIT in any taxable year, it generally wilt he permitted to qualify for treatment as a REdT {.S.
federal income tax purposes for the four taxabbryéollowing the year during which qualificatiomlost. The
Company may also be subject to state or local irconfranchise taxes.

Thetis TRS, and any other TRS that the Companydpmill be subject to U.S. federal and state income
taxes. On January 13, 2015, the Company applied foivate letter ruling from the Internal Reverg@gvice
that would allow it to exclude its proportionateash of gross income from the Manager if
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it held its interest in the Manager through therapeg partnership. If the Company receives suahliag, it
expects that it will hold its interest in the Maeaghrough the operating partnership, instead iuh Thetis
TRS; however, there is no assurance that suchreymwill be issued. Income taxes are provided fing the
asset and liability method. Deferred tax assetdliabdities are recognized for the future tax ceqgences
attributable to differences between the carryingamts of existing assets and liabilities and thespective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are unedsising enacted rates expected to apply to kekatome in
the years in which management expects those temypdifferences to be recovered or settled. Thecefia
deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recegrizincome in the period in which the change osc8ubject
to the Company’s judgment, it reduces a deferrecsset by a valuation allowance if it is “moreelikthan not
that some or all of the deferred tax asset willb®tealized. Tax laws are complex and subjecifterednt
interpretations by the taxpayer and respective gomental taxing authorities. Significant judgmentequired i
evaluating tax positions, and the Company recogrtiae benefits only if it is more likely than nbgt a tax
position will be sustained upon examination bydpgropriate taxing authority.

”

The Company evaluates tax positions taken in itsalidated financial statements under the integpimt
for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.adsult of this evaluation, the Company may retzega tax
benefit from an uncertain tax position only ifst‘more-likely-than-notthat the tax position will be sustained
examination by taxing authorities.

The Company’s tax returns remain subject to exatisinand consequently, the taxability of the
distributions and other tax positions taken by@oenpany may be subject to change.

Mortgage loans

Purchased mortgage loans are initially recordeétdeapurchase price at the time of acquisition aed a
considered asset acquisitions. As part of the aetation of the purchase price for mortgage lo#ims,Compan
uses a discounted cash flow valuation model to mexfeected cash flows, and which considers altertuatn
resolution probabilities, including liquidation conversion to real estate owned. Observable irtputse model
include current interest rates, loan amounts, statpayments and property types. Unobservabletsrpithe
model include discount rates, forecast of futunméagrices, alternate loan resolution probabilitiesplution
timelines, the value of underlying properties attteoeconomic and demographic data.

Under ASC 310-30, acquired loans may be aggregatddccounted for as a pool of loans if the loans
being aggregated have some degree of credit quiigrioration since origination and have commsh ri
characteristics. A pool is accounted for as a siagket with a single composite interest rate arajgregate
expectation of cash flows. The re-performing maygylbans were determined to have common risk
characteristics and have been accounted for agyke d0an pool. Similarly, noperforming mortgage loans we
determined to have common risk characteristicsheave been accounted for as a single non-perforpoog
Under ASC 310-30, the Company estimates cash feoguected to be collected, adjusted for expected
prepayments and defaults expected to be incurredtbe life of the loan pool. The Company determithe
excess of the loan pool’s contractually requirddgipal and interest payments over the expecteld taws as
an amount that should not be accreted, the noretadite yield. The difference between expected flasls and
the purchase price (at acquisition) or the pregalue of the expected cash flows is referred tthasccretable
yield, which represents the amount that is expetctdxd recorded as interest income over the remgiife of
the loan pool. For the period ended December 314 2he Company recognized no provision for loas land
no adjustments to the amount of the accretablé.yiar the period ended December 31, 2014, the Goynp
accreted $6.9 million into interest income withpgest to its loan portfolio. As of December 31, 20thése loan
had a UPB 0f$304.5 million and a carrying value $211.2 million.

Generally, the Company acquires loans at a discasstciated with some degree of credit impairniem.
Company elects to aggregate certain pools of leathlscommon risk characteristics and accrue interempme
thereon at a composite interest rate, based orctatimns of cash flows to be collected for the p&oipectation
of pool cash flow are reviewed quarterly. Adjustiiseio a pool’s prospective composite interest oaten
allowance for impairment are made to the extenseglvexpectations differ from original estimates.
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For loans that do not qualify for pool aggregati@atment, including performing loans that are not
purchased at discounts resulting from credit-rell&sues, interest is recognized using the sinmpérest metho
on daily balances of the principal amount outstagdadjusted for the amortization or accretionhef lban
premium or discount over the contractual life &f tban.

Accrual of interest on individual loans is discowiied when management believes that, after consgleri
economic and business conditions and collectioorisffthe borrowes financial condition is such that collect
of interest is doubtful. Our policy is to stop adgog interest when a loan’s delinquency exceedda8G. All
interest accrued but not collected for loans thatpaced on non-accrual status or subsequenthgetaoff are
reversed against interest income. Income is sulesgigurecognized on the cash basis until, in mameage’s
judgment, the borrow’s ability to make periodic principal and intereayments returns and future payment:
reasonably assured, in which case the loan isneduo accrual status.

An individual loan is considered to be impaired whigased on current events and conditions, itabaisle
the Company will be unable to collect all amounie ¢both principal and interest) according to tbetactual
terms of the loan agreement. Impaired loans amedaat the present value of expected future castsf
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rdte,lbans market price, or the fair value of the collatéf#he loar
is collateral dependent.

For individual loans, a troubled debt restructutimg formal restructuring of a loan where, formmmic or
legal reasons related to the borrower’s finandféicdlties, a concession that would not otherwlgeconsidered
is granted to the borrower. The concession mayaeted in various forms, including providing a elmarket
interest rate, a reduction in the loan balancecoreed interest, an extension of the maturity date,
combination of these. An individual loan that hasl la troubled debt restructuring is considerecetontpaired
and is subject to the relevant accounting for imgzhloans.

The allowance for loan losses is established tHr@ugrovision for loan losses charged to expenges.
allowance is an amount that management believédaviidequate to absorb probable losses on existmg
that may become uncollectible, based on evaluatibttse collectability of loans.

Purchased non-performing loans that are accounteakfindividual loans are recorded at fair valieich
is generally the purchase price. Interest incommedegnized on a cash basis and loan purchaseudisiso
accreted to income in proportion to the actualgpial paid. Loans are tested quarterly for impaintresd
impairment reserves are recorded to the exterfathenarket value of the underlying collateral alelow net
book value.

Residential properties

Property is recorded at cost if purchased, oriavédue of the asset less estimated selling dbststained
through foreclosure by us. Properties acquiredudfindoreclosure are generally held as long-ternrestments,
but may eventually be held-for-sale. Property thaurrently unoccupied and actively marketed &de $s
classified as held-for-sale. Property held-for-sslearried at the lower of cost or fair marketuealNet
unrealized losses are recognized through a valuatiowance by charges to income.

No depreciation or amortization expense is recaghim properties held-for-sale, while holding cests
expensed as incurred. Rental property is propetyeld-for-sale. Rental properties are intendelokthield as
long-term investments but may eventually be hetdstde. Depreciation is provided for using theigtline
method over the estimated useful lives of the assethree to 27.5 years.

With respect to residential rental properties reltiHforsale, the Company performs an impairment ana
using estimated cash flows if events or change&rémmstances indicate that the carrying value bey
impaired, such as prolonged vacancy, identificatibmaterially adverse legal or environmental festahanges
in expected ownership period or a decline in mavkéie to an amount less than cost. This analggeiformed
at the property level. These cash flows are estichbased on a number of assumptions that are stdbjec
economic and market uncertainties including, amuthgrs, demand for rental properties, competitan f
customers, changes in market rental rates, cosigeiate each property and expected ownershipdzerio
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If the carrying amount of a held-for-investmenteaexceeds the sum of its undiscounted future tipgra
and residual cash flows, an impairment loss isrd=xb for the difference between estimated fair eafithe
asset and the carrying amount. The Company gepestimates the fair value of assets held for ysasing
BPOs. In some instances, appraisal information b@asvailable and is used in addition to BPOs.

The Company performs property renovations to mazertiie value of the property for our rental strateg
Such expenditures are part of our initial investiem property and, therefore, are capitalizegaas of the
basis of the property. Subsequently, the residgmtigoerty, including any renovations that impraresxtend th
life of the asset, are accounted for at cost. Tt lsasis is depreciated using the straight-linthatkover an
estimated useful life of three to 27.5 years. kdéand other carrying costs incurred during thevation perioc
are capitalized until the property is ready foritended use. Expenditures for ordinary mainteaamd repairs
are charged to expense as incurred.

Segment information

Our primary business is acquiring, investing in amehaging a portfolio of mortgage loans. The Corgpan
operates in a single segment focused on non-peirfgrmortgages and re-performing mortgages.

Emerging growth company

Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emegrgrowth company can take advantage of the extt
transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B)tloé Securities Act for complying with new or reads
accounting standards. In other words, an emergiogty company can delay the adoption of certairanting
standards until those standards would otherwiséy appprivate companies. The Company has electéaki®
advantage of the benefits of this extended tramsjteriod. Its consolidated financial statementg,rtteerefore,
not be comparable to those of companies that comiphysuch new or revised accounting standards.

Recently issued accounting standard

In January 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standaiiaté (“ASU”) 2014-04, Troubled Debt
Restructurings by Creditors. It provides that ifpossession or foreclosure has occurred, andlé@ares
considered to have received physical possessiogsifential real estate property collateralizirgpasumer
mortgage loan, upon either (1) the creditor obtajriegal title to the residential real estate prgpepon
completion of a foreclosure or (2) the borrowenaying all interest in the residential real esfatgperty to the
creditor to satisfy that loan through completioraafeed in lieu of foreclosure or through a sinliéggal
agreement. Additionally, the amendment requireslasire of both (1) the amount of foreclosed rasidéreal
estate property held by the creditor and (2) tltenged investment in mortgage loans collaterallaed
residential real estate property that are in tloegss of foreclosure. The amended guidance magied usinc
either a prospective transition method or a modifetrospective transition method and is effectivefiscal
years, and interim periods within those years, lir@gg after December 15, 2014, with early adopgiermitted.
The Company does not expect this amendment todaignificant effect on our financial position esults of
operations.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 Revenamf€ontracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 is a
comprehensive new revenue recognition model raguaicompany to recognize revenue to depict timsfea
of goods or services to a customer at an amouletctafg the consideration it expects to receivexohange for
those goods or services. ASU 2009may be applied using either a full retrospectiva modified retrospecti
approach and is effective for fiscal years, andrint periods within those years, beginning aftec&maber 15,
2016, and early adoption is not permitted. The Camyps evaluating the impact of this amendment®n i
financial position and results of operations.
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Note z—Mortgage loans

From inception through December 31, 2014, the Compagregated a portfolio consisting primarily of
1,363 mortgage loans secured by single and onettofamily residences with an aggregate unpaidcyral
balance (“UPB”) 0f$308.2 million. The Company acquired the loarsrafggregate purchase pricef#14.4
million. Re-performing loans represented $223.8iomlUPB and $163.9 million purchase price and non-
performing loans represented $84.4 million UPB $5@.5 million purchase price.

The following tables present information regardihg contractually required payments and the estichat
cash flows expected to be collected as of the afatee acquisition and changes in the balanceeatitretable
yield ($ in thousands):

Re- Non-
performing performing
loans loans
Contractually required principal and interest $ 393,65  $ 257,79
Non-accretable yield (173,50:)  (184,09()
Expected cash flows to be collected 220,15! 73,69¢
Accretable yield (60,49¢) (22,07:)
Fair value at date of acquisition $159,66( $ 51,62:
Accretable yield
Re- Non-
performing performing
loans loans
December 31, 2014
Balance at beginning of period $ — $ —
Accretable yield additions 60,49t 22,07:
Accretion (5,55¢%) (1,38:)
Balance at end of period $54,94( $20,68¢

During the period ended December 31, 2014, the Gompecognized $0.5 million for due diligence costs
related to these and other transactions in loarséigtion expense.

The following table sets forth the carrying valdeaor mortgage loans, and related UPB by delinquenc
status as of December 31, 2014 ($ in thousands):

Number Unpaid

of Carrying principal

December 31, 201 loans value balance
Current 45 $ 6,794 $ 8,79
30 51¢ 86,90« 118,09¢
60 13¢ 20,29: 27,81
90 42t 63,52¢ 88,48:
Foreclosure 21z 33,64 55,38¢
Mortgage loans 1,33¢  $211,15¢ $298,57:

The Company’s mortgage loans are secured by resiked\s such, the Company believes that the credit
quality indicators for each of its mortgage loaresthe timeliness of payments and the value ofitiderlying
real estate. The Company categorizes mortgage &smfre-performing” and as “non-performing.” The
Company monitors the credit quality of the mortglmgs in its portfolio on an ongoing basis, prraiy by
considering loan payment activity or delinquen@twss. In addition, the Company assesses the expeash
flows from the mortgage loans, the fair value @ timderlying collateral and other factors, and @aigs whethe
and when it becomes probable that all amounts actoally due will not be collected.
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Note £—Real estate assets, n

Real estate held for us

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had three Rie@erties having an aggregate carrying value of
$0.3 million held for use as rentals. Two of thpegperties had been rented.
Real estate hel-for-sale

As of December 31, 2014, the Company classifiedvevBEO properties having an aggregate carrying
value of $1.3 million as real estate held for sale as tleeymot meet our residential rental property investm
criteria.

Dispositions

During the period ended December 31, 2014, the Gomgdid not dispose of any residential properties.

Note £—Fair value of financial instruments

The following table sets forth the fair value afdncial assets and liabilities by level within fag value
hierarchy as of December 31, 2014 ($ in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Observable
inputs
Quoted other
prices in than Level Unobservable
Carrying active 1
December 31, 2014 Value markers prices inputs

Not recognized on consolidated balance she
fair value (assets)
Mortgage loan: $211,15¢ — —  $235,62
Not recognized on consolidated balance she
fair value (liabilities)
Borrowings under repurchase agreen 15,24¢ — $15,24¢ —
Secured borrowing 84,67¢ — 84,67¢ —

The Company has not transferred any assets frontesakto another level during the period ended
December 31, 2014.

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivaleslated party receivables, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, related party payables ané#tments in the Manager and affiliate are equat to
approximate fair value. Property held-feale is measured at cost at acquisition and subesdgumeasured at tl
lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell amoarecurring basis. The fair value of property Heldsale is
generally based on estimated market prices fromdependently prepared appraisal, an independe®@t BP
management’s judgment as to the selling priceroflar properties. No properties held-feate were measurec
fair value at December 31, 2014.

The fair value of mortgage loans is estimated utiegVianager’s proprietary pricing model which
estimates expected cash flows with the discountuséd in the present value calculation represgitia
estimated effective yield of the loan. The fairuabf transfers of mortgage loans to real estateedvis
estimated using BPOs.

The significant unobservable inputs used in theviaiue measurement of the Company’s mortgage loans
are the same as those used to calculate acquigiima including discount rates and loan resotutimelines.
Significant changes to any of these inputs in tsmhacould result in a significant change to thie falue
measurement. A decline in the discount rate iratgmh would increase the fair value. An increasthnloan
resolution timeline in isolation would decrease fidie value. The following table sets forth quaatiivte
information about the significant unobservable iispused to measure the fair value of the Companydgage
loans as of December 31, 2014:
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Input Range of Value
Equity discount rat— RPLs 8%—-14%
Equity discount rat— NPLs 10%-18%
Cost of deb 4.25%
Loan resolution timeline- RPLs (in years 4-7
Loan resolution timeline- NPLs (in years 1.4-4

Note €é—Unconsolidated affiliates

On December 5, 2014, the Company acquired a 4h&est in GA-E 2014-12, a Delaware trust, for $2.2
million. GA-E 2014-12 holds an economic interesaigsingle small balance commercial loan securea by
commercial property in Portland, Oregon. GA-E 2QP4had a basis in the loan $6.4 million at December 31,
2014, and net income &0.1 million for the period ended December 31,£2af which 40.5% is the Compaisy’
share. The Company accounts for this investmengubie equity method.

Upon the closing of the Original Private Placem#rg, Company received a 19.8% equity interesten th
Manager, Thetis Asset Management LLC. At DecembePB814, Thetis had total assets§@.2 million,
liabilities of $0.2 million, and net income &0.1 million for the period ended December 31,2@f which
19.8% is the Company’s share. The Company accdonits investment in Thetis using the equity metho
Thetis is a privately held company and there ipuiolic market for its securities.

Note 7— Commitments and contingencie:

The Company regularly enters into agreements taiseqdditional mortgage loans and mortgage-related
assets, subject to continuing diligence on sucétassd other customary closing conditions. Tharebe no
assurance that the Company will acquire any asfathe mortgage loans identified in any acquisitgneement
as of the date of these consolidated financiaéstanhts, and it is possible that the terms of saghiaitions may
change.

Litigation, claims and assessment

From time to time, the Company may be involvedanious claims and legal actions arising in the ready
course of business. As of December 31, 2014, tiepaay was not a party to, and its properties wetesubjec
to, any pending or threatened legal proceedingdrtavidually or in the aggregate, are expectetdoe a
material impact on its financial condition, resufsoperations or cash flows.

Note é—Debt

Repurchase agreemen

On November 25, 2014, the Company entered intparcbase facility pursuant to which a newly formed
Delaware statutory trust wholly owned by the ogatpapartnership, AJX Mortgage Trust |, the “Sellavjll
acquire, from time to time, pools of mortgage lotret are primarily secured by first liens on oaddur family
residential properties from its affiliates andfoird party sellers. These mortgage loans will galhebe sold
from time to time by the operating partnershiptes“Guarantor” to the Seller pursuant to the teofns
mortgage loan purchase agreement by and betweéudmantor, as seller, and the Seller, as purchiaser
accordance with the terms thereof. Pursuant td/idster Repurchase Agreement (the “MRA”), these gage
loans, together with the Seller's 100% ownershiprigsts in its wholly owned subsidiary, a newlynied
Delaware limited liability company (“REO 1”), andha future REO subsidiaries wholly owned by the &edind
certain other property of the Seller, will be sbidthe Seller to Nomura Corporate Funding Amerita€, as
Buyer, from time to time, pursuant to one or moams$actions, not exceeding $100 million, with audtemeous
agreement by the Seller to repurchase such mortgage and other property, as provided in the MRiAe
obligations of the Seller are guaranteed by theaijmgy partnership. Repurchases under this faahtyy interes
calculated based on a spread to one-month LIBORaeméixed for the term of the borrowing. The pusé
price for each mortgage loan or REO is generallyabtp 65% of the acquisition price for such assdéhe then
current BPO for the asset. The difference betwhenrtarket value of the asset and the amount akgherchase
agreement is
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the amount of equity the Company has in the poséiad is intended to provide the lender some ptiotec
against fluctuations of value in the collateral /andhe failure by the Company to repay the borrmnat
maturity. The Company has effective control over dlssets associated with this agreement and theteds
concluded this is a financing arrangement. Thdifa¢ermination date is November 24, 2015.

Gregory services these mortgage loans and the R&2ies pursuant to the terms of a servicing
agreement by and among the Servicer, the Selléd, Rifid any other REO Subsidiary, which servicing
agreement has the same fees and expenses tetnes@Ganipany’s servicing agreement described undts 8lo
—Related Party Transactions. The operating partippeshGuarantor will provide to the Buyer a limited
guaranty of certain losses incurred by the Buyeoinnection with certain events and/or the Sellebkgations
under the MLPA, following the breach of certain enants by the Seller or an REO Subsidiary relateddir
status as a special purpose entity, the occurmeihcertain bad acts by the Seller Parties, the menage of
certain insolvency events of the Seller or an RE®sR&liary or other events specified in the Guarafsy
security for its obligations under the Guarantg, Guarantor will pledge the Trust Certificate reyeming the
Guarantor's 100% beneficial interest in the Sellde following table sets forth the details of tepurchase
agreement ($ in thousands):

Maximum Carrying value Interest rate at

borrowing Amount of December 31,
Maturity Date capacity outstanding collateral 2014
November 24, 201 $100,00( $15,24¢ $23,46( 4.0C%

Secured borrowings

The Company has completed two securitizations stremmmenced operations. The securitizations are
structured as debt financings and not REMIC saled,the loans included in the securitizations remaithe
Company’s balance sheet as the Company is the prioesmeficiary of the securitization trusts, whaote
variable interest entities. On October 7, 2014 apperating partnership as seller entered into argzation
transaction pursuant to Rule 144A under the Seesrict of a pool of seasoned, performing and non-
performing mortgage loans primarily secured byt fiens on one-to-four family residential propestidjax
Mortgage Loan Trust 2014-A issued $61 million iewwgties consisting of approximately $45 milliord@%
Class A Notes due 2057, $8 million 5.19344% ClagsMotes due 2057, $8 million 5.19344% Class B-2eNo
due 2057 and a $20.4 million Trust Certificate. Twnpany has retained the Class B Notes. The Trust
Certificate issued by the trust and the benefmahership of the trust are retained by Great Ajarding LLC
as the depositor. The Class A Notes are senioueseigl pay, fixed rate notes. The Class B Notes ar
subordinate, sequential pay, fixed rate notes @ittss B-2 Notes subordinate to the Clask Betes. If the Cla:
A Notes have not been redeemed by the paymentrdSeptember 2017 or otherwise paid in full by thate, a
amount equal to the aggregate interest payment iintivat accrued and would otherwise be paid tdClass B-
1 and the Class B-2 Notes will be paid as principahe Class A Notes on that date and each subsequ
payment date until the Class A Notes are paidlinAdter the Class A Notes are paid in full, théa€s B-1 and
Class B2 Notes will resume receiving their respective ies¢ payment amounts and any interest that acdrut
was not paid to the Class B Notes while the Cladofes were outstanding. As the holder of the Trust
Certificate, the Company is entitled to receive eamaining amounts in the trust after the ClassoteN and
Class B Notes have been paid in full. The Classotebland Class B Notes are secured solely by ngatigans
of 2014-A and not by any of our other assets. Hset@ of 2014-A are the only source of repaymethirgerest
on the Class A Notes and the Class B Notes. Thep@oyndoes not guaranty any of the obligations 4#428
under the terms of the agreement governing thesratetherwise.

On November 19, 2014, the operating partnershielsr entered into a securitization transactiorsypant
to Rule 144A of a pool of seasoned, performing mma-performing mortgage loans primarily secureditsy
liens on one-to-four family residential properti@gax Mortgage Loan Trust 2014-B issued $68.7 willin
securities, consisting of approximately $41.2 miil3.85% Class A Notes due 2054, $13.7 million %X8ass
B-1 Notes due 2054, and $13.7 million 5.25% ClassMotes due 2054 and a $22.9 million Trust Cexife.
The Company has retained the Class B Notes. That Qertificate issued by the trust and the bergfici
ownership of the trust are retained by Great Ajarding LLC as the depositor. The Class A Notessargor,
sequential pay, fixed rate notes. The Class B Natesubordinate, sequential
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pay, fixed rate notes with Class B-2 Notes subatdito Class B-1 Notes. If the Class A Notes hatdaen
redeemed by the payment date in October 2018 erwibe paid in full by that date, an amount eqoahe
aggregate interest payment amount that accruedvanldl otherwise be paid to the Class B-1 and tlees<B-2
Notes will be paid as principal to the Class A Moba that date until the Class A Notes are pafdlinAfter the
Class A Notes are paid in full, the Class B-1 atas€B-2 Notes will resume receiving their respecinterest
payment amounts and any interest that accrued &sihet paid to the Class B Notes while the Cladiotes
were outstanding. As the holder of the Trust Gette, the Company is entitled to receive any remgi
amounts in the trust after the Class A Notes ard<B Notes have been paid in full. The Class Aesland
Class B Notes are secured solely by the mortgageslof 2014-B and not by any of our other asséts.aEsets
of 2014-B are the only source of repayment andésteon the Class A Notes and the Class B Notes. Th
Company does not guaranty any of the obligatior20d#-B under the terms of the agreement goverthiag
notes or otherwise.

Servicing for the mortgage loans in 2014-A and 2B1i4 provided by the Servicer at a servicing fa rof
0.65% annually of UPB for re-performing loans an2b% annually of UPB for non-performing loans, @d
paid monthly by us. The following table sets fdtik status of the 2014-A and 20B41otes held by others at 1
cutoff date and at December 31, 2014 ($ in thousand

Balances at cutoff date Balances at December 31, 20!
Bond Carrying
Interest principal value Fair Value Bond
Mortgage of of principal
Class of Notes rate Due date UPB balance mortgages mortgages balance
2014-A 4.00 % October 25, 205 $ 81,40t $45,00( $ 58,908 $ 66,63( $44,01¢
2014-B 3.85 % August 25, 2054 91,53% 41,19 68,65 73,96¢ 40,66

$172,94( $86,19: $127,55¢ $140,59: $84,67¢

Note ¢—Related party transactions

Our Consolidated Statement of Income included ¢hleviing significant related party transactionsr{$
thousands):

Period ended
December 31,

2014 Counterparty Consolidated Statement of Income locatio

Management fee $95¢€ Thetis Related party expense — management fee
Loan servicing fees 48t Gregory Related party expense — loan servicing fees
Legal feed?!) 58 Gregory  Professional fees
Due diligence and related loan

acquisition costs 12 Aspen Yo Loan transaction expense
Expense reimbursements 5 Thetis Professional fees
Expense reimbursements 1 Thetis Other expense

(1) Costs advanced by Aspen Yo on behalf of the Companoy to the Company’s commencement of
operations

Management Agreemeni

On July 8, 2014, the Company entered into a 15-y@aragement agreement (the “Management
Agreement”) with the Manager. Under the Managengmeement, the Manager implements the Company’s
business strategy and manages the Company’s bsigsindsnvestment activities and day-to-day opematio
subject to oversight by the Compasiypoard of directors. Among other services, the &gan, directly or throug
Aspen affiliates provides the Company with a manag@ team and necessary administrative and support
personnel. The Company does not currently haveearployees and does not expect to have any emplayees
the foreseeable future. Each of the Company’s execafficers is an employee or officer, or bothtloe
Manager or the Company’s Servicer.
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Under the Management Agreement, the Company papsdbloase management fee and an incentive fee to
the Manager.

The Base Management Fee equals 1.5% of our statddsdlequity per annum and calculated and payable
quarterly in arrears. For purposes of calculatimgrhanagement fee, our stockholdexgiity means: (a) the s
of (i) the net proceeds from any issuances of comstaek or other equity securities issued by the Caomypor
the operating partnership (without double countsigge inception (allocated on a pro rata dailyidfs such
issuances during the fiscal quarter of any suakaisse), and (ii) the Company’s and the operatintppeship’s
(without double counting) retained earnings cal®dan accordance with accounting principles gdhera
accepted in the United States, or GAAP, at theafride most recently completed fiscal quarter (aithtaking
into account any nonash equity compensation expense incurred in cuorgorior periods), less (A) any amo
that the Company or the operating partnership payspurchase shares of common stock or OP Umite si
inception, (B) any unrealized gains and lossesadiner non-cash items that have affected consotidate
stockholders’ equity as reported in our financtatements prepared in accordance with GAAP, ana(€jime
events pursuant to changes in GAAP, and certaircash items not otherwise described above, in eash
after discussions between the Manager and our @mtlsmt directors and approval by a majority of our
independent directors. As a result, our stockhsldsguity, for purposes of calculating the managenfee,
could be greater or less than the amount of stddkhsl equity shown on the Company’s consolidatedrfcial
statements. 50% of the base management fee islpagathares of our common stock so long as theeostrip
of such additional number of shares by the Manageid not violate the 9.8% stock ownership limit fth in
our charter, and the balance is payable in cash common stock will be determined using the higifehe
most recently reported book value or market valhemdetermining the number of shares. The Managgr h
agreed to hold any shares of common stock recdiyétdas payment of the base management fee feast
three years from the date such shares of commah ate received by it.

The Manager is also entitled to an incentive mamegye fee that is payable quarterly in arrears shéa ar
amount equal to one-fourth of 20% of the dollar amidy which (i) the sum ofA) the aggregate cash
dividends, if any, declared out of the REIT taxableome of the Company by the CompanBoard of Director
payable to the holders of the Company’s commorkstod (B) the aggregate cash distributions, if @eglared
out of the REIT taxable income of the operatingmenship (without duplication) by the operatingtparship
payable to holders of OP Units (other than any @RsLheld by the Company as a limited partner) afined,
or the Annualized Dividends and Distributions, @spect of such calendar quarter exceeds (ii) thaéuat of (1)
the book value per share of the Company’s commaeksis of the end of each such quarter multipliethb
number of shares of the Company’s common stockGdUnits (other than any OP Units held by the Camgpa
as a limited partner) outstanding as of the erglioh calendar quarter and (2) 8%. Notwithstandileg t
foregoing, no incentive fee will be payable to Manager with respect to any calendar quarter udess
cumulative core earnings, as defined in the agreersegreater than zero for the most recently deted eight
calendar quarters, or the number of completed dalequarters since the closing date of the Originalate
Placement, whichever is less.

The Company also reimburses the Manager for ati4{party, out-of-pocket costs incurred by the Marag
for managing our business, including thpdrty diligence and valuation consultants, legglegses, auditors a
other financial services. The Company will not reirse the Manager for lease costs or salariesgehses of
employees of the Manager. The reimbursement oigét not subject to any dollar limitation. Expesswill be
reimbursed in cash on a monthly basis.

The Company will be required to pay the Managarmination fee in the event that the Management
Agreement is terminated as a resul{ipfa termination by us without cause, (ii) ouc#on not to renew the
Management Agreement upon the determination afeetltwo thirds of the Compasyindependent directors -
reasons including the failure to agree on revigedpensation, (iii) a termination by the Manageaassult of
our becoming regulated as an “investment companger the Investment Company Act of 1940 (othen ts:¢
result of the acts or omissions of the Manageiatation of investment guidelines approved by ooatd of
directors), or (iv) a termination by the Managewd
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default in the performance of any material ternthef Management Agreement (subject to a notice aral c
period). The termination fee will be equal to twibe combined base fee and incentive fees payalhet
Manager during the 12-month period ended as oéititkof the most recently completed fiscal quartinr o
the date of termination.

Servicing Agreement

On July 8, 2014, the Company entered into a 15-geasicing agreement (the “Servicing Agreemenmtth
the Servicer. The Company’s overall servicing costder the servicing agreement will vary basechentypes
of assets serviced.

Servicing fees range from 0.65%.25% annually of UPB (or the fair market valugparchase of REO the
Company owns or acquires), and are paid monthlg.tdtal fees incurred by us for these servicesmtkppon
the UPB and type of mortgage loans that Gregonyjices pursuant to the terms of the servicing agesgnThe
fees are determined based on the loan’s statugjaisition and do not change if a performing loaesdmes non-
performing or vice versa.

The Company will also reimburse Gregory for alltonsary, reasonable and necessary out-of-pockes cost
and expenses incurred in the performance of itgatibns, including the actual cost of any repaind
renovations to REO properties. The total fees imzlby us for these services will be dependent dipen
property value, previous UPB of the relevant laamg the number of REO properties.

If the Management Agreement has been terminatest tlan for cause and/or the Servicer terminats th
servicing agreement, the Company will be requicepay a termination fee equal to the aggregateciegvfees
payable under the servicing agreement for the inmegreceding 12-month period.

Trademark Licenses

Aspen Yo has granted the Company a non-exclustefransferable, non-sublicensable, royalty-free
license to use the name “Great Ajax” and the rdliigo. The Company also has a similar licensestothe
name “Thetis.” The agreement has no specified térthe Management Agreement expires or is terngithathe
trademark license agreement will terminate wittdndays. In the event that this agreement is terméhall
rights and licenses granted thereunder, includognot limited to, the right to use “Great Ajaxi’ @ur name
will terminate. Aspen Yo also granted to the Mamagsubstantially identical non-exclusive, non-sfenable,
non-sublicensable, royalty-free license to usénefrtame “Thetis.”

Note 1(— Stock-based payments and director fee

Pursuant to the terms of the Management AgreerttenCompany pays 50% of the base fee to the Ma
in shares of its common stock with the number afet determined based on the higher of the mosttigc
reported book value or market value of its commonls The Company paid the Manager a base fedéor t
period ended December 31, 2014%if.0 million of which the Company paid half, or.%@nillion, in 31,835
shares of its common stock issued at a pricg1d.00 per share. The stock issued to the Marsageaestricted
securities subject to transfer restrictions, andevigsued in private placement transactions on Mdee 20,
2014 and subsequent to year end, on March 13, 2015.

In addition, each of the Company’s independentctlins receives an annual retainer$&0,000, payable
quarterly, half of which is paid in shares of thentpany’s common stock on the same basis as thie gtotion
of the management fee payable to the Manager dhihttash. The following table sets forth the Canp's
stock-based management fees and independent difeeto($ in thousands, except per share amounts):
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Management fees and director fee

Number Amount of grant
expense recognized
From inception (January 30, 2014) througt of in
December 31, 2014 shares  Per share valur  Total cost 2014W
Management fees 31,83t 15.0(C 477 477
Independent director fees 2,50z 15.0( 38 38
Management and director fees 34,33: $15.0( $51¢ 55illG

(1) All management fees and independent director fe=fuly expensed in the period in which they are
earned

The Director Plan is designed to promote the Comganterests by attracting and retaining qualifaed
experienced individuals for service as non-emplajieectors. The Director Plan is administered tgy th
Company'’s board of directors. The total numberhaires of common stock or other stock-based award,
including grants of long term incentive plan (“LT)Rinits from the operating partnership, availatoleissuance
under the Director Plan is 100,000 shares. At tbgirg of the Original Private Placement, the Conypiasued
to each of its three independent directors restlistock awards of 2,000 shares of its common staleich are
subject to a one-year vesting period.

The following table sets forth the activity in aastricted stock ($ in thousands, except per stia@@unts):

Restricted Stock

Amount of grant

Total expense
Number of cost recognized
shares Per share value  of grant in 2014
January 30, 2014, Date of inception — % — $ — 3 —
July 8, 2014, Directors’ Graft 6,00 15.0( 9C 45
Restricted stock totals 6,000 $ 150C $ 9 $ 45

(1) Vesting period is one year from grant d:
(2) Remainder of expense to be recognized over theingmavesting period of six months.

Note 11—Income taxes

As a REIT, the Company must meet certain orgamratiand operational requirements including the
requirement to distribute at least 90% of our ahREHT taxable income to our stockholders. As aRHhe
Company generally will not be subject to U.S. fadi@icome tax to the extent the Company distribitteREIT
taxable income to its stockholders and provideddbmpany satisfies the REIT requirements includiegain
asset, income, distribution and stock ownershits tésthe Company fails to qualify as a REIT, atwks not
qualify for certain statutory relief provisionswill be subject to U.S. federal, state and looabme taxes and
may be precluded from qualifying as a REIT for shibsequent four taxable years following the yeavtich it
lost our REIT qualification.

Our consolidated financial statements include therations of Thetis TRS, our TRS, which is subject
U.S. federal, state and local income taxes oraitalile income.

For the period ended December 31, 2014, the Conptaiable income was $0.7 million. The Company
recorded no income tax expense for the period eBaéegmber 31, 2014 and the Company recognized no
deferred income tax assets or liabilities on olamee sheet at December 31, 2014. The Companyedsoded
no interest or penalty for the period ended Decerhe2014.

The Company’s 2014 U.S. federal, state and localg¢turns remain open for examination. The Company
has concluded that it had no uncertain tax postfonits 2014 tax year.
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Note 1z— Earnings per share

The following table sets forth the components afiband diluted earnings per share ($ in thousana=p
share and per share amounts):

Period ended December 31, 201

Income Shares Sigur'e

(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS
Income attributable to common stockholders $3,42¢ 8,360,43.  $0.41
Allocation of earnings to participating restrictguares (11)
Income attributable to unrestricted common stockéis $3,41: 8,360,43
Effect of dilutive securities
Operating partnership units 147 461,96«
Restricted stock grants 11 26,65¢ $0.4C
Diluted EPS
Income attributable to common stockholders andatpey partners $3,571 8,849,05!

Note 1:— Quarterly financial information (unaudited)
The following table sets forth our quarterly fina@lénformation ($ in thousands):

Quarter Quarter ended Quarter ended

Quarter ended ended September 30, December 31,
March 31, 201  June 30, 201« 2014 2014
Total income $ — $ — $2,291 $3,95¢
Income before provision for income tax $ — $ — $1,22¢ $2,52¢

Consolidated net income attributable to

common stockholders $ — $ — $ 99¢ $2,42¢
Basic earnings per common share $ — $ — $ 0.1z $ 0.27
Diluted earnings per common share $ — $ — $ 0.1z $ 0.27

Note 14— Subsequent event

Dividend Declaration

On January 16, 2015, the Company declared a dididé#0.16 per share, paid on January 30, 2015, to
stockholders of record as of January 13, 2015.

Private Placement

On January 21, 2015, in order to satisfy the REQuirement that the Company have at least 100
stockholders as of January 30, 2015, the Compddy5s250 shares of common stock to affiliated pessat a
price of $15.00 per share, the last price at which shaegs sold to unaffiliated purchasers in the Secande
Placement in December 2014, for an aggregate psegtréce of$0.1 million. The shares were sold in a private
transaction.

Initial Public Offering

On February 19, 2015, the Company closed its Irptidlic offering of 5,000,000 shares of commorckto
priced at $14.25 per share. Great Ajax offered BI® shares of common stock and certain sellinckiblder:
offered 1,250,000 shares of common stock. Certiatuoexisting stockholders, including certain ktfes,
purchased an aggregate of 730,000 shares of corstockin the offering at the initial public offegrprice of
$14.25 per share. The Company’s common stock begdimg on New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“AJX" on February 13, 2015. The Company receivegragimately $50.9 million of proceeds (after dediugt
the underwriting discount but before deductingreated offering expenses), which the Company isgusin
acquire additional mortgage loans and mortgagdelassets.



F-22




TABLE OF CONTENTS

On March 3, 2015, pursuant to the option to purelaklitional shares granted to the underwritetken
initial public offering, the Company and the sddlistockholders sold an additional 276,797 shareswimon
stock at the initial public offering price &14.25 per share. The Company sold 226,464 sbamsnmon stock
and certain selling stockholders sold 50,333 shafresmmon stock pursuant to the option exerciée. T
Company is using its additional $3.0 million of peeds (after deducting the underwriting discountiefore
deducting estimated offering expenses) to acquidétianal mortgage loans and mortgage-related asset

Management Fee:

On March 12, 2015, the Company issued 17,214 slodlitscommon stock to the Manager in payment of
50% of the management fee due for the fourth quaft2014 in a private transaction. The managerfemnt
expense associated with these shares was reca@dedexpense in the fourth quarter of 2014.

2014 Director Equity Plan Issuance

Upon the completion of the Company’s IPO on Felyrd&; 2015, a new independent director was
appointed to the Company’s board of directors.dnnection with the appointment, a grant of 2,008reb of
common stock pursuant to the 2014 Director Equiiy Rvas made.
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SCHEDULE IV
Mortgage Loans on Real Estatt
December 31, 2014
(% in thousands)

Principal
amount Amount of
Carrying subject balloon
amount of  to delinquent  payments
Description Loan mort%ages principal and at
(face value of loan) count Interest rate Maturity ( interest maturity
$0-49,999 24C 2.00%- 14.78% 09/25/2005-11/01/205. $ 7,13¢ $ 5,51( $ 461
$50,000-99,999 291 2.00%- 12.54% 09/01/2013-03/01/205. 21,96: 17,74( 2,72¢
$100,006-149,999 28: 1.73%- 12.13% 03/03/2014-04/01/205. 34,77( 28,99t 3,73¢
$150,006-199,999 16€ 1.00%- 10.95% 02/01/2014-11/01/205 28,62¢ 23,345 3,02¢
$200,006-249,999 104 2.00%- 12.25% 05/01/2015-02/01/205 23,25: 19,22« 2,59(
$250,000+ 258 1.00%- 11.75% 08/01/2013-02/01/205 95,401 75,901 7,94(
Total 1,33¢ $211,15¢ $170,72: $20,48¢

(1) The aggregate cost for federal income tax purpiss807.2 million as of December 31 20

The following table sets forth the activity in auortgage loans ($ in thousands):

From inception

(January 30,
2014)
through
December 31,
Mortgage loans 2014
Beginning balance $ —
Investment in mortgage loans 208,48:
Real estate tax advances to borrowers 1,397
Accretion of purchase discount 4,09¢
Mortgage loan payments (2,471)
Transfers of mortgage loans to REO (34¢)
Ending balance $211,15¢
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Subsidiary

Subsidiaries of Great Ajax Corp.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation

Exhibit 21.1

Great Ajax Operating LL(

Great Ajax Operating Partnership L
GA-TRS LLC

Great Ajax Funding LLC

GAJX Real Estate LL(

AJX Mortgage Trust

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Lawrence Mendelsohn, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiGreat Ajax Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does natatemny untrue statement of a material fact ort enstate
a material fact necessary to make the statemerds,mmalight of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respebiet period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd other financial information included in théport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahcondition, results of operations and cash flofvthe
registrant as of, and for, the periods presentedigreport;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchangdr@itgs 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and have:

@)

(b)
(©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedu
be designed under our supervision, to ensure thtgral information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevkm to us by others within those entities, particiyl
during the period in which this report is beingpgaeed,;

Not usec

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsure controls and procedures and presentedsin th
report our conclusions about the effectivenesd@fdisclosure controls and procedures, as of te en
of the period covered by this report based on swetuation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the period covered by this reguat has materially affected, or is reasonably yikel
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdzhon our most recent evaluation of inte
control over financial reporting, to the registfarguditors and the audit committee of the regigtseboard
of directors (or persons performing the equivafanttions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyaidversely affect the registrant’s ability to regord
process, summarize and report financial informatom

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal catover financial reporting.

Dated: March 26, 2015

/s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn

Lawrence Mendelsohn
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, Glenn J. Ohl, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiGreat Ajax Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does natatemny untrue statement of a material fact ort enstate
a material fact necessary to make the statemerds,mmalight of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respebiet period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd other financial information included in théport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahcondition, results of operations and cash flofvthe
registrant as of, and for, the periods presentedigreport;

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchangdr@itgs 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and have:

@)

(b)
(©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedu
be designed under our supervision, to ensure thtgral information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madevkm to us by others within those entities, particiyl
during the period in which this report is beingpgaeed,;

Not usec

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldsure controls and procedures and presentedsin th
report our conclusions about the effectivenesd@fdisclosure controls and procedures, as of te en
of the period covered by this report based on swetuation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the period covered by this reguat has materially affected, or is reasonably yikel
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdzhon our most recent evaluation of inte
control over financial reporting, to the registfarguditors and the audit committee of the regigtseboard
of directors (or persons performing the equivafanttions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyaidversely affect the registrant’s ability to regord
process, summarize and report financial informatom

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal catover financial reporting.

Dated: March 26, 2015

/s/ Glenn J. Ohl

Glenn J. Ohl
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

GREAT AJAX CORP.
CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Great Afaarp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period
ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Secsrétiel Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Laween
Mendelsohn, Chief Executive Officer of the Compamgreby certify as of the date hereof, solely faposes o
Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the Uniteat&t Code, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodi
and results of operations of the Company at thesdahd for the periods indicated.

This Certification has not been, and shall not éended, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Dated: March 26, 2015

/s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn

Lawrence Mendelsohn
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

GREAT AJAX CORP.
CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Great Afaarp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period
ended December 31, 2014 as filed with the Secsrétel Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Glén®hl,
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby ifgs of the date hereof, solely for the purpasesitle 18,
Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Gbdéto the best of my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodi
and results of operations of the Company at thesdahd for the periods indicated.

This Certification has not been, and shall not éended, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Dated: March 26, 2015

/s/ Glenn J. Ohl

Glenn J. Ohl
Chief Financial Officer




